Schriftenreihe IWAR



TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT DARMSTADT



Jochen Sinn Waste stabilization ponds for water reuse in water scarce regions

Herausgeber: Verein zur Förderung des Instituts **IVAR** der TU Darmstadt e. V.

Waste stabilization ponds for water reuse in water scarce regions

Vom Fachbereich Bau- und Umweltingenieurwissenschaften der Technischen Universität Darmstadt zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktor-Ingenieurs (Dr.-Ing.) genehmigte Dissertation

von

Dipl.-Ing. Jochen Sinn aus Heilbronn

Erstgutachterin: Prof. Dr. Susanne Lackner Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr.-Ing. Peter Cornel

> Darmstadt 2023 D 17

Jochen Sinn

Waste stabilization ponds for water reuse in water scarce regions.

Darmstadt, Technische Universität Darmstadt

Hrsg.: Verein zur Förderung des Instituts **IWAR** der TU Darmstadt e. V. Darmstadt: Eigenverlag, 2023 (Schriftenreihe IWAR 273)

ISSN 0721-5282 ISBN 978-3-940897-74-9

Creative Commons Lizenz : CC BY-NC-ND 4.0 International

URI: https://tuprints.ulb.tu-darmstadt.de/id/eprint/23447

URN: urn:nbn:de:tuda-tuprints-234475

Referentin:	Prof. Dr. Susanne Lackner
Korreferent:	Prof. DrIng. Peter Cornel

Tag der schriftlichen Einreichung:	21.11.2022
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	24.02.2023

Alle Rechte vorbehalten. Wiedergabe nur mit Genehmigung des Vereins zur Förderung des Instituts **IWAR** der Technischen Universität Darmstadt e. V., c/o Institut IWAR, Franziska-Braun-Str. 7, 64287 Darmstadt.

Herstellung: Lasertype GmbH Holzhofallee 19 64295 Darmstadt

Vertrieb: Institut **IWAR** TU Darmstadt Franziska-Braun-Straße 7 64287 Darmstadt Telefon: 06151 / 16 20301 Telefax: 06151 / 16 20305

»Du darfst am Guten in der Welt mitarbeiten – Das Wenige, das du tun kannst, ist viel.«

(Albert Schweitzer)

Danksagung - Acknowledgement

Die vorliegende Arbeit ist ein Resultat meiner fast sechsjährigen Tätigkeit als wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter am Institut IWAR der Technischen Universität Darmstadt. Während dieser Zeit standen die Projekte in Namibia für mich immer im Vordergrund. Zunächst war dies der Projektabschluss und die Übertragung der abwassertechnischen Anlagen von CuveWaters an den lokalen Projektpartner, das Outapi Town Council (OTC). Daran schloss sich die Beantragung und Durchführung des Projektes EPoNa zur Ertüchtigung von Abwasserteichen in Outapi an. Für die Möglichkeit im Rahmen dieser Projekte forschen zu können, möchte ich mich bei Prof. Dr. Susanne Lackner und Prof. Dr.-Ing. Peter Cornel herzlich bedanken. Es freut mich sehr, dass Prof. Dr.-Ing. Peter Cornel mir die Möglichkeit gab, nach mehrjähriger Tätigkeit in der Entwicklungszusammenarbeit wieder in die Wissenschaft zurück zu kehren. Für dieses Vertrauen, die gemeinsamen Reisen nach Outapi und die Übernahme des Koreferats danke ich ihm sehr. Auch bei Prof. Dr. Susanne Lackner möchte ich mich herzlichst bedanken. Sie hat mich bei der Projektumsetzung und bei neuen Ideen immer unterstützt und mir dabei auch die Mikrobiologie des Abwassers nähergebracht. Für die vertrauensvolle Zusammenarbeit und die Betreuung dieser Dissertation bin ich sehr dankbar.

Great thanks to the whole team of OTC. Especially to Ananias Nashilongo who initiated the EPoNa project, to Hermann Neumbo for his serenity, Malakia Shikongo (in memoriam) for his practical approaches and Ben Iyambo (in memoriam) for managing the supplies.

This research is based on many hours of committed work in Namibia by so many people. Particularly Haikela Nahambelelwe, Mikael Hidulika Shaningowovendji, Lelly Ekandjo, Lydia Absalom, Kai Sturm, Annemarie Peters and all the colleagues from Emschergenossenschaft und Lippeverband.

Es war für mich eine spannende Aufgabe, EPoNa zusammen mit allen Projektpartnern durchzuführen. Dies umfasste alle Aspekte von der Planung und Betrieb mit Aqseptence, Ausschreibung und Bauüberwachung mit Gauff Ingenieure, landwirtschaftliche Bewässerung mit der Hochschule Geisenheim, Wirtschaftlichkeit mit dem Institut für Umwelttechnik und Management sowie die sozialökologische Folgenabschätzung und Governance mit dem Institut für sozial-ökologische Forschung. Dies alles war nur aufgrund der finanziellen Förderung durch das Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung sowie die Betreuung durch den Projektträger Karlsruhe möglich.

Den Grundstein für die Einrichtung und Ausstattung des Labors in Outapi legte Katharina Müller. Ohne ihre Vorarbeit und die Kontakte in Namibia wären die umfangreichen Analysen nicht möglich gewesen. Diese wurden über vier Jahre von folgenden Studierenden in Namibia durchgeführt: Sarah Thorbrügge, Markus Fleischer, Dominik Müller, Emanuel Döser, Jakob Redelin, Jakob Rauch, Sven Jarczok, Andrea Friebe, Jöran Nguyen, Marcel Reusing und Selina Schubert. Ein herzliches Dankeschön, dass sie alle einen Teil ihrer Studienzeit unter nicht einfachen Bedingungen, vom Hochwasser bis zur Hitze, in Namibia absolviert haben.

Neben diesen praktischen Abschlussarbeiten wurden weitere Abschlussarbeiten in Darmstadt von Ekua Afrakoma Armoo, Annika Behm, Christian Daimer, Nelly Eisenbach, Vivien Silvia Hein, Laura Sophie Huber, Svenja Rother, Tizian Scheyer, Marcus-Peter Stein und Dinh-An Tran im Kontext von EPoNa verfasst. Auch die studentischen Hilfskräfte Ulla Hartmann, Sören vom Ende und Johannes Muntau unterstützten mich bei vielen Aktivitäten und Projekttreffen in Darmstadt. Weiterhin wäre die gesamte Projektadministration und finanzielle Verwaltung ohne den Einsatz von Vera Soedradjat, Renate Schäfer und Zoran Wertag nicht möglich gewesen.

Bei der Vorbereitung der Einsätze und für die Materialversorgung des Labors in Namibia waren Renate Benz, Harald Grund, Ute Kopf, Alexander Pfannenstiel und Nadine Vater wichtige Ansprechpartner.

Während meiner Zeit am IWAR war für mich auch der kollegiale Austausch wichtig: Laura Orschler und Shelesh Agrawal zu allen Themen der Mikrobiologie, Philipp Bunse zu Fragestellungen der Steuerung und Messtechnik, Vanessa Acevedo und Luz Alejo zu Modellierung und Data Mining, Bogdan Druga zu Algen und Cyanobakterien, Hajo Bitter mit tollen Liedern sowie Sinem Fundneider-Kale mit ihrem offenen Ohr im gemeinsamen Büro.

Besonders unterstützt hat mich Thomas Fundneider. Er war eine große Stütze bei der Datenauswertung, Formatierungen und als Motivator. Ihm, Sinem Fundneider-Kale, Angelika Hofmann und Simone Sinn möchte ich auch für die Auszeiten danken, die ich bei ihnen zum Verfassen dieser Arbeit bekommen habe.

Auch meiner Familie gilt ein herzliches Dankeschön. Meinen Eltern, die den Grundstein für meinen Wissensdurst gelegt haben und mir den Leitsatz "Ehrfurcht vor dem Leben" mitgegeben haben. Meiner Schwester Simone, die die Reiselust und das Interesse an der Entdeckung neuer Kulturen in mir entfacht hat. Meinen Kindern Jonathan und Juliane, die mich immer wieder dazu brachten, mich auf das Wesentliche zu besinnen und einen Blick für das Naheliegende einzunehmen und insbesondere meiner Frau Daniela für die viele Geduld und Unterstützung speziell auch während meiner Aufenthalte in Namibia.

Darmstadt, November 2022

Jochen Sinn

Abstract

Waste stabilization pond (WSP) systems are widely applied for communal wastewater treatment especially in countries of the global south with warm climates and sufficient available land area. At the same time many of these regions are affected by climate change and recently experience erratic rainfalls which distress the local subsistence agriculture. In these water scarce regions farmers often rely on surface or groundwater sources to irrigate staple foods and fodder or to water their animals. This in turn puts a burden on the water supply of the population. Therefore, reuse of treated WSP effluent, which is often only evaporated, presents a valuable source for irrigation water and at the same time of plant nutrients. But due to rapid population growth and lack of regular operation and maintenance many of these systems are overloaded and the effluents are overflowing into the surrounding environment causing environmental degradation and health risks to humans and animals.

Especially in sub-Saharan Africa there is little documented long-term experience with WSP operation and performance and their potential for water reuse. Therefore, this research presents an overview of the existing situation of nine WSP systems in north-central Namibia which in their current state do not fulfil the national Namibian and the newly published European standard for water reuse. As part of the research project EPoNa one WSP system was enhanced at full scale with different pre- and post-treatment technologies. These included a 250 μ m micro sieve as mechanical pre-treatment for the removal of solids and organic carbon, an upstream anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) as biological pre-treatment also for the removal of solids and organic carbon, sludge removal to restore the original volume of the ponds, floating baffles to improve flow conditions in the facultative pond and a rock filter as post-treatment in the final maturation pond for algae and pathogen reduction. The effects of these enhancements were compared with a second, parallel treatment train operated with its original setup. Compliance with the national and European reuse requirements was evaluated regarding the physical and biological wastewater parameters and further the microbial community was analysed.

The main results of this dissertation and relevant aspects for further applications are the following:

- In their current state, none of the researched WSP systems in north-central Namibia adhere with the Namibian and European reuse standards, which is mainly due to total organic carbon concentrations above 100 mg/L caused by high algal fractions in the particulate organic carbon.
- The algae related chlorophyll-*a* concentrations correlate linearly with the particulate organic carbon and this correlation can be used to fractionate the total organic carbon for further judgement.
- The microbial community is divers with different dominating genera in the influent than in the effluent.
- The mechanical pre-treatment with micro sieve (MS) (250 μ m) and the anaerobic biological pre-treatment with an upstream anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor are both operational under the local conditions and can be implemented on large scale to reduce organic carbon, suspended solids and partially pathogens.

- The UASB achieves better average removal of chemical oxygen demand (50%) and total suspended solids (57%) but the MS is more flexible in handling changing inflow patterns and has a much smaller footprint. A maximum particulate chemical oxygen demand reduction of 89% is reached with the UASB and 72% with the MS.
- With the pre-treatment there is only limited nitrogen and phosphorus reduction which therefore remain as nutrients in the water and are valuable for further irrigation purposes.
- After one year of operation the rock filter as post-treatment reduces only 5% of chlorophyll-*a* and shows no additional removal of algae compared to the original treatment train.
- Algae concentrations are best reduced with pre-treatment, sludge removal and baffles in the facultative pond.
- With enhancements *E. coli* concentrations are reduced down to the new EU water reuse standard of 1,000 MPN/100 mL for fodder irrigation whilst concentrations of *P. aeruginosa* stagnate and *Enterococci* levels increase. With this divergence the function of *E. coli* as indicator for broader pathogen reduction is questioned. Main pathogen reduction happens during pre-treatment and in the facultative pond with baffles and not as expected in the maturation ponds.
- Due to high carbon and nitrogen concentration the effluent does not meet the Namibian and European reuse standards but the high algal content would add valuable biomass and fertilizer to the barren soil. Therefore, a review of the standards considering particularly WSP effluents is suggested.

For the first time WSP in north-central Namibia are comprehensively analysed and the reuse potential of their effluents compared. At one pilot plant different enhancement technologies are tested at large scale and the results evaluated with regards to their applicability under similar conditions. Therefore, this dissertation contributes valuable information for the upgrade of existing WSP to improve the environmental situation and produce irrigation water in water scarce regions.

Kurzfassung

In großem Umfang werden Abwasserteichanlagen besonders in Ländern des globalen Südens mit warmen Klimazonen und ausreichend verfügbarer Landfläche für die kommunale Abwasserbehandlung eingesetzt. Gleichzeitig sind viele Menschen in diesen Regionen vom Klimawandel betroffen. Sie erleben unregelmäßige Regenfälle, die insbesondere die lokale Subsistenzlandwirtschaft belasten. In diesen durch Wasserknappheit betroffenen Gebieten sind die Landwirte besonders auf Oberflächengewässer oder Grundwasser angewiesen, um Grundnahrungsmitteln und Futtermitteln zu bewässern oder ihre Tiere zu tränken. Im Gegenzug belastet dies die Trinkwasserversorgung der Bevölkerung. Aus diesem Grund bietet die Wiederverwendung von gereinigtem Wasser aus Abwasserteichanlagen, das oft nur verdunstet, eine wertvolle Ressource für Bewässerungswasser sowie für Pflanzennährstoffe. Viele dieser Teichsysteme sind jedoch durch schnelles Bevölkerungswachstum als auch durch mangelnden Betrieb und unregelmäßiger Wartung überlastet. Somit führt das ungenügend gereinigte Ablaufwasser zu Umweltverschmutzungen und zu erhöhten Gesundheitsrisiken für Menschen und Tiere.

Insbesondere in afrikanischen Ländern südlich der Sahara gibt es nur wenige veröffentlichte Langzeitstudien zur Betriebserfahrung und Leistung von Abwasserteichanlagen sowie zu deren Potential für die Wasserwiederverwendung. Somit bietet diese Forschungsarbeit einen Überblick über neun existierende Teichkläranlagen im zentralen Norden Namibias. In ihrem aktuellen Ausbauzustand erfüllt keine dieser Anlagen die nationalen namibischen Anforderungen noch die neuen Standards der Europäischen Union zur Wasserwiederverwendung. Im Rahmen des Forschungsprojektes EPoNa wurde eine Abwasserteichanlage durch verschiedene Vor- und Nachbehandlungstechnologien in großem Maßstab ertüchtigt. Dazu gehörte ein Mikrosieb mit einer Maschenweite von 250 μ m als mechanische Vorbehandlung und ein UASB-Anaerobreaktor als biologische Vorbehandlung. Beide dienten zur Reduzierung abfiltrierbarer Stoffe und von organischem Kohlenstoff. Die Entschlammung der Teiche ermöglichte die Wiederherstellung des ursprünglichen Volumens und schwimmende Leitwände im Fakultativteich verbesserten die Strömungsbedingungen. Der im letzten Schönungsteich als Nachbehandlung eingebaute Steinfilter sollte Algen und pathogener Keime weiter reduzieren. Die Auswirkungen der Ertüchtigungsmaßnahmen auf der Pilotanlage wurden einer zweiten, im Originalzustand parallel betriebenen Behandlungsstraße gegenübergestellt. Die Auswertung biologischer und physikalischer Abwasserparameter diente zum Vergleich mit den nationalen namibischen sowie den europäischen Anforderungen an die Wasserwiederverwendung. Darüber hinaus wurde auch die DNA der vorhandenen mikrobiellen Gemeinschaften analysiert.

Die Hauptergebnisse dieser Forschungsarbeit und relevante Aspekte für weitere Anwendungen sind die folgenden:

• In ihrem aktuellen Zustand erfüllt keine der im zentralen Norden Namibias untersuchten Abwasserteichanlagen die namibischen und die europäischen Anforderungen zur Wasserwiederverwendung. Dies ist auf den chemischen Sauerstoffbedarf (CSB) von über 100 mg/L zurückzuführen, der durch hohe partikuläre Algenanteile verursacht wird.

- Die durch Algen hervorgerufenen Chlorophyll-*a* Konzentrationen korrelieren linear mit dem partikulären CSB. Diese Korrelation kann für die Fraktionierung und Beurteilung des CSB genutzt werden.
- Es liegt eine sehr vielfältige mikrobielle Gemeinschaft vor, die im Zulauf der Anlagen andere dominierende Gattungen als im Ablauf aufweisen.
- Die mechanische Vorbehandlung mit einem Mikrosieb (250 μ m) und die anaerobe biologische Vorbehandlung mit einem UASB-Reaktor sind beide unter den gegebenen lokalen Voraussetzungen und in großem Maßstab einsetzbar. Sie reduzieren zuverlässig organischen Kohlenstoff, abfiltrierbare Stoffe und teilweise pathogene Keime.
- Der UASB-Reaktor erreicht eine bessere durchschnittliche Reduktion des chemischen Sauerstoffbedarfs (50 %) und der abfiltrierbaren Stoffe (57 %) während das Mikrosieb flexibler auf schwankende Zuflüsse reagiert und einen viel kleineren Platzbedarf aufweist. Die maximale Reduktion des chemischen Sauerstoffbedarfs wird mit 89 % durch den UASB-Reaktor und mit 72 % durch das Mikrosieb erreicht.
- In der Vorbehandlung werden Stickstoff und Phosphor nur in geringem Maße reduziert. Somit verbleiben sie als wertvolle Pflanzennährstoffe im Bewässerungswasser.
- Nach einem Jahr Betrieb entfernt der Steinfilter in der Nachbehandlung nur 5 % des Chlorophyll-*a* und zeigt keine zusätzliche Entfernung im Vergleich zum ursprünglichen Zustand.
- Algenkonzentrationen werden am wirkungsvollsten durch Vorbehandlung, Schlammentfernung und Leitwände im Fakultativteich minimiert.
- Durch die Ertüchtigungsmaßnahmen ist es möglich, die *E. coli* Konzentrationen unter den von der EU geforderten Standard für die Bewässerung von Futtermitteln in Höhe von 1.000 MPN/100 mL zu reduzieren. Gleichzeitig stagnieren die Werte für *P. aeruginosa.* Für *Enterococci* steigen sie sogar an. Durch dieses Auseinanderdriften der Werte stellt sich die Frage, ob *E. coli* als alleiniger Indikator zur generellen Reduktion pathogener Keime geeignet ist. Die größte Keimreduktion findet, wider Erwarten nicht in den Schönungsteichen, sondern in der Vorbehandlung und durch die Leitwände im Fakultativteich statt.
- Aufgrund der hohen Kohlenstoff- und Stickstoffkonzentrationen entsprechen die Ablaufwerte weder den namibischen noch den europäischen Normen zur Wasserwiederverwendung. Gleichzeitig würde der hohe Algenanteil wertvolle Biomasse und Nährstoffe in die kargen Böden einbringen. Deshalb wird eine Überprüfung der Wasserwiederverwendungsstandards insbesondere in Bezug auf Abwasserteichanlagen vorgeschlagen.

Diese Arbeit untersucht zum ersten Mal umfassend Abwasserteichanlagen im zentralen Norden Namibias und ermittelt das Wiederverwendungspotential der Abläufe. Auf einer Pilotanlage wurden verschiedene Ertüchtigungsmaßnahmen in großem Maßstab erprobt und die Ergebnisse hinsichtlich ihrer Übertragbarkeit auf andere Standorte unter ähnlichen Bedingungen ausgewertet. Somit trägt diese Dissertation wertvolle Informationen zur Ertüchtigung existierender Teichkläranlagen, zum Schutz der Umwelt und zur Produktion von Bewässerungswasser in Regionen mit knappen Wasserressourcen bei.

Table of contents

Danksag	rung - Acknowledgement	I
Abstract		III
Kurzfass	ung	V
Table of	contents	VII
List of ta	gures ibles	IA
Abbrevia	ations	XIV
1 Intr	oduction	1
1.1	Challenges of wastewater treatment in sub-Saharan Africa	1
1.2	Research questions and objectives	1
1.3	Outline of this dissertation	2
0 Doo	leavenued	4
2 Bac	Waste stabilization ponds (WSP)	4 4
2.1	Reuse of treated wastewater in agriculture	6
2.2	Namibian national code of practice	8
2.2.1	Furopean reuse standards	10
2.2.2	Enhancement with pre- and post-treatment in this study	10
2.5	Micro sieve for pre-treatment of waste stabilization ponds	10
2.3.1	Unflow aparchic sludge blanket reactors as pre-treatment of waste stabilization ponds i	11 n
2.3.2	warm climates	12
2.3.3	Sludge removal	13
2.3.4	Baffles to improve flow regime	14
2.3.5	Rock filter for removal of algae	15
2.4	Study area in Namibia	16
2.4.1	Water and sanitation in neighbouring communities	17
2.4.2	Urban centre with pilot plant	17
3 Cha	racterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia	19
3.1	Abstract	19
3.2	Introduction	20
3.3	Material and Method	22
3.3.1	Data collection at nine WSP in North Namibia	22
3.3.2	Sampling and analysis	22
3.3.3	16S rRNA amplicon sequencing to determine the composition of cyanobacteria	23
3.3.4	Data processing	23
3.3.5	Semi-structured interviews	23
3.4	Results and Discussion	24
3.4.1	Waste stabilization pond systems – introduction of the study sites	24
3.4.2	Influent characteristics	25
3.4.3	Effluent characteristics	27
3.4.4	Algal biomass	28
3.4.5	Microbial ecology	29
3.4.6	Performance efficiency	34
3.4.7	Challenges for reuse of WSP effluent	35
3.5	Conclusions	35

4	Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pre-treatment technologies: a comparative study from Namibia	37
4.1	Abstract	37
4.2	Introduction	38
4.3	Material and Methods	39
4.3.1	Waste stabilization ponds (WSP) and pre-treatment technologies	39
4.3.2	2 Sampling and analyses	40
4.4	Results and Discussion	40
4.4.1	I Site development in Outapi	40
4.4.2	2 Inflow characteristics	41
4.4.3	3 Pre-treatment technologies	44
4.4.4	4 Micro sieve	44
4.4.5	5 UASB reactor	46
4.4.6	5 Water quality comparison	48
4.4.7	7 Facultative ponds	50
4.4.8	3 Challenges for large scale implementation	51
4.5	Conclusions	52
5 5.1	Upgrade of waste stabilization ponds to improve effluents for reuse purposes Abstract	53 53
5.2	Introduction	54
5.3	Material and Methods	56
5.3.1	Configuration of the waste stabilization pond system	56
5.3.2	2 Sampling and analyses	57
5.3.3	Richness and Shannon Index	58
5.4	Results	58
5.4.1	l Seasonal effects and influence of HRT	58
5.4.2	2 Upgrade: pre-treatment and post-treatment in train A	62
5.4.3	Gradients along the treatment trains	63
5.4.4	4 Natural disinfection – Reduction of pathogens	67
5.4.5	5 Bacterial community composition and algae	68
5.5	Discussion	
5.5.1	Effluent quality - seasonal effects and influence of hydraulic load	74
5.5.2	2 Impact of additional treatment technologies	76
5.5.3	Composition of pathogens and their reduction in WSP	77
5.5.4	4 Microbial community composition and algae development	
5.6	Conclusions	79
6	Final conclusions and outlook	80 גח
6.2	Future work and outlook	83
0.2	-	
7	References	84
8	Appendix	91
8.1	Supplementary information paper I	91
8.2	Supplementary information paper II	93
8.3	Supplementary information paper III	95

List of figures

Figure 2.1: Dissolved oxygen and oxidation-reduction potential of typical facultative ponds (Gloyna, 1971)
Figure 2.2: Reuse Flowchart showing allowed reuse purposes in relation to the achieved treatment level in Namibia
(GS= General Standard for effluent, SS= Special Standard for effluent) (DWAF, 2012)
Figure 2.3: Micro sieve with sieving drum (left) and screening discharge (right)
Figure 2.4: Schematic representation of an UASB reactor as anaerobic pre-treatment process (Cavalcanti and van
Haandel, 1996)
Figure 2.5: Removal of sun dried sludge from a facultative pond (left) and a maturation pond (right)
Figure 2.6: Preparation of floating baffle 1 (left) and baffle 2 installed in a facultative pond (right)
Figure 2.7: Rock filter installed in a maturation pond
Figure 2.8: Location of sewer catchment (1) and waste stabilisation ponds (2) (Google-Earth (2016); Price and
Hegnauer (2016), modified)

Figure 3.1: Graphical abstract: Characterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia 19
Figure 3.2: Inflow parameters as (a) population equivalent (PE) load of the nine waste stabilization ponds (WSP) in
comparison with typical values in Germany and Uganda (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014) as well as with a
biological treatment plant in Namibia (Müller, 2017) and (b) inflow concentrations (c _{inflow}) of the nine
WSP for total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD), total suspended solids (TSS), total nitrogen (TN) and
total phosphorus (TP)25
Figure 3.3: Inflow concentrations (cinflow) of nine waste stabilization ponds (WSP): (a) total chemical oxygen demand
(tCOD), soluble chemical oxygen demand (sCOD), particulate chemical oxygen demand (pCOD), total
suspended solids (TSS), (b) total nitrogen (TN), ammonia (NH4-N), total phosphorus (TP), phosphate
(PO4-P), (c) total coliforms (Tot. Coli), Escherichia Coli (E. coli), Enterococci, (d) pH and (e) electrical
conductivity (EC)
Figure 3.4: Effluent quality (ceffluent) in comparison with the Namibian Reuse Standard (DWAF, 2012) and the EU
requirements (EU, 2020) for (a) total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD), total suspended solids (TSS),
(b) total nitrogen (TN), ammonia (NH4-N), total phosphorus (TP) and (c) Escherichia Coli (E. coli). 27
Figure 3.5: Effluent quality grouped according to the waste stabilization pond (WSP) system setup: AP = anaerobic
pond, FP = facultative pond, MP = maturation pond, $*$ = pond systems without effluent. The
parameters total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD) (a), total suspended solids (TSS) (b), total chemical
oxygen demand without algae (tCODw/o) (c), Escherichia Coli (E. coli) (d) are compared with the
respective reuse standard (…)
Figure 3.6: (a) Effluent ratio chlorophyll-a versus particulate chemical oxygen demand (pCOD) with the size
indicating the relation of pCOD to volatile suspended solids (VSS). (b) chemical oxygen demand (COD)
effluent concentrations ($c_{effluent}$) as total COD (tCOD), calculated tCOD without algae content (tCOD $_{w/o}$)
and soluble COD (sCOD) in comparison with the Namibian Reuse Standard (DWAF, 2012) and the EU
requirements (EU, 2020)29
Figure 3.7: Effluent concentrations (c _{effluent}) of nine waste stabilization ponds (WSP): (a) total chemical oxygen
demand (tCOD), soluble chemical oxygen demand (sCOD), particulate chemical oxygen demand
(pCOD), potassium (K ⁺), total suspended solids (TSS), (b) total nitrogen (TN), ammonia (NH4-N), total

Figure 3.8: Bar plot showing the relative abundance of pathogenic genera found in each sample. Pathogenic genera
having abundance < 0.1 % were categorized as "low abundant genera"
Figure 3.9: Venn diagram showing the number of pathogenic genera shared among (a) influent samples, (b) effluent
samples of the WSPs
Figure 3.10: (a) Bar plot showing the relative abundance of the genera associated with cyanobacteria found in the
waste stabilization pond systems (A, B, D, G, H and I). (b) Heatmap showing the composition of the
cyanobacteria at genus level. The colour designates the difference between genera having toxic and
non-toxic species
Figure 3.11: Inflow, outflow and evaporation of the nine waste stabilization ponds (WSP) A – I. Calculated with the
average measured evaporation at WSP G and the corresponding surfaces given during interviews or
estimated from aerial images
Figure 4.1: Graphical abstract: Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pre-treatment
technologies
Figure 4.2: Schematic drawing of the water reuse project, the black dots represent sampling points
Figure 4.3: Aerial photo of the pond system with two trains (pond A1 – pond A4 and pond B1 – B4) and evaporation
pond (Google-Earth (2019), modified)41
Figure 4.4: Flow rates of the total inflow to the pond system, inflow to unimproved train B and to the pre-treatment
technologies micro sieve and UASB42
Figure 4.5: Typical daily inflow to WSP at three weekdays Wednesday (day 198), Thursday (day 304) and Tuesday
(day 386)
Figure 4.6: Daily flow rates (total inflow, train A and B, UASB, micro sieve) from day 1 - day 527
Figure 4.7: COD effluent concentrations of the micro sieve (tCOD: total COD, pCOD: particulate COD, sCOD: soluble
COD). The grey area indicates the breakdown period
Figure 4.8: Micro sieve spray time (a) in % of the cycle time and spray water consumption (b) in % of the treated
water
Figure 4.9: COD effluent concentrations of the UASB reactor (tCOD: total COD, pCOD: particulate COD, sCOD:
soluble COD) and effluent temperature. The arrow indicates the inoculation (day 65), the black lines
represent the sludge removal
Figure 4.10: Mass of total solids (TS) in the UASB in each layer L-1 Top, L-2, L-3, L-4, L-5 Bottom with the black
lines representing sludge removal
Figure 4.11: Total solids (TS) concentration and mass of different sludge levels in the UASB reactor
Figure 4.12: Comparison of the removal percentages of micro sieve and UASB reactor for tCOD (a), pCOD (b), total
coliforms (c) and E. coli (d)
Figure 4.13: Total (a) and soluble (b) COD effluent concentrations, and data for total phosphorous (TP) (c) and total
nitrogen (TN) (d) concentrations of the UASB reactor, the micro sieve, the secondary facultative pond
A1, and the primary facultative pond B149
Figure 4.14: Escherichia Coli concentrations of the inflow, the UASB reactor, the micro sieve, train A and train B

(MPN – most probable number)	50
Figure 4.15: Reduction of tCOD, TN and TP loads over the treatment train	51

Figure 5.1: Graphical abstract: Upgrade of waste stabilization ponds to improve effluents for reuse purposes 54

- Figure 5.4: Water quality parameters of train B. Data is shown for each pond (B1 B4) over four years for the parameters: total coliforms (a), *Escherichia Coli (E. coli)* (b), *Enterococci* (c) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa (P. aeruginosa)* (d). The grey areas indicate the rainy seasons or summer periods (October March) and the grey line represents the start of the PreT (phase II) and the black line the start of the PostT (phase III) in train A.

- Figure 5.7: Loads for both treatment trains, including inflow to the WSP, inflow into A1 after pre-treatment (Ain) and effluent values for each pond, A1 A4 and B1 B4, for the parameters: total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD) (a), total nitrogen (TN) (b), ammonium (NH₄-N) (c) and total phosphorous (TP) (d).

List of tables

Abbreviations

٨٦	Anacrobic Dand
	Rundosministorium für Bildung und Forschung – Cormon Fodorol
DIVIDI	Ministern of Education and Descerab
	Rielogical Owygen Demand
BOD	Chamical Organization
COD	Chemical Oxygen Demand
DIN	Deutsche Institut für Normung – German Institute för Standardization
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DO	Dissolved Oxygen
DWAF	Department of Water Affaires and Forestry
EC	Electrical Conductivity
E. coli	Escherichia coli
EP	Evaporation Pond
EPoNa	Enhancement of Ponds in Namibia
EU	European Union
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FP	Facultative Pond
GRN	Government of the Republic of Namibia
GS	General Standard
HDPE	High Density Polyethylene
HRT	Hydraulic Retention Time
IDM	Electromagnetic Flowmeter
ISO	International Organization for Standardization
IWRM	Integrated Water Resource Management
LOQ	Limit of Quantification
MP	Maturation Pond
MPN	Most Probable Number
MS	Micro Sieve
n	Number of measurements
OTC	Outapi Town Council
pCOD	Particulate Chemical Oxygen Demand
PE	Population Equivalent
PreT	Pre-treatment
PostT	Post-treatment
P aeruginosa	Pseudomonas aeruginosa
RBC	Rotating Biological Contactor
rRNA	Ribosomal Ribonucleic Acid
sCOD	Soluble Chemical Oxygen Demand
20D	Standard deviation
SDC	Sustainable Development Goals
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
55 +COD	Total Chamical Owners Domand
	Total Violdehl Nitrogen
1 IN	I OTAL INITIOGEN
١٢	i otal Phosphorous

TS	Total Solids
TSS	Total Suspended Solids
TVS	Total Volatile Solids
UASB	Upstream Anaerobic Sludge Blanket
UN	United Nations
VSS	Volatile Suspended Solids
WHO	World Health Organization
WSP	Waste Stabilization Pond
WWTP	Wastewater Treatment Plant

1 Introduction

1.1 Challenges of wastewater treatment in sub-Saharan Africa

Access to sanitation, sewer connections and wastewater treatment is still very limited in sub-Saharan Africa (WWAP, 2019). It is estimated that in these countries overall only 1 % of all wastewater is treated (Bahri et al., 2008). In recent years water utilities are mainly focusing on water supply development and are struggling with the development and operation of piped sewer systems as well as wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) causing environmental pollution and public health risks (Werchota, 2020).

Most common wastewater treatment technologies in the region are waste stabilization ponds (WSP) followed by activated sludge systems and some trickling filters (Nikiema et al., 2013). Many of these WWTPs are worn out (Nikiema et al., 2013), dysfunctional, overloaded, poorly operated and maintained and their discharge is contaminating surface waters (Swana et al., 2020). Common challenges are high organic loads due to low water consumption combined with increasing flow rates due to rapid population growth, uncontrolled solid waste disposal, high energy costs, unreliable power supply as well as lack of re-investments (Nikiema et al., 2013).

At the same time sustainable maintenance mechanisms such as sludge removal from WSP are not established with the design of the WWTPs and qualified managers and operators are missing to ensure proper operation and maintenance (Wang et al., 2014). Often it is difficult to motivate and encourage employees because of administrative procedures, lack of funds for spare parts, lack of maintenance planning and missing recognition of personal performance (Nikiema et al., 2013). Additionally, local laboratories for water analyses, if they exist at all, are poorly equipped and miss consumable supplies so that water quality monitoring is often neglected (Wang et al., 2014).

1.2 Research questions and objectives

The main objective of this dissertation is to provide additional information on existing WSP systems in Africa and particularly in Namibia. This is supplemented by practical research on rehabilitation, extension and upgrade of one specific wastewater pond system to improve its effluent quality and protect the surrounding environment. Additionally, the potentials of WSP to generate irrigation water for agriculture is evaluated. Therefore, this dissertation contributes directly to the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) (UN, 2015) and specifically to goal 6.3 on sustainable reuse and goal 6.a on international cooperation.

The research questions and the corresponding objectives are:

- 1. What is the current state and performance of WSP in north-central Namibia and what is their potential for water reuse?
 - Characterise and evaluate for the first time existing WSP systems in north-central Namibia
 - Analyse and compare microbial communities including the composition of pathogens and cyanobacteria in the influent and effluent of WSP
 - Establish seasonal effects on effluent water quality of WSP
- 2. With which biological and/or physical enhancement measures can WSP be upgraded to produce irrigation water?
 - Compare the impact of anaerobic biological and mechanical pre-treatment technologies in the local context
 - Analyse the performance of WSP with baffles and rock filter as additional treatment technologies
 - Examine the change in composition and concentrations of pathogens as well as the microbial community by different operation scenarios and enhancements
- 3. How can traditional or upgraded WSP comply with the Namibian and European water reuse standards for irrigation?
 - Elaborate the impact of algae on the particulate COD
 - Review Namibian and European water quality standards for water reuse in agricultural irrigation and their applicability on WSP
 - Identify obstacles for agricultural water reuse as well as operation and maintenance of existing WSP

1.3 Outline of this dissertation

This dissertation was conducted at the chair of Water and Environmental Biotechnology, Institute IWAR, Technische Universität Darmstadt, under the joint research project Enhancement of Ponds in Namibia (EPoNa). It was financed by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) and its funding measure Future-oriented Technologies and Concepts to Increase Water Availability by Water Reuse and Desalination (WavE) from September 2016 till August 2020.

The main chapters of this dissertation are based on three peer-reviewed articles in scientific journals:

• Sinn, J., Agrawal, S., Orschler, L., and Lackner, S. (2022). "Characterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia" has previously been published in the H2Open Journal (2022), volume 5 (2): 365-378. It characterizes and evaluates for the first time nine operational WSP systems in north-central Namibia. Their specificities and especially influent and effluent characteristics are discussed together with the analysis of their algal biomass as well as their microbial ecology.

- Sinn, J., and Lackner, S. (2020): "Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pre-treatment technologies: a comparative study from Namibia" was published in the Journal Water Reuse and Desalination (2020), volume 10 (4): 500-512. It presents the results of the implemented pre-treatment enhancements at the full-scale pilot plant, with the comparison of an anaerobic biological and mechanical technology.
- Sinn, J., Agrawal, S., Orschler, L., Schubert, S. and Lackner, S. (2022) "Upgrade of waste stabilization ponds to improve effluents for reuse purposes" has been submitted for publication in the H2Open Journal (2022). It presents the long-term results of all enhancement, pre-treatment as well as post-treatment with a focus on the seasonal effects and the influence of the hydraulic retention time as well as on the natural disinfection and the bacterial community. The impact of the additional treatment technologies as well as the effects on the microbial community and the algae development are discussed.

2 Background

Worldwide, the importance of water shortage is growing every year. Two-thirds of the world population (4.0 billion people) experience severe water scarcity at least during one month per year and half a billion during the whole year (Mekonnen and Hoekstra, 2016). This situation is exacerbated by climate change, population growth, economic development and urbanization, and affects more and more regions (WHO, 2006). At the same time the water demand for drinking will increase and even double for food production by 2050 (Assouline et al., 2015). An alternative resource, especially for agricultural irrigation, is the reuse of treated wastewater (WWAP, 2017). Particularly in arid areas with available land, WSP systems are an important treatment technology (Fuhrmann, 2014; Mara, 2009) and are also widely implemented in Namibia.

2.1 Waste stabilization ponds (WSP)

The technology of WSP dates back to the year 1901 (Ho and Goethals, 2020). They represent a simple form of wastewater treatment and offer a cost effective alternative to activated sludge systems or trickling filters, especially in countries with sufficient land availability and favourable climatic conditions (Mara, 2004; von Sperling, 2007a). Due to the simplicity of construction, operation and low costs, WSP are also desirable in developing countries and provide a sustainable way of wastewater treatment in rural areas (Ho et al., 2017). Furthermore, well planned WSP require less maintenance than conventional WWTP as no control systems are required (DWA, 2005). Nowadays, WSP are increasingly used in the field of water reuse for agricultural purposes. This not only lowers the operating costs for agricultural cultivation but also reduces the exploitation of water resources (Pivelli et al., 2008; U.S. EPA, 2011).

WSP are operated worldwide. At the beginning of the 21st century about 2,000 plants were operational in rural communities in Germany (Fuhrmann, 2014) and about 2,500 in France (Mara, 2009). In Greece 8 % of all urban wastewaters are treated with WSP (Chalatsi and Gratziou, 2014) and in the USA more than 8,000 WSP represent 50 % of all WWTP (Ho et al., 2017). Also in Mexico 16 % of WWTP are WSP (Hernandez-Paniagua et al., 2014). Especially in South Asia and Africa WSP not only exist in small municipal areas but also in metropolitan agglomerations (Ho and Goethals, 2020) such as Nairobi with 80 % of wastewater treated in the city (Wang et al., 2014).

Being a nature based solution WSP in their basic form do not rely on electromechanical treatments (Mara, 2004; Mara and Horan, 2003). The main principles are sedimentation and biological treatment without energy or chemical input (Crites et al., 2014). They are most effective in regions with high temperature all year-round and high solar radiation (von Sperling, 2007a). These are relevant conditions for algae growth and their products, such as oxygen, needed for other microorganisms (Wallace et al., 2015). However, depending on the size of the population large land areas are required (Mara, 2004).

The typical setup of a WSP consists of anaerobic ponds (AP), facultative ponds (FP) and a series of maturation ponds (MP). If there is no AP the first pond is called primary FP (Shilton, 2005; Verbyla et al., 2017). Finally, evaporation ponds (EP) are used as storage or buffer for treated

wastewater if there is no alternative of discharge into surrounding water bodies (Asano et al., 2007).

The first biological treatment stage in WSP systems are AP to treat high organic loadings (> 100 g BOD/m³/d) (Mara, 2004). Their primary function is the removal of BOD, COD and TSS from the raw wastewater under anaerobic conditions (Alexiou and Mara, 2003). Compared to the other pond types AP have a smaller surface area and are typically 3 - 5 m deep (von Sperling, 2007a). To allow anaerobic digestion and sedimentation hydraulic retention times (HRT) can be as short as one day and still > 60 % BOD removal at 20 °C (Mara, 2004) is achieved. At lower temperatures, removal efficiency is limited to sedimentation of particulate organic matter (DWA, 2016).

Whilst AP are only recommended, FP are inevitable. They are the most common type of pond in WSP systems (Varón and Mara, 2004). Figure 2.1 shows their upper layer as aerobic and bottom layer as anaerobic with their position varying during the day depending on the sun radiation and related algal activity (Gloyna, 1971). Shilton (2005) identified an anoxic zone above the anaerobic sludge. With 1 - 2 m depth and 17 - 33 days HRT in tropical areas up to 95 % of the original wastewater BOD can be removed depending on the temperature (Gloyna, 1971). However, BOD concentrations in the effluent of FP remain high with 60 - 90 % consisting of particulate matter from algae and cyanobacteria (von Sperling, 2007a).



Figure 2.1: Dissolved oxygen and oxidation-reduction potential of typical facultative ponds (Gloyna, 1971)

The final stage of WSP systems consists of several MP in series with the main task of removing pathogens, nitrogen and phosphorus (Mara et al., 1992; Varón and Mara, 2004). Pathogens are eliminated by direct UV radiation in combination with high oxygen concentrations and high pH values around 9 or higher (Curtis et al., 1992; Mara and Pearson, 1998) as well as higher water temperatures (above 26 °C) (Ouali et al., 2013). For best disinfection effects MP are typically shallow (< 1 m) and HRT are 7 – 10 days (Gloyna, 1971). Due to lower BOD loads there is a higher algae diversity and 70 – 90 % of BOD result from algae (Mara, 1997).

EP perform best in regions with favourable climatic conditions especially with high solar radiation (Asano et al., 2007) and in Namibia they are widely applied because of missing perennial receiving water bodies. The aim is to reduce the risk of surface or groundwater

contamination and therefore the national code of practice for pond systems (DWAF, 2008) requires all water from WSP to be evaporated. The design of EP is based on sewage volume, annual precipitation and evaporation rates (DWAF, 2008).

2.2 Reuse of treated wastewater in agriculture

Population growth and economic development have and will further increase the global water and food demand with agriculture accounting for 70 % of global water withdrawals (WWAP, 2018). For this reason, reuse of treated wastewater is becoming more and more recognised worldwide (WWAP, 2017). It reduces the demand on freshwater (WHO, 2006) and can contribute to global food security (WHO, 2006; Zimmermann and Neu, 2022). According to Maeseele and Roux (2021) 80% of wastewater reuse is implemented in semiarid and arid regions with growing water scarcity. Especially in areas with erratic rainfalls it enables continuous agricultural production for the local communities (Jiménez et al., 2010) and contributes to their sustainable circular economies (EU, 2020; Lahlou et al., 2021). In these regions existing WSP systems provide an important water source (Pivelli et al., 2008). Properly managed and enhanced WSP have the potential to comply with national and international reuse standards for the irrigation of fodder crops (Ayers and Westcot, 1985; Bansah and Suglo, 2016; Chalatsi and Gratziou, 2014; Mara, 2009; Verbyla et al., 2016). Compliance with standards also increases acceptance amongst the population. In Tanzania, Msaki et al. (2022) found that a majority does not accept water reuse for domestic applications but are willing to use treated wastewater for irrigation of forests and farming of fodder crops.

Not only the water but also nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorous and potassium are important resources to be recovered and reduce costs for chemical fertilizers (Jiménez et al., 2010; Lahlou et al., 2021). Doorenbos et al. (1979) indicate that fertilizer requirements vary with the production level and depend on each crop. Typical fodder crops are alfalfa, maize and sorghum. On average alfalfa needs 12,000 m³/ha of water per growing period (about 90 days) and 3 mg/L total nitrogen (TN), 5 mg/L total phosphorous (TP) and 7 mg/L potassium (K) (Doorenbos et al., 1979). Maize needs about 6,500 m³/ha of water per growing period (about 125 days) and 31 mg/L TN, 10 mg/L TP and 12 mg/L K (Doorenbos et al., 1979). Sorghum requires on average 5,500 m³/ha of water per growing period (about 120 days) and 33 mg/L TN, 6 mg/L TP and 11 mg/L K (Doorenbos et al., 1979). Untreated domestic wastewater consists of 23 – 69 mg/L TN, 4 – 11 mg/L TP and 11 – 32 mg/L K (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014). In a previous study the urban centre of this research had average wastewater concentrations of 58 mg/L TN and 10 mg/L TP with an average water consumption of 61 L/person/day (Müller, 2017). According to von Sperling (2007a) a typical WSP system of AP, FP and MP can remove at least 50 % of TN and TP. Therefore, additional costs can be saved through the adaptation of WWTP if for example nutrient levels for irrigating fodder crops are easier to reach than for discharge into the environment (Lahlou et al., 2021). Nevertheless, protection of the receiving plants and water body prevails and with high nutrient levels a mixture with surface water can be applied (Leonel and Tonetti, 2021).

Besides the treatment of the wastewater the irrigation technology has to be adapted. Sprinkler and furrow irrigation should be replaced by drip irrigation to avoid aerosols and direct contact with fruits and crops (Fonseca et al., 2011; Lahlou et al., 2021; Ofori et al., 2021). To assure the highest health protection Carr et al. (2004) as well as Mohr et al. (2020) propose a "multi barrier" approach including wastewater treatment, crop restrictions, irrigation technique, human exposure control as well as vaccination of field workers.

For the reuse of treated wastewater different national and international regulations, frameworks, standards or guidelines exist to protect public health (Deviller et al., 2020; Helmecke et al., 2020; Janeiro et al., 2020; Müller and Cornel, 2017; Ofori et al., 2021; Reynaert et al., 2021). Depending on the guidelines' origin and the existing background conditions their requirements on monitoring and measurements vary considerably. The guidelines for water reuse in the US suggest continuous monitoring of turbidity and chlorine, daily analysis of faecal coliforms as well as pH and BOD on a weekly basis (U.S. EPA, 2012).

In order to reduce public health risks the EU regulation on water reuse requires effective risk barrier systems and disinfection prior to crop application (EU, 2020). Therefore, Ofori et al. (2021) suggest the use of UV disinfection to avoid by-products or residues caused by other technologies. Within the European context it is even further discussed to include a systematic science-based monitoring of suitable indicator substances for micro-contaminants (Helmecke et al., 2020). However, Reynaert et al. (2021) state clearly that such extensive monitoring will not everywhere be possible for economic reasons especially for small-scale water reuse schemes and also for areas with limited laboratory equipment. Therefore, it is suggested to develop localized or country-specific reuse guidelines and regulations (Ofori et al., 2021) as well as a multiple barrier approach throughout the total supply chain of the crops produced and not only on the wastewater treatment (Janeiro et al., 2020).

The first WHO water reuse guidelines were published in 1973 and revised in 1989 based on restrictive effluent criteria (Lazarova and Bahri, 2005). The next revision in 2006 (WHO, 2006) no longer requires specific treatment technologies such as disinfection but considers health based targets for the whole supply chain of the products irrigated with treated wastewater (Drechsel et al., 2008; Janeiro et al., 2020). To achieve the health based target for water-related illnesses an overall *E.coli* reduction between 2 and 7 log₁₀ units is recommended depending on the irrigation method and the planted crops (WHO, 2006).

In order to reflect the local appropriateness and the latest international developments this research focuses on the Namibian "Code of practice: Volume 6 Wastewater Reuse" published in 2012 (DWAF, 2012) and the most recent EU Regulation No. 2020/741 on the minimum requirements for water reuse from 2020 (EU, 2020).

2.2.1 Namibian national code of practice

Sustainable water resource management is the main objective of the Namibian Water Resource Management Act, 2013 (GRN, 2013). Its fundamental principles are based on protection, sustainable development and management of all water resources. This specifically includes access to safe drinking water and wastewater treatment as well as the reuse of treated effluents for domestic, commercial, industrial or agricultural purposes (GRN, 2013). All these aspects were also addressed within the previous act from 2004. Based on this the Code of practice: Volume 6 – Wastewater Reuse has been developed by the former Ministry of Agriculture, Water and Forestry and its Department of Water Affaires and Forestry (DWAF, 2012).

The requirements and quality standards depend on the origin of the wastewater: greywater, domestic or industrial effluents as well as the purpose of the reused water. Figure 2.2 shows the required treatment technologies to fit the allowed reuse purposes. Raw sewage and effluents from systems with only mechanical (primary) treatment as well as WSP with low HRT in MP are excluded for irrigation. The Minimum requirement for the irrigation of fodder crops are WSP with at least a 40 days HRT in MP. For all other purposes, secondary, tertiary or advanced treatment is required which cannot be reached by WSP. For fodder crops the effluent water quality has to comply with the general standard. The special standard is applied for the irrigation of vegetables and crops consumed raw by humans.

Table 2.1 shows an extract of the water quality required by the general and special standard.

	Turbidity [NTU]	рН [-]	TSS [mg/L]	COD [mg/L]	NH4-N [mg/L]	TKN [mg/L]
General Standard	12	6.5 - 9.5	100	100	10	33
Special Standard	5	6.5 - 9.5	40	55	1	5

Table 2.1: Extract of the general and special water quality standards for effluents (DWAF, 2012)



Figure 2.2: Reuse Flowchart showing allowed reuse purposes in relation to the achieved treatment level in Namibia (GS= General Standard for effluent, SS= Special Standard for effluent) (DWAF, 2012)

2.2.2 European reuse standards

The regulation 2020/741 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 May 2020 on minimum requirements for water reuse contains the first standard for the reuse of treated wastewater especially for agricultural irrigation in the European Union (EU, 2020). This regulation is based on the Council Directive 91/271/EEC which requires that treated wastewater is reused whenever appropriate (EU, 1991) and will be applicable from 26 June 2023. All wastewater has to be treated in municipal wastewater treatment plants and the required effluent values (Table 2.2) are based on the guidelines for treated wastewater use for irrigation projects by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO, 2015) and on the WHO Guidelines for the safe use of wastewater, excreta and greywater by the World Health Organization (WHO, 2006).

Table 2.2: Extract of the reclaimed water quality requirements for agricultural irrigation by the EU-regulation 2020/741 (EU, 2020). The first TSS value relates to large plants of more than 10,000 people equivalents. The second value relates to small plants between 2,000 and 10,000 people equivalents.

Reclaimed	Indicative technology	E. coli	BOD ₅	TSS	Turbidity
water quality	target	[1/100mL]	[mg/L]	[mg/L]	[NTU]
class					
A	Secondary treatment, filtration, and disinfection	≤ 10	≤ 10	≤ 10	≤ 5
В	Secondary treatment, and disinfection	≤ 100	≤ 25	\leq 35 / \leq 60	-
С	Secondary treatment, and disinfection	≤ 1,000	≤ 25	\leq 35 / \leq 60	-
D	Secondary treatment, and disinfection	≤ 10,000	≤ 2 5	\leq 35 / \leq 60	-

2.3 Enhancement with pre- and post-treatment in this study

With fast growing populations existing WSP systems are reaching their treatment capacity and therefore need to be upgraded (Dias et al., 2017a). Either additional ponds are constructed or alternatively they are equipped with pre- or post-treatment. Micro sieves (MS) (Walder et al., 2015) and an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor (Cavalcanti, 2003) are possible additional pre-treatment (PreT) technologies whilst sludge can be removed and baffles installed in the existing FP as well as a rock filter as post-treatment (PostT) in the MP (Middlebrooks, 1995).

2.3.1 Micro sieve for pre-treatment of waste stabilization ponds

Within wastewater treatment MS are mainly installed as PreT to reduce TSS. In some applications they have also been researched as post-treatment to eliminate helminths (Müller, 2017). The elimination is fully based on the physical process of sieving with a drum (Figure 2.3) or disc sieve. Both types are fed from the inside where the solids are retained on the mesh and once a specific water level is reached the mesh is sprayed from the outside. The screening is collected in a trough, dewatered and discharged into a collection container. Mesh widths between 100 und $300 \,\mu$ m made of stainless steel or polyester screen cloth (Ljunggren, 2006; Tchobanoglous et al., 2014) are applied in municipal wastewater treatment of raw water (Gikas and Tsoutsos, 2015). However, depending on the particle size distribution of the TSS even smaller fractions can be retained due to the filter cake on the sieve (Ljunggren, 2006; Rusten and Ødegaard, 2006; Shea and Males, 1971).



Figure 2.3: Micro sieve with sieving drum (left) and screening discharge (right)

The discharged screenings can reach a dry matter content of 6 % (Wid and Horan, 2016) and when coupled with an anaerobic digestion process biogas can be produced. Depending on the national legislation the contained phosphorous in the digested sludge can be used in agriculture as valuable fertilizer (Marti et al., 2008). At laboratory scale TSS retention of up to 60 % and COD reduction of up to 30 % can be reached with TSS effluent concentrations of 34 mg/L (Ljunggren, 2006; Rusten and Ødegaard, 2006).

MS installed as tertiary treatment with smaller mesh widths of $10 - 20 \,\mu\text{m}$ can reach TSS effluent concentrations below 5 mg/L (Grau et al., 1994). With WSP they can also be used to separate algae (Hendricks, 2011; Kothandaraman and Evans, 1972).

2.3.2 Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactors as pre-treatment of waste stabilization ponds in warm climates

The upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor is a wastewater treatment stage based on anaerobic digestion within a sludge blanket of high microbial activity. The raw wastewater is flowing vertically from bottom to top through the reactor. The profile of the settleable solids within the reactor are graded from densely packed or granular particles at the bottom (sludge blanket) up to light sludge with dispersed solids at the reactor head (Chernicharo, 2007; Lettinga et al., 1980). Anaerobic microorganisms are digesting the organic material throughout the reactor. Constant flow from the bottom and rising gas bubbles assure their continuous circulation. At the top, the separation of solids, gas and liquids is implemented with a sharpedged overflow in the phase separator (Figure 2.4) (Cavalcanti and van Haandel, 1996; Chernicharo, 2007; Tiwari et al., 2006).



Figure 2.4: Schematic representation of an UASB reactor as anaerobic pre-treatment process (Cavalcanti and van Haandel, 1996)

Originally the UASB has been developed for wastewaters from industry with high COD concentrations (Lettinga et al., 1980). However, due to its robustness, easy operation and maintenance as well as reduced costs it is also implemented in countries with warm climates (Chernicharo, 2007; Mara, 2004). Its main purpose is the reduction of organic material and partially the reduction of pathogens whilst nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorous concentrations are only slightly reduced (Tian et al., 2015). The reduction of COD strongly depends on the water temperature (Lew et al., 2004; Seghezzo et al., 1998; Uemura and Harada, 2000) and the HRT (Alaerts et al., 1993). The HRT ranges between 6 and 12 hours and is therefore shorter than the HRT of an anaerobic pond with 2 - 9 days (Mara, 2004). In contrast, the sludge age in UASB reactors usually exceeds 30 days, leading to stabilisation of the excess sludge removed from the system (Chernicharo, 2007). Most UASB reactors are operated in a mesophilic temperature range between 25 °C and 38 °C and are therefore particularly suitable for warm climates (von Sperling, 2007a).

In combination with WSP an UASB as PreT can replace an AP and therefore less land area and an up to 30 times smaller volume is required (Cavalcanti and van Haandel, 1996). With a sufficient HRT even the FP can be replaced and a much lower sludge accumulation rate is reached (Dias et al., 2014). However, according to Symonds et al. (2014) better pathogen reduction is reached with FP and two MP. With the UASB reactor about 70 % of TSS can be reduced and thus lower turbidity allows for higher light penetration in the subsequent ponds and stimulates photosynthesis of the algae (Dias et al., 2014).

2.3.3 Sludge removal

Sludge accumulation at the bottom of WSP occurs due to sedimentation of suspended solids as well as microbial growth of anaerobic bacteria (Effebi et al., 2011). It is greatest in primary ponds and its distribution depends strongly on their size as well the position and number of their inlets (Nelson et al., 2004). Nelson et al. (2004) found uniform sludge distribution in an AP with multiple inlets and a two days HRT, whilst in FP with singe inlets and higher HRT (9-41 days) most of the sludge accumulated directly in front of their inlet and in the corners.

Average sludge accumulation rates strongly depend on local conditions. Highest rates were measured in Australia with $0.12 - 0.23 \text{ m}^3$ /person/year (Coggins et al., 2017). In France Picot et al. (2005) observed $0.04 - 0.148 \text{ m}^3$ /person/year whilst in Brazil and Mexico only up to 0.036 m^3 /person/year (Gonçalves, 1999; Nelson et al., 2004) were reported.

The effect of sludge accumulation in WSP is twofold on the hydraulics: at first the HRT is reduced due to volume reduction and secondly a flow channel is formed with higher sludge layers at the sides of the ponds because of lower flow velocity, both change the treatment efficiency (Coggins et al., 2017). Sludge accumulation not only impacts the available pond volume, but also effects carbon dioxide (CO₂) and methane (CH₄) emissions. With thick sludge layers Ho et al. (2021) observed extensive greenhouse gas emissions. Therefore, sludge management of WSP is important to improve effluent values as well to reduce their carbon footprint (Ho et al., 2021).



Figure 2.5: Removal of sun dried sludge from a facultative pond (left) and a maturation pond (right)

Desludging is recommended with a filling rate above 30 % or 2 – 5 years for AP (Oakley et al., 2012) and in primary FP after 15 years (Picot et al., 2005). Secondary FP can be desludged after more than 20 years (von Sperling, 2007b). However, in Botswana sludge was already removed after seven years due to high loads (Letshwenyo, 2021).

The sludge is either extracted by suction from below the water surface, which is more expensive and needs special equipment, or after emptying of the ponds, which needs a parallel bypass (Nelson et al., 2004; Picot et al., 2005). After drying this sludge can be easily removed with heavy equipment such as excavators (Oakley et al., 2012) or also manually (Figure 2.5). This periodic sludge removal needs to be considered already during the design and must be an integral part of the overall operation and management of the treatment process but is often missing in developing regions (Oakley et al., 2012).

2.3.4 Baffles to improve flow regime

Most WSPs are hydraulically inefficient, and pond hydraulics are further impaired by sludge accumulation and short-circuiting (Coggins et al., 2017). Besides the above mentioned regular removal of sludge it is also possible to increase the HRT (Verbyla et al., 2016). The HRT distinguishes the time water spends within a specific pond and is calculated with the inflow and the pond volume. However, the real retention time is often much shorter, especially with inefficient pond geometry or poor positioning of inlet and outlets. Tracer tests in WSP showed real retention times only reaching 45 % of the calculated HRT (Crites et al., 2014). Especially disinfection can be improved with longer HRT and therefore WSP can be enhanced with baffles that improve the flow pattern (Curtis, 2003).

In addition to the improvement of the hydraulic flow pattern baffles add further submerged surface to which microorganisms can attach themselves and increase their concentration (Muttamara and Puetpaiboon, 1997) and additionally contribute to the reduction of nitrogen and carbon compounds (Pearson, 2005). Baffles can be installed at FP as well as MP, especially if a higher length-to-width ratio is needed to improve pathogen reduction (Verbyla et al., 2017). Organic matter and pathogen concentrations following first-order kinetics are best reduced under plug-flow conditions, which can only be approximated with high length-to-with ratios. According to von Sperling (2007a) these should be larger than 10 in a single MP, between 1 and 5 in a series of more than 3 MP, between 2 and 4 in a primary FP and between 1 and 3 in an AP.



Figure 2.6: Preparation of floating baffle 1 (left) and baffle 2 installed in a facultative pond (right)

Ideally baffles are included with the original design of the pond and can be constructed as concrete or earth walls, but it is also possible to retrofit floating baffles (Figure 2.6) to avoid short-circuiting (Shilton and Harrison, 2003). Modelling of water flows in WSP is more widely applied, but these models are mainly validated by hydrodynamic or laboratory models and seldom at real pond scale (Coggins et al., 2018). The practical example of Coggins et al. (2018) in Australia proved a better hydraulic performance due to decreased short-circuiting and increased retention time by at least 20 %. According to Shilton and Harrison (2003) one baffle has no effect, but two or three baffles are technically and financially most effective and should be spread evenly across the pond. They achieved a pathogen reduction of up to 5 log units with the installation of two baffles over 65 % of the length of the pond.

2.3.5 Rock filter for removal of algae

WSP systems are an effective technology to treat wastewater but the presence of algae, which provide the major source of oxygen, is responsible for high concentrations of organic matter and suspended solids in the effluent (Dias et al., 2017b; Shelef and Azov, 2000). These solids originate mainly from organic algae matter and other pond debris but not from the original wastewater (Middlebrooks, 1995). According to von Sperling (2007a), 90 % of the TSS in the effluent consist of algae. When the treated wastewater is used for irrigation, the solids can lead to blockages of the small emitter orifices (0.1 - 2 mm) in the irrigation system (Lazarova and Bahri, 2005).

For the removal of algae, rock filters (Figure 2.7) offer a cost-effective and efficient alternative for post-treatment (Juanicó and Milstein, 2004; Mara and Johnson, 2007; Shelef and Azov, 2000; U.S. EPA, 2011). Rock filter operate by wastewater flowing through a submerged porous rock bed, causing algae to settle on the rock surfaces as the fluid flows through the cavities (Saidam et al., 1995). The collected algae are then biologically degraded and additionally pathogens reduced (Crites et al., 2014; Dias et al., 2017a). In some cases, rock filters have even replaced MP to polish WSP effluents (Mara and Johnson, 2007).



Figure 2.7: Rock filter installed in a maturation pond

Typical depths of rock filters are between 1.5 and 2 metres with rock diameters of approximately 10 - 12 cm (Shelef and Azov, 2000). However, von Sperling et al. (2007) proved that smaller rock sizes (3 – 10 cm) perform better than larger rocks (8 – 20 cm) whilst Dias et al. (2017a) have reached best results with three decreasing grain sizes. According to Mara (2004), the porosity of the rock filter medium can be assumed as 0.4 and the best hydraulic loading rate was identified with 0.5 m³/m²/d (von Sperling et al., 2007).

So far there are no cleaning procedures implemented (Mara, 2004; von Sperling, 2007a), but several rock filters have been operating for 10 - 20 years without blockage (Dias et al., 2014; Middlebrooks, 1995) and negligible head losses (von Sperling et al., 2007). With a rock filter up to 60 % of suspended solids (Saidam et al., 1995), up to 70 - 90 % of BOD₅ (Fuhrmann, 2014; Shilton, 2005) and up to 90 % of algal concentration (Shelef and Azov, 2000) can be decreased. At the same time it remains a low-tech system without power, mechanical or chemical requirements as well as low construction and maintenance costs (von Sperling et al., 2007).

2.4 Study area in Namibia

North-central Namibia with its administrative regions Ohangwena, Omusati, Oshana and Oshikoto covers about 15 % of the national land area and in 2016 was home to 42 % of the total population (NSA, 2017). The climate is semi-arid and characterised by highly variable climatic conditions and seasonal rainfall falling mostly from November to April with spatial heterogenic rainfall patterns (Mendelsohn et al., 2002). The precipitation rate varies throughout the region, decreasing from east to west and from north to south with an annual average rainfall in the Omusati region from 350 to 500 mm/a. The evaporation rate is relatively high with an annual average of 1,820 - 2,240 mm/a, by far exceeding the precipitation. The average temperature of the region ranges from 25 °C in the summer to 17 °C in the winter (Mendelsohn et al., 2002). Between 2018 and 2019 only 50 % of the average annual rainfall was measured at the local weather station and increased aridity and evaporation is predicted (Angula and Kaundjua, 2016).
57 % of the rural population relies on subsistence farming (NSA, 2011) with rainfed crop and livestock production which is strongly affected by drought and high temperatures (Angula and Kaundjua, 2016). Especially in 2013 farmers and pastoralists experienced a major drought and again in the 2014-2015 season, which started well in October/November but in February/March was the driest in 27 years causing 30 % crop reduction and a strong decrease in grassland biomass as well as depletion of surface water bodies used for cattle drinking (Kerdiles et al., 2015). Ecosystem and land degradation is also aggravated by population growth and increased livestock keeping for prestige, wealth, manure as well as for meat and income generation (Kangombe, 2010).

2.4.1 Water and sanitation in neighbouring communities

Fresh water is not only limited due to high evaporation rates in north-central Namibia but also because of groundwater bodies with high salinity (Mendelsohn et al., 2002). Therefore, since 1974 water supply and also irrigation is based on surface water from the Kunene River at the Angolan border which is transported over 160 km in an open canal from Calueque to Oshakati (Kluge et al., 2008).

At the same time the first WSPs have been built in towns and most were extended after 10 to 20 years (Table SI 8.1.1) due to population growth. Urban household sanitation is mainly based on septic tanks and separate sewerage systems evacuating in WSPs, whilst rain water is evacuated in open drainage system (Liehr et al., 2018). In semi-urban areas with simple houses or shacks pit latrines are utilised as well as open defecation (Deffner and Mazambani, 2010).

So far the treatment of wastewater was only a minor aim, whilst the main purpose of WSP was evaporation and therefore they were often poorly managed. The potential for water reuse in agriculture has only been discussed after recent droughts especially with the focus on integrated water resource management (IWRM) (Kluge et al., 2008).

2.4.2 Urban centre with pilot plant

The pilot plant was established at the existing WSP system in Outapi (Figure 2.8), since 1998 capital of Omusati region. In 2001 Outapi was the smallest town in Namibia but as a commercial hub it grew quickly with 6,437 inhabitants in 2011 (NSA, 2011) and with a growth rate of 9.3% to about 11,000 in 2018 (Mwinga et al., 2018). This rapid growth is a challenge to planning and implementation of sanitation infrastructure, sewage collection and wastewater treatment (Liehr et al., 2018; Müller, 2017). Due to the flat topography the wastewater is pumped with 9 pump stations to the WSP built in 2004 and designed for about 5,000 people. The WSP consist of two parallel treatment trains each with one primary FP and three MP followed by an EP which was constructed later. Especially during the rainy season surface water is entering the sewer system and overloading the WSP so that the EP is overflowing into the surrounding area.



Figure 2.8: Location of sewer catchment (1) and waste stabilisation ponds (2) (Google-Earth (2016); Price and Hegnauer (2016), modified)

Given the need for irrigation water in north-central Namibia and challenges with existing WSP the research project EPoNa was implemented from September 2016 until August 2020. The first aim of the technical approach was to establish the current state and performance of WSP in the region, as well as their potential for water reuse. This included the characterization and evaluation of nine existing WSP systems, the analysis of their microbial communities as well as the composition of pathogens and cyanobacteria in their influent and effluent (chapter 3).

The second aim was to research different biological and physical enhancements at the existing WSP pilot plant to improve the environmental situation and to generate irrigation water. Hence, an anaerobic biological and a mechanical PreT technology were compared and evaluated (chapter 4). Additionally, the FP was equipped with floating baffles to improve flow conditions and the last MP was turned into a rock filter as PostT to retain algae. The performance of the baffles and the rock filter especially with regards to algae retention, pathogen reduction and their effect on the microbial community were examined (chapter 5).

The last aim was to establish the compliance of traditional and upgraded WSP with the Namibian and the European reuse guidelines. Therefore, the impact of algae on the particulate COD was elaborated (chapter 3). The results of the pilot plant were compared with the standards and further obstacles for agricultural water reuse as well as operation and maintenance of existing WSP discussed (chapter 5).

3 Characterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia

This chapter has been published in H2Open Journal (2022) volume 5 No 2: 365-378 in collaboration with S. Agrawal, L. Orschler, S. Lackner. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/h2oj.2022.004</u>

3.1 Abstract

Waste stabilization ponds (WSP) exist worldwide to treat wastewater, especially in warm climates. They are characterized by simple operation and maintenance and over 50 years many WSP were built in urban communities in Namibia. This study characterized and evaluated nine of these WSP systems in terms of their influent and effluent water quality and compared them with the requirements for water reuse in agriculture. In their current state none of them adhered with the Namibian or the new European reuse standards, especially due to tCOD concentrations above 100 mg/L caused by high algal fractions in the pCOD. The algae related chlorophyll-a concentrations correlated linearly with the pCOD and this correlation can therefore be used to fractionate the tCOD for further judgement. Additionally, microbial community analyses determined the composition of pathogens in the WSP influent and effluent, this helped to assess potential risks and distinguish between potentially toxic and non-toxic cyanobacteria. The EU requirement of less than 1,000 E. coli per 100 mL for fodder crop irrigation of was only achieved with one WSP system which was enhanced with additional pre- and post-treatment. This research delivers a first overview of the current situation and can be used as basis to establish possible enhancement measures for existing WSP as well to investigate possible effluent application in agricultural irrigation.



Figure 3.1: Graphical abstract: Characterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia

Characterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia

3.2 Introduction

Waste stabilization ponds (WSP) are a cost-effective treatment option for towns in water scarce areas with only few disadvantages such as large land requirements, high methane emissions and high concentrations of chemical oxygen demand (COD) and total suspended solids (TSS) in the effluent due to algae (Alves et al., 2020; Mara, 2004). Conventional pond system design consists of an anaerobic pond (AP) followed by a facultative pond (FP) and several maturation ponds (MP) (von Sperling, 2007a).

In many African countries WSP are most common for wastewater treatment (Bansah and Suglo, 2016; Edokpayi et al., 2021; Janeiro et al., 2020; K'Oreje et al., 2020; Kihila et al., 2014; Nikiema et al., 2013; Zacharia et al., 2019). But compared to Latin America (Alves et al., 2020; Dias et al., 2017b; Hernandez-Paniagua et al., 2014; Nelson et al., 2004; Verbyla et al., 2016) and Australia (Buchanan et al., 2018; Gruchlik et al., 2018; Rose et al., 2019) limited information is available about their performance and potential for water reuse in agriculture. Additionally, the occurrence and composition of the algal biomass in WSP has been investigated worldwide (Eland et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2020; Pham et al., 2014; Wallace et al., 2015) but not much in Africa.

In regions without perennial receiving water bodies such as Namibia, WSP concepts also include an evaporation pond (EP) (DWAF, 2008) to facilitate complete evaporation. Alternatively, reuse of the effluent, e.g. for irrigation, has a twofold benefit: the treated wastewater is put to use and provides an important source of water and nutrients (Mara, 2009). But WSP are often overloaded due to high population growth and effluent values often exceed the required quality standards for water reuse (Ho and Goethals, 2020).

Water reuse requires certain quality standards, with focus on COD removal and reduction of pathogens. Nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorous and potassium can remain in the water and add additional value for the irrigation of plants as they complement fertilization. COD threshold values range from 100 mg/L in Namibia (DWAF, 2012) to 125 mg/L under the new EU regulation (EU, 2020) (Table 3.1) but are often exceeded due to the formation of algae biomass (Alves et al., 2020) that is not well retained in WSPs and thus detected in the effluent. Algae are not necessarily harmful and might even be beneficial for irrigation purposes, with the exception of potentially toxic species (Eland et al., 2018).

Depending on the reuse application, i.e. irrigation of green space, fodder crops or vegetables, different levels of reduction for pathogens are required. WSP rely on natural UV disinfection and the efficiency depends on the appropriate hydraulic retention times. Thus effluent quality has to be monitored carefully.

For Africa and particularly in Namibia only limited information about the water quality attained by WSP of different design, state of operation and general condition is available. Therefore, this study aims to provide a first data set of nine WSP systems in the North of Namibia, focusing on physical-chemical parameters and the microbial community. In particular, we investigated the microbial community composition with a focus on pathogens and cyanobacteria using modern sequencing methods. Such data has not yet been published and therefore adds new insights into the diversity of the microbial community in addition to standard indictor organisms. Additionally, the WSP systems were compared by means of standard physical-chemical wastewater parameters to generate an overview of inflow and effluent values of mostly overloaded WSP with various configurations. This also includes the calculation of total COD effluent values without algal matter in order to compare the effluents with the national and international COD requirements which could otherwise only be reached with high technological input.

Table 3.1: Effluent water quality and performance comparison: Load reduction and effluent concentrations judged against the Namibian (DWAF, 2012) and EU (EU, 2020) standards. The WSP are grouped according to their system setup. Green indicate WSP that fulfil the requirements, yellow show concentrations up to 20 % above the requirements or values for slight to moderate irrigation restrictions (Ayers and Westcot, 1985) and in red are all the WSP that are more than 20 % above the requirements.

System	WSP	#	TSS	tCOD	tCOD (w/o)	ТР
FP+MP	D, G1, H	removal:	23 -85%(load)	38 - 77% (load)	-	17 - 53% (load)
		effluent value:	57 - 253 mg/L	182 - 568 mg/L	85 - 303 mg/L	4.2 - 10.3 mg/L
AP+FP+MP	A, B, E, F	removal:	23 -91% (load)	21 - 85% (load)	-	16 - 70% (load)
		effluent value:	49 - 266 mg/L	198 - 647 mg/L	66 - 327 mg/L	5.1 - 23.7 mg/L
AP+FP+MP	C, I	removal:	no effluent	no effluent	-	no effluent
w/o effluent		last pond value:	26 - 188 mg/L	116 - 425 mg/L	75 - 95 mg/L	2.8 - 9.7 mg/L
PreT+FP+MP	G2	removal:	48 - 71% (load)	55 -71% (load)	-	0 - 13% (load)
		effluent value:	93 - 144 mg/L	371 - 466 mg/L	131 - 338 mg/L	11.1 - 12.8 mg/L
PreT+FP+MP+PostT	G3	removal:	86 - 96% (load)	64 - 84% (load)	-	64% (load)
		effluent value:	20-48 mg/L	173 - 202 mg/L	59 - 144 mg/L	4.8 - 13.5 mg/L
national and international reuse values						
Namibian Reuse Standard (DWAF, 2012)			< 100 mg/L	< 100 mg/L	-	< 15 mg/L
EU Reuse Regulation (EU, 2020)			< 60 mg/L	< 125 mg/L	-	-
FAO (moderate) (Ayers and Westcot, 1985)			< 100 mg/L	-	-	< 13 mg/L
System	WSP	#	TN	NH ₄ -N	EC	E.Coli
FP+MP	D, G1, H	removal:	25 - 57% (load)	49 - 99% (load)	0 - 27% increase	2 - 4 log ₁₀ units
		effluent value:	26 - 89 mg/L	1 - 38 mg/L	440 - 2700 μS/cm	1.0E+03 - 1.7E+05 (MPN/100mL)
AP+FP+MP	A, B, E, F	removal:	32 - 87% (load)	18 - 99% (load)	2 - 109% increase	2 - 5 log ₁₀ units
		effluent value:	19 -53 mg/L	1 - 31 mg/L	635 - 3150 μS/cm	3.0E+00 - 2.8E+04 (MPN/100mL)
AP+FP+MP	C, I	removal:	no effluent	no effluent	0 - 50% increase	2 - 4 log ₁₀ units
w/o effluent		last pond value:	8-41 mg/L	1 -20 mg/L	754 - 1352 μS/cm	1.3E+03 - 2.5E+05 (MPN/100mL)
PreT+FP+MP	G2	removal:	46 - 51% (load)	49-74% (load)	0	3 - 4 log ₁₀ units
		effluent value:	40 - 56 mg/L	16 - 36 mg/L	818 - 1062 μS/cm	1.0E+03 - 5.6E+04 (MPN/100mL)
PreT+FP+MP+PostT	G3	removal:	45 -85% (load)	55 - 98% (load)	2 - 32% increase	5 - 6 log ₁₀ units
		effluent value:	15 - 31 mg/L	2 - 22 mg/L	724 - 1072 μS/cm	1.5E+01 - 3.0E+02 (MPN/100mL)
national and interna	ational re	use values				
Namibian Reuse Standard (DWAF, 2012)			< 33 mg/L	< 10 mg/L	-	-
EU Reuse Regulation (EU, 2020)			-	-	-	< 1.0E+03 (MPN/100mL)
FAO (moderate) (Ayers and Westcot, 1985)			< 30 mg/L	< 5 mg/L	< 3000 µS/cm	-

AP = anaerobic pond, FP = facultative pond, MP = maturation pond, PreT = pretreatment, PostT = post treatment, WSP = w aste stabilization pond system A – I, TSS = total suspended solids, tCOD = total chemical oxygen demand, tCOD (w /o) = tCOD w ithout algae, TP = total phosphorous, NH₄-N = ammonia, EC = electrical conductivity, E. coli = Escherichia Coli

3.3 Material and Method

3.3.1 Data collection at nine WSP in North Namibia

This study characterized and evaluated nine WSP in North Namibia, where the majority of the country's population resides. Background information about each WSP was collected through semi-structured interviews with the local operation managers. The water quality was analysed between 2017 and 2020. Eight of the WSP (A – F, H and I) remained in their original setup over the whole research period. They were anonymized to ensure confidentiality. One plant (G) has been equipped with a mechanical and anaerobic pre-treatment, i.e. a micro sieve and an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor, in 2018 to reduce COD and TSS. In 2019 a post-treatment employing a rock filter to further decrease COD, algae and pathogens (Sinn and Lackner, 2020) was installed at WSP G. At this full-scale installation further enhancement measures such as sludge removal and baffles were also installed and investigated. G1 refers to samples from 2017 before the enhancement, G2 to samples that were taken after the installation of the pre-treatment in 2018 and G3 to the samples after the start-up of the post-treatment in 2019.

The daily evaporation was measured at WSP G with an iMetos SD weather station (Pessl Instruments, Austria) over four years. Due to similar climate conditions at all nine communities, an average evaporation rate of 5.4 mm/d was applied to calculate the theoretical water loss for each WSP. The surface area of the ponds was either provided during the interviews by the responsible person or estimated from aerial images. There were no design documents available, and therefore, no information regarding design values with respect to population or related loading rates are provided.

3.3.2 Sampling and analysis

1 L grab samples were taken during dry weather seasons at the influent of the WSP system and at the outflow of each WSP system once in October 2017 and twice in May and June 2019. Due to the local situation and lab availabilities, only a limited number of samples could be analysed. Long distances and local road conditions resulted in different sampling times, mostly during morning hours between 10 and 12 am, but some also in the early afternoon (2 till 4 pm). Samples were transported to the laboratory with a cooler box and analysed within 24 h. COD analyses were performed from homogenized (homogenizer: T 25 digital Ultra-Turrax, IKA, Germany) (total COD (tCOD)) and filtered (0.45 μ m, Whatman membrane filters, ME 25) water samples (soluble (sCOD)). The particulate fractions of the COD (pCOD) were calculated as subtraction of the sCOD from the tCOD. The following parameters were analysed with Hach cuvette tests using a spectral photometer (DR 2800, Hach Lange, Germany): tCOD, total nitrogen (TN) and total phosphorus (TP) from homogenized samples as well as sCOD, ammonium (NH₄-N), nitrite (NO₂-N), nitrate (NO₃-N), phosphate (PO₄-P) and potassium (K⁺) from filtered samples. Additionally, chlorophyll-a concentrations were determined according to German standard methods for the examination of water, wastewater and sludge (DIN 38409-60)(DIN, 2019).

TSS and volatile suspended solids (VSS) were measured by German standard methods (DIN 38409-2, 1987)(DIN, 1987) using Whatman 934-AH glass microfiber filters. Electrical

conductivity (EC), pH, temperature and dissolved oxygen (DO) were analysed with a WTW multimeter 3410 (Xylem Analytics, Germany). Additionally, the concentrations of total coliforms and *Escherichia Coli* (Colilert-18), *Enterococci* (Enterolert) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Pseudalert) were measured with an IDEXX system employing a Quantiy-Tray/2000 (IDEXX, Germany).

3.3.3 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing to determine the composition of cyanobacteria

Samples were collected as biological triplicates at six (A, B, D, G, H and I) of the nine WSP in 50 mL centrifuge tubes to determine the composition and abundance of cyanobacteria and pathogens. These tubes were centrifuged at 8,000 g and 4 °C for 25 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and pellets were stored at 4 °C overnight and brought to Germany for further downstream analysis. Total genomic DNA was extracted using the Fast DNA Spin kit for soil (MP Biomedicals, Germany) according to a modified manufacturer's protocol (Orschler et al., 2019). DNA concentration was analysed using Qubit 3.0 Fluorometer with Qubit dsDNA HS kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany). Further, the DNA was used to perform 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing according to the method by Agrawal et al. (2020). Then the raw data was filtered for the sequences associated with the phylum cyanobacteria and the composition of the cyanobacteria bacterial species, was determined according to a previous study (Agrawal et al., 2020).

3.3.4 Data processing

The collected data was analysed with conventional statistical methods. Concentrations below the limit of quantification (LOQ) were not considered for evaluation. COD measurements influenced by chloride concentrations above 1,500 mg/L were also discarded. The performance of the WSP systems was evaluated by the water quality at the inflow in comparison to the effluent quality. Additionally, the performance was related to the code of practice for wastewater reuse of Namibia (DWAF, 2012), the regulation on minimum water requirements for water reuse in the European Union (EU, 2020) as well as the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) water quality standards (Ayers and Westcot, 1985). In Table 3.1 values shown in green indicate WSP that fulfil the requirements, WSP in yellow indicate concentrations of not more than 20 % above the requirements and all WSP in red are not even close to the standards (>> 20 % above the requirements).

3.3.5 Semi-structured interviews

Semi-structured interviews with operation staff in 2017 gave important background information on each WSP system especially with regards to the total population and the population connected to the sewers and wastewater treatment plants. This information is presented in Table SI 8.1.1. Only in a few towns technical drawings were available. Data from flow meters existed from WSP A, B and G. For the others, values were estimated by the operators (WSP C, D, E, F, H and I).

3.4 Results and Discussion

3.4.1 Waste stabilization pond systems - introduction of the study sites

This is the first comprehensive evaluation of WSP in Northern Namibia. These systems have been built since the 1970's. Almost every ten to fifteen years extensions were implemented to accommodate the constant urbanisation and population growth. The size of the towns connected to these WSP ranged from 2,300 to 50,000 inhabitants; with connection rates from 30 to 70 % (Table SI 8.1.1). Therefore, further upgrades or enhancements would be necessary to accommodate the total population. According to the Namibian code of practice for pond systems, WSP should only be designed for up to 5,000 population equivalents (PE) (DWAF, 2008). In consequence, eight out of nine communities would need new treatment systems. This is not possible, neither financially nor in time. Additionally, there is no local experience in operation and maintenance of activated sludge systems or trickling filters. Therefore, WSP remain the only reasonable solution under the given circumstances.

All available details from the operators, inflow quantities and information obtained from satellite images are summarized in Table SI 8.1.1. The surface areas of most WSP ranged between 7,000 and 50,000 m^2 while two plants considerably exceeded these values with a surface areas of 200,000 and 280,000 m². At the same time, the per capita land requirements varied from 1 to 26 m²/cap. von Sperling (2007a) recommends values of 3 to 5 m²/cap, which means that six plants were over designed and should have the capacity to serve more households. Two WSP were already too small and would need upgrades. The depth and consequently the pond volume was available from five WSP. For the remaining four WSP the volume was calculated with an average depth of 3.5 m for AP and 1.5 m for FP (von Sperling, 2007a). The volumes ranged from 8,300 to 360,000 m³. The theoretical hydraulic retention times (HRT) were between 12 and 302 days as calculated from either the measured inflow or estimated values and the corresponding pond volumes. By these estimates, three of the plants (B, D, H) were already below the 40 days minimum HRT of MP required for water reuse in Namibia (DWAF, 2012). This calculation does not take into account short-circuiting and the reduced volume due to sludge accumulation over the years. At one plant, after 15 years of operation, the sludge layer in the primary facultative pond was between 20 and 70 cm thick. So roughly 1/3 was filled with sludge. However, in the subsequent ponds the sludge layers were much thinner. Thus, the available volumes are probably less and the real HRTs shorter particularly in the first ponds. However, as the sludge layers could not be determined for the other pond systems and for comparison purposes the theoretical HRT was calculated as a first estimate.

The nine WSP not only differed by size and HRT but also by the design of the different ponds. Four plants had one treatment train, five had two parallel trains. Three treated the raw sewerage directly in FP without AP. The number of MP varied between one at the smallest plant and up to seven at the oldest plant (D) constructed in the 1970s. All but one WSP had one or two EP at the end (Table SI 8.1.1).

3.4.2 Influent characteristics

The water quantity entering the different plants was between 83 and 2,160 m³/d depending on the town size and the number of people connected. At three plants the actual inflow was measured with flow meters whilst at the others an average inflow of 120 L/cap/d (Table SI 8.1.1) was estimated. This inflow was confirmed by the local operators but lay below the average consumption of 163 L/cap/d in Windhoek calculated by Uhlendahl et al. (2010). It, however, reflected the local living standard and accounts for water losses in the systems and also from households with standpipes but no sewer connection. Based on this information the PE loads entering each plant were calculated and compared with typical values in Europe (Germany) and Africa (Uganda) (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014) as well as with a wastewater treatment plant using UASB and rotating biological contactors (RBC) in Outapi, Namibia (Müller, 2017) (Figure 3.2 and Table SI 8.1.1). The total COD (tCOD) was between 21 and 160 g/(PE·d) with an average of 88 g/(PE·d). These values were lower than in Germany or in Uganda with 123 g/($PE \cdot d$) (calculated as twofold the biological oxygen demand (BOD) (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014) but only slightly higher than the 75 $g/(PE \cdot d)$ of the Namibian comparison. The TSS values of 10 to 50 g/(PE·d) and 27 g/(PE·d) on average, were at a similar level as the study in Namibia with 29 g/($PE \cdot d$), but lower than in Uganda (48 g/($PE \cdot d$)) and Germany (89 g/(PE·d)). The PE loads for TN and TP were 5 to 13 g/(PE·d) and 0.5 to 1.7 g/(PE·d), respectively. The TN values were lower than in Germany (11 - 16 g/(PE·d)) but similar to Uganda (8 - 14 g/(PE·d)) and Namibia with 6 g/(PE·d) on average. The TP load in this study was within the same range as in Germany and Namibia, but more than double the load in Uganda. This indicates that the consumption patterns in Namibia were closer to Germany than to Uganda. Overall the loads were within the given ranges and therefore the inflow estimations were reasonable.



Figure 3.2: Inflow parameters as (a) population equivalent (PE) load of the nine waste stabilization ponds (WSP) in comparison with typical values in Germany and Uganda (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014) as well as with a biological treatment plant in Namibia (Müller, 2017) and (b) inflow concentrations (c_{inflow}) of the nine WSP for total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD), total suspended solids (TSS), total nitrogen (TN) and total phosphorus (TP).

Characterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia

The inflow concentrations of all plants varied considerably (Figure 3.2 and Table SI 8.1.2). As all samples were grab samples over a period of two years there were variations within one WSP as well as between all systems. Especially the tCOD of the single samples covered a wide range from 175 mg/L (plant I) to 1,331 mg/L (plant E) with an average of 733 mg/L. The TSS values were 83 to 413 mg/L and 229 mg/L on average. Nutrient concentrations were between 39 and 106 mg/L for TN and between 3.8 and 13.9 mg/L for TP. Inflow concentrations of soluble COD (sCOD), particulate COD (pCOD), NH₄-N, PO₄-P, total coliforms, *E. coli, Enterococci*, pH and EC are presented in Figure 3.3. This data provides a first glance at the wastewater composition in Namibia and is valuable for further research on WSP.



Figure 3.3: Inflow concentrations (c_{inflow}) of nine waste stabilization ponds (WSP): (a) total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD), soluble chemical oxygen demand (sCOD), particulate chemical oxygen demand (pCOD), total suspended solids (TSS), (b) total nitrogen (TN), ammonia (NH₄-N), total phosphorus (TP), phosphate (PO₄-P), (c) total coliforms (Tot. Coli), *Escherichia Coli* (*E. coli*), *Enterococci*, (d) pH and (e) electrical conductivity (EC).

3.4.3 Effluent characteristics

The tCOD concentrations, taken at the overflows to the EP or from the last MP of each WSP, ranged between 116 and 755 mg/L and were all above the Namibian standard of 100 mg/L and mostly also above the EU standard of 125 mg/L (Figure 3.4 and Table SI 8.1.2). This reflected very well the finding of Alves et al. (2020) in Bolivia for similar size WSP. The TSS concentrations showed an average concentration of 103 mg/L and thus almost met the local standard of 100 mg/L. They were however above the EU requirements (EU, 2020) of 60 mg/L. There are no requirements from the EU (EU, 2020) for nutrient concentrations as they pose no harm for water reuse and are even considered necessary for plant growth. On the contrary, in Namibia (DWAF, 2012) there are standards for TN, and NH₄-N (33 mg/L and 10 mg/L, respectively) which were just below the measured average effluent values of 38 mg/L and 15 mg/l. The TP concentration of 15 mg/L in the Namibian standard was above the measured values (average 10 mg/L) and not critical. Further removal might be required for TN and NH₄-N though.



Figure 3.4: Effluent quality (c_{effluent}) in comparison with the Namibian Reuse Standard (DWAF, 2012) and the EU requirements (EU, 2020) for (a) total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD), total suspended solids (TSS), (b) total nitrogen (TN), ammonia (NH₄-N), total phosphorus (TP) and (c) *Escherichia Coli* (*E. coli*).

In Figure 3.5, the WSP were grouped according to their system setup: WSP A, B, E and F had the traditional setup of AP, FP and MP and were all overflowing. WSP C and I had the same setup but had no effluent. WSP D, G, and H formed the third group and represented the systems without AP. The systems without AP had higher effluent values for tCOD and TSS, whilst the group without effluent was close to the required standard due to the long HRT. With regards to the volumetric loading rate of the AP all plants were below the design parameters of $0.10 - 0.35 \text{ kg BOD}_5/\text{m}^3/\text{d}$ suggested by von Sperling (2007a) (Table SI 8.1.1). At two of the plants without AP the surface loading rate of 140 kg BOD₅/ha/d of the primary FP was at the lower end of the design values (von Sperling, 2007a). The surface loading rate of plant H was Characterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia 27

almost double the design value. The concentrations of *E. coli* were at a similar level in all groups. Altogether there was a wide divergence between all nine systems with hardly any compliance to national or international standards. Within the African context soil salinization needs consideration as well as salt acceptance of the irrigated plants. All the WSP showed EC values between 440 and 3,150 μ S/cm which were within the slight to moderate restrictions of the FAO (Ayers and Westcot, 1985) and therefore allow for fodder irrigation.



Figure 3.5: Effluent quality grouped according to the waste stabilization pond (WSP) system setup: AP = anaerobic pond, FP = facultative pond, MP = maturation pond, * = pond systems without effluent. The parameters total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD) (a), total suspended solids (TSS) (b), total chemical oxygen demand without algae $(tCOD_{w/o})$ (c), *Escherichia Coli* (*E. coli*) (d) are compared with the respective reuse standard (...).

3.4.4 Algal biomass

An important aspect to consider with regards to high tCOD effluent concentrations are algae. In WSP they find ideal growth conditions, especially in warm climates, and thus contribute considerable amounts of biomass to the pCOD in the effluent of MP. Measurements of chlorophyll-*a* can provide a first indication of the algae fraction in the pCOD. For the nine WSP, the chlorophyll-*a* concentrations ranged from 58 to 1,675 μ g/L and correlated linearly with the pCOD. These values were in the same range as in Bolivia (Alves et al., 2020). Based on this relation, the pCOD due to algae was deducted from the tCOD and an adapted tCOD without algae (tCOD_{w/o}) was estimated resulting in values between 59 and 339 mg/L and an average of

162 mg/L (Figure 3.6). These values did not yet reach the required effluent standards of the EU (125 mg/L) and Namibia (100 mg/L), but gave an indication that either algae have to be removed or there is the need for different standards if the reuse water originates from WSP. In situations where chlorophyll-*a* analysis is not possible, the sCOD can also provide a first approximation. These concentrations will indicate whether the given standards for tCOD are reachable with removal of the algae. Too high values are an indication of an overloaded WSP or of possible non-biodegradable COD. In such cases, further enhancement measures have to be considered. For the nine plants the average sCOD concentration was exactly 100 mg/L with values between 47 and 251 mg/L.



Figure 3.6: (a) Effluent ratio chlorophyll-*a* versus particulate chemical oxygen demand (pCOD) with the size indicating the relation of pCOD to volatile suspended solids (VSS). (b) chemical oxygen demand (COD) effluent concentrations ($c_{effluent}$) as total COD (tCOD), calculated tCOD without algae content (tCOD_{w/o}) and soluble COD (sCOD) in comparison with the Namibian Reuse Standard (DWAF, 2012) and the EU requirements (EU, 2020).

3.4.5 Microbial ecology

Microbiological parameters are also important for water reuse and water quality. Typically, the water quality is judged by cultivation methods capturing indicator bacteria, with total coliforms and *E. coli* being the most popular indicators (Liu et al., 2020). Total coliforms reached an average concentration of 3.3×10^6 MPN/100mL at the outflows which resulted in a reduction of only 2 log values. A slightly higher reduction of 3 log values was observed for *E. coli* and *Enterococci* with average concentrations of 3.2×10^4 MPN/100mL and 1.3×10^4 MPN/100mL, respectively. The EU (2020) stipulates less than 1,000 *E. coli* per 100 mL for the irrigation of fodder crops. Only one plant with a rock filter as post-treatment reached this value. Therefore, it needs to be evaluated if the natural disinfection processes in the MP can be improved or if other measures such as filters or technical disinfection have to be implemented. Further supporting parameters are presented in Figure 3.7.

Characterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia



Figure 3.7: Effluent concentrations (c_{effluent}) of nine waste stabilization ponds (WSP): (a) total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD), soluble chemical oxygen demand (sCOD), particulate chemical oxygen demand (pCOD), potassium (K⁺), total suspended solids (TSS), (b) total nitrogen (TN), ammonia (NH₄-N), total phosphorus (TP), phosphate (PO₄-P), (c) total coliforms (Tot. Coli), *Escherichia Coli* (*E. coli*), *Enterococci*, (d) pH and (e) electrical conductivity (EC).

The determination of faecal contamination through indicator bacteria is a common procedure, it may however not provide an accurate or complete picture of the pathogens present in a water sample. Therefore, a sequencing approach was also used to gain an overview over the diversity and dynamics of pathogenic genera without the bias of culturability. The composition and abundance of the genera consisting of pathogenic species, called "pathogenic genera", was thus analysed in the influent and effluent samples of six of the WSPs (Figure 3.8). Among the influent samples, the relative abundance of these pathogenic species ranged between 8 to 42 %, whereas for effluent samples it was between 1 to 20 %. In WSP G, the fraction of pathogenic genera was highest in both influent and effluent. Overall, we observed a reduction in the abundance of pathogenic genera in the effluent of all WSP. In total, 79 genera were found across all samples. Eighteen pathogenic genera were shared among the influent samples and four among the

effluent samples (Figure 3.9). Although the cumulative abundance of low abundant pathogenic genera (i.e. having less than 0.1 % abundance) was highest in most samples, Acinetobacter was the most dominant across the influent samples (accounting for up to 16 % of the total microbial abundance) and Mycobacterium was dominant (accounting for up to 14 % of the total microbial abundance) across the effluent samples (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8: Bar plot showing the relative abundance of pathogenic genera found in each sample. Pathogenic genera having abundance < 0.1 % were categorized as "low abundant genera".



Figure 3.9: Venn diagram showing the number of pathogenic genera shared among (a) influent samples, (b) effluent samples of the WSPs.

Additionally to the pathogens, sequencing analysis can also provide information about the diversity of cyanobacteria. All WSP showed higher overall abundance of cyanobacteria in the effluent compared to the influent (Figure 3.10 a). But in the effluent their relative abundance (in relation to all bacteria) varied significantly from 0.45 (WSP I) to 25 % (WSP H). Figure 3.10 a shows the different composition of the biomass samples within the cyanobacteria at genus levels for the six WSP. Overall, *Synechococcus* was most dominant (i.e. up to 45 %), followed by *Cyanobium* (approx. 7 %) and *Chlorella* (approx. 5 %); others showed a relative abundance lower than 5 %. The identification of the respective genera is particularly important with regard to potential toxicity during the decomposition of these bacteria. A detailed heatmap with potentially toxic and non-toxic genera is presented in Figure 3.10 b.



Figure 3.10: (a) Bar plot showing the relative abundance of the genera associated with cyanobacteria found in the waste stabilization pond systems (A, B, D, G, H and I). (b) Heatmap showing the composition of the cyanobacteria at genus level. The colour designates the difference between genera having toxic and non-toxic species.

3.4.6 Performance efficiency

In order to judge the performance of each WSP not only effluent concentrations needed to be considered but also removal efficiency. This is especially important as all WSP experienced high evaporation due to large surface areas. Three of the plants had water losses below 12 %, four between 26 to 49 % and two lost 100 % of their water (Figure 3.11), which is the original aim according to the code of practice in Namibia (DWAF, 2008).



Figure 3.11: Inflow, outflow and evaporation of the nine waste stabilization ponds (WSP) A – I. Calculated with the average measured evaporation at WSP G and the corresponding surfaces given during interviews or estimated from aerial images.

The calculated load removal is presented in Table 3.1. The WSP are grouped according to their system setup. WSP D, G1 and H were only composed of FP and MP whilst WSP A, B, E and F were also designed with an AP upfront. WSP C and I evaporated all water and therefore there was no effluent load. Possible enhancements are reflected in WSP G2 with pre-treatment measures, FP and MP. WSP G3 had an additional post-treatment stage.

As mentioned before, none of the configurations reached the effluent requirements for tCOD when algae were included. The plants with the traditional design of FP, MP and some with AP were not able to reach the standards for TSS, tCOD, NH₄-N and *E. coli*. WSP with large surface areas and no effluent reached better values for TSS and tCOD_{w/o}, but still did not meet the required NH₄-N and *E. coli* values. With 100 % evaporation they present no viable solution as no water is available for irrigation. The WSP with enhancement measures did not show much improvement when only equipped with pre-treatment (WSP G2). In combination with post-treatment (WSP G3) the requirements were met for TSS, TP, TN and *E. coli*. For NH₄-N and tCOD_{w/o} WSP G3 was just above the standards. Especially for the hygienic parameter *E. coli* it was the only plant setup with acceptable values.

3.4.7 Challenges for reuse of WSP effluent

All communities experience an increasing need of irrigation water for year-round fodder production due to changing rainfall patterns. Additionally, solutions are needed to accommodate for fast population growth, reuse of water as well as nutrients, production of crops and reduction of greenhouse gas emissions (Hernandez-Paniagua et al., 2014; Shelef and Azov, 2000). With small improvements WSP can reach a higher capacity and better effluent quality which is particularly essential for fast growing communities with the need of agricultural reuse and without receiving waters (Butler et al., 2017).

The results from all WSP showed considerable differences in the effluent quality (Table 3.1 and Table SI 8.1.2). In their original stages none of the WSP adhered fully to the required standards for water reuse. Either all water was evaporated or TSS, tCOD, nutrients and bacteria were not adequately removed. Algae also need consideration as they cause high tCOD. On the other hand, this biomass presents an important soil enhancer that improves the water-holding capacity of the soil (Mara, 2004). Other WSP for example in Brazil also reached average COD effluent values of 100 to 150 mg/L even with rock filters (von Sperling et al., 2007) and the water was still recommended for reuse. In the case of agricultural irrigation there was no need to remove algae in coarse filters (von Sperling and De Andrada, 2006), so the COD would be even higher. Juanicó and Milstein (2004) also found high COD effluents during a study in Israel but stated clearly that the organic matter formed by algae growth has no relationship with the solids originally present in the sewage. Also in South Europe countries are struggling to meet the water reuse regulation with constructed wetlands, especially for microbial parameters, and therefore, the reuse purpose has to be adopted to the water quality (Lavrnić and Mancini, 2016). A further option is a classification with crop restrictions and obligations for irrigation methods (EU, 2020) to ensure a multi-barrier approach.

3.5 Conclusions

According to the feedback of the WSP operators the main purpose of WSP in Namibia is seen in evaporation whilst the wastewater treatment itself is only secondary, especially because so far no reuse projects have been implemented. Therefore, operation and maintenance are mostly neglected. Overall WSP operation and management have to be revised focusing on reuse rather than on evaporation. Especially, as all towns struggle with fast growing populations and their WSP are overflowing into the surrounding environment with no perennial streams. As basis for further in-depth studies on WSP this research presents a first systematic evaluation of nine WSP in North Namibia:

- Pond surface areas vary considerably between 1 to 26 m²/cap and HRT from 12 and 302 days depending on the design, date of construction, current population and surface extensions. Due to a multitude of local influences the effluent values do not correlate with the surface area or HRT.
- PE loads in the raw sewerage are within the literature range and therefore inflow estimations between 83 and $2,160 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$ are reasonable.
- Removal efficiencies of up to 85 % of tCOD, 64 % TP and 87 % of TN are reached by single WSP.

Characterization and evaluation of waste stabilization pond systems in Namibia

- The EU requirement of less than 1,000 *E. coli* per 100 mL for the irrigation of fodder crops is only reached with enhancement measures.
- Acinetobacter is the most dominant pathogen across the influent samples (accounting for up to 16% of the total microbial abundance) and Mycobacterium is dominant (accounting for up to 14% of the total microbial abundance) across the effluent samples.
- Relative abundance of cyanobacteria (in relation to all bacteria) varied significantly from 0.45 to 25 %. Overall, *Synechococcus* dominated (i.e. up to 45 %), followed by *Cyanobium* (approx. 7 %) and *Chlorella* (approx. 5 %).
- Currently none of the plants fulfils the national reuse standard in their original design and the effluents are not fit for reuse purposes yet, especially due to tCOD concentrations above 100 mg/L.
- Chlorophyll-*a* concentrations provide a first indication of the algal fraction in the pCOD, as they correlate linearly with the pCOD.
- The reuse standards need to be adapted specifically for WSP, either to allow for higher tCOD concentrations caused by algae or to use the sCOD as indicator.

4 Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pretreatment technologies: a comparative study from Namibia

This chapter has been published in Water Reuse and Desalination (2020), volume 10.4: 500-512 in collaboration with S. Lackner. https://doi.org/10.2166/wrd.2020.021

4.1 Abstract

Waste stabilization ponds (WSP) are a well-established wastewater treatment technology in Namibia. But they are often overloaded and we still lack concepts and technologies for improvement. Therefore, this study presents the full scale implementation of two pre-treatment technologies to reduce the inflow of organic and solid loads into a facultative pond. We specifically compared the effects of anaerobic biological and mechanical pre-treatment by an upstream anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor and a 250 μ m micro sieve. Not only in Namibia but also in most sub-Saharan countries there is little experience with these technologies for the treatment of municipal wastewater in small and fast growing local communities. Both technologies were tested in parallel for a period of 17 months and proved operational. Whilst the UASB achieved better removal results with respect to chemical oxygen demand (COD) and suspended solids (TSS), the micro sieve was more flexible in handling changing inflow patterns and had a much smaller footprint. The average total COD reductions of the micro sieve and the UASB were 22 % and 50 %, respectively. TSS were removed by 45 %with the micro sieve and by 57 % with the UASB reactor. Therefore, UASB and micro sieve are viable options for the enhancement of existing WSP to reach better effluent values of the facultative pond.



Figure 4.1: Graphical abstract: Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pre-treatment technologies

Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pre-treatment technologies: a comparative study from Namibia

4.2 Introduction

Water scarcity has become an increasing struggle in many regions worldwide. Recent variable weather conditions in sub-Saharan Africa show direct effects of climate change. Most affected by variable rainfall or lack of any precipitation are farmers who need the precipitation for their crops. Therefore, water reuse of treated wastewater is becoming an ever more important mitigation measure. Mara (2009) already postulated the increasing need for reuse of treated municipal wastewater, from e.g. waste stabilization ponds (WSP), in water scarce areas. However, in many towns with sewer systems the only wastewater treatment systems, if any, are WSP. They require low maintenance and power requirements, but are often too small and overloaded due to the very high population growth.

With the combination of extended drought periods due to climate change and increasing water demands, the focus is shifting more and more towards water reuse, e.g. for irrigation. Thereby, WSP face new challenges. They have to fulfil national or international water quality standards, especially for hygienic parameters but also for COD removal. Not only the increasing population and the related need for more irrigation water with valuable nutrients, but also the reduction of greenhouse gases impose a growing burden on WSP (Hernandez-Paniagua et al., 2014; Shelef and Azov, 2000). A typical strategy for capacity enhancement is volume extension (number and or size of the ponds) which is accompanied by growing land requirements. Other options may present themselves through upgrades of existing WSP with more advanced treatment technologies, such as anaerobic biological or mechanical treatment units.

This study compares an upstream anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor to a micro sieve (MS) as potential pre-treatment technologies in order to reduce the load of organic carbon (measured as chemical oxygen demand, COD) and suspended solids entering an existing overloaded WSP in Northern Namibia. The potential of these technologies to reduce COD and solids has been reported by Lazarova and Bahri (2005) with a wide range of values of 40 - 70 % and 20 - 75 % for UASB and MS, respectively. Also, the effect of such measures on the performance of consecutive ponds has not been monitored in depth in any sub-Saharan country.

Due to high COD and TS loads into primary facultative ponds sludge accumulation is also an issue and reduces the treatment capacity. A typical WSP setup would include an anaerobic pond to reduce COD and TSS loads into the facultative pond (Shilton, 2005; von Sperling, 2007a). However, this would not reduce potential methane emissions and would not solve the problem of the quickly accumulating sludge. In order to address this, UASB reactors have already been installed as anaerobic biological pre-treatment of municipal wastewater in front of WSP in other countries (e.g. in Brazil or India) with similar climate conditions (Bressani-Ribeiro et al., 2019; Cavalcanti and van Haandel, 1996; Dias et al., 2017b; Khan et al., 2011; Vassalle et al., 2020). Only Müller (2017) already examined UASB reactors before rotating biological contactors (RBC) in Namibia.

At the same time mechanical pre-treatment with micro sieves is becoming increasingly more important for energy recovery (Hey et al., 2016; Jahn et al., 2017; Paulsrud et al., 2014; Prösl et al., 2013; Rusten and Ødegaard, 2006; Walder et al., 2015). In Europe, Jahn et al. (2017) and Walder et al. (2015) researched a MS within the Austrian context. In Namibia micro sieves have so far been implemented as pre-treatment for an industrial wastewater treatment plant followed by membrane bio-reactors (Prösl et al., 2013) and as post-treatment for a municipal

wastewater treatment plant (Müller, 2017). A MS for the pre-treatment before a WSP, however, has been implemented for the first time in this research.

This is the first study which compares an UASB reactor (biological pre-treatment) with a MS (mechanical pre-treatment) to relieve overloaded WSP, with Namibia as an example. The results are especially important for fast growing communities in warm climates with the need of water reuse for irrigation and for regions without perennial streams (Butler et al., 2017).

4.3 Material and Methods

4.3.1 Waste stabilization ponds (WSP) and pre-treatment technologies

This project was conducted at an existing WSP system in a regional capital in Northern Namibia. The original WSP system as planned in 2004, consisted of two parallel trains (train A and train B) with four ponds each (Figure 4.2): one primary facultative pond (1) and three maturation ponds (ponds 2 - 4) (Figure 4.3). According to the design, the feed rhythm alternated between the two trains. The two facultative ponds have the largest volume of 16,000 m³ each and a surface of 11,000 m². Both are followed by three maturation ponds with smaller surfaces and volumes. The total water surface of the WSP is 40,500 m² with a total volume of 53,000 m³. The water level decreases from 1.5 m in the first pond to 1.1 m in the last pond (Table SI 8.2.1). Due to a high ground water table and a nearby ephemeral stream the earth dams constructed above the natural surface are covered with concrete whilst the ground of the ponds is lined with clay.



Figure 4.2: Schematic drawing of the water reuse project, the black dots represent sampling points

Two pre-treatment technologies were tested: a MS and a UASB reactor. Upfront, a coarse screen with 0.01 m bar spacing followed by a 56 m³ open collection chamber to buffer peak inflows was installed (Figure 4.2). The pre-treatment technologies for the upgrade were installed in train A. The UASB reactor had a volume of 42 m³ and was continuously fed with 3 - 4 m³/h inflow of raw wastewater, resulting in a hydraulic retention time of 10 – 14 h. In parallel, a MS (Noggerath Rotary Drum Screen RSJ-MG[®]) with a 250 μ m monodur polyamide mesh was installed. Its drum diameter was 1.6 m, with a length of 1.5 m, resulting in a total area of 7.5 m². Aside from the standard monitoring, a two-week intensive testing phase was carried out from day 265 to 275. During this period, different flows and operational settings were applied. These

included an increasing inflow from 28 m³/h to 60 m³/h (maximum capacity of the feed pump: 75 m³/h), increase of the impounding depth from 10 to 18 cm and chemical cleaning with a 2 % potassium hydroxide solution at 60 °C.

Additionally to the pre-treatment, pond A1 was renewed by emptying out the settled sludge and installing two floating baffles made of 2 mm thick HDPE sheets down to the full depth over 2/3 of its length. This improvement now avoids short circuiting and enables better plug flow conditions. The overall project also includes the installation of a rock filter in pond A4 as posttreatment. The focus of this work was, however, on the pre-treatment technologies only. These were continuously monitored for 17 months. Due to pump failure after heavy rainfalls with inundations and power failures the MS had an 88 days standstill time from day 110 to day 198.

4.3.2 Sampling and analyses

Electromagnetic flowmeters (IDM) measured the inflow to the plant, the inflow to the UASB reactor and the MS, as well as the outflow of ponds A4 and B4. Wastewater quality was monitored with portable probes for pH, dissolved oxygen and conductivity using a WTW multimeter 3410 (Xylem Analytics Germany) at different sites: untreated wastewater, the effluents of UASB, MS, A1 and B1 (Figure 4.2).

Due to high retention times in the sewer system with 15 pump sumps and in the ponds, grab samples were taken at different times of the day. For the untreated wastewater also 2 h mixed samples were analysed for comparison. The samples were analysed regularly with Hach Lange LCK cuvette tests for COD, total nitrogen (TN) ammonium, nitrite, nitrate, total phosphorus (TP) and phosphate with a spectrophotometer DR 2800 (Hach Lange GmbH, Germany). Indicator bacteria were examined with IDEXX Colilert-18 (enumeration of total coliforms and *Escherichia coli*) and Enterolert (*Enterococci*) employing Quanti-Tray/2000 (IDEXX Germany). To obtain total solids (TS) and total suspended solids (TSS) the samples were dried at 105 °C and for TSS also filtered with glass microfiber filters (Whatman 934-AH). Total volatile solids (TVS) and volatile suspended solids (VSS) were measured after ignition at 550 °C. The UASB reactor had five outlets to determine the level of the sludge bed.

4.4 Results and Discussion

4.4.1 Site development in Outapi

Originally about 2,500 of 3,000 inhabitants were connected to the sewer system, and the pond system treated their wastewater. By 2018 the connected population had almost tripled up to nearly 7,000 people. However, due to the high population growth rate of 9.3 % per annum, the total population in 2018 was estimated at 12,000 (Mwinga et al., 2018). This resulted in only 58 % of the total population discharging their wastewater to the sewer and wastewater treatment system, whilst 69 % were connected to the town's water supply system (Mwinga et al., 2018).

The WSP were designed with no overflow to the surrounding ephemeral water course so that all water was supposed to evaporate. Already at the early stage of operation, an additional evaporation pond with a surface area of 41,000 m² and a volume of 20,500 m³ (Figure 4.3 and Table SI 8.2.1) was built with simple earth dams. But due to higher flow rates, especially during the rainy season, the evaporation pond was overflowing regularly, posing a potential health risk to humans and grazing animals.



Figure 4.3: Aerial photo of the pond system with two trains (pond A1 – pond A4 and pond B1 – B4) and evaporation pond (Google-Earth (2019), modified)

Within this study, enhancement measures at the existing WSP with simple pre- and posttreatment technologies were introduced and tested in order to improve the effluent quality and thereby ensure safe water reuse for irrigation of fodder crops. For comparison, one train (train B) kept its original status of 2004 whilst the other train (A) was enhanced.

4.4.2 Inflow characteristics

In this study, wastewater characteristics were monitored extensively for a long period of time. Such detailed information has so far not been available for the sub-Saharan context. The collected data included water quality parameter as well as flow patterns.

The mean total inflow to the WSP was 802 (\pm 177) m³/d during the observation period, with a peak inflow of 1,330 m³/d on day 267 (Figure 4.4). The maximum inflow was reached after rainfall events due to surface water entering the sewer system. Compared to preceding years, there was hardly any rain in the region during summer. This is also an indicator for changing rain patterns. In comparison, previous years recorded the highest hydraulic inflow to the plant with almost 2,000 m³/d after heavy rainfalls.



Figure 4.4: Flow rates of the total inflow to the pond system, inflow to unimproved train B and to the pretreatment technologies micro sieve and UASB

Over the past years the mean daily inflow has increased from 710 m³/d in 2016 to 811 m³/d in 2018. This 14 % increase over two years very well reflects the growth of the town and more connections to the sewer system. The peak inflow to the WSP was in the morning between 6 am and 11 am. Three typical inflow patterns are presented in Figure 4.5. After the peak in the morning there was a second increase towards the early evening followed by reducing values during the night, showing rather typical daily variations in the inflow.



Figure 4.5: Typical daily inflow to WSP at three weekdays Wednesday (day 198), Thursday (day 304) and Tuesday (day 386)

The inflow was divided equally between both trains for the purpose of good comparison between the enhanced train A and the train at its original state (train B). Train A received a mean inflow of 345 (\pm 191) m³/d pre-treated wastewater, the inflow to train B without pre-treatment was 472 (\pm 211) m³/d (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6: Daily flow rates (total inflow, train A and B, UASB, micro sieve) from day 1 - day 527

The water quality of the raw wastewater is included in Table SI 8.2.2. Mean loads and concentrations of 606 (\pm 149) kg/d and 749 (\pm 153) mg/L for tCOD, 61.7 (\pm 15.4) kg/d and 76.0 (\pm 12.5) mg/L for TN, 8.0 (\pm 1.7) kg/d and 9.8 (\pm 1.3) mg/L for TP, and 174 (\pm 67) kg/d and 220 (\pm 81) mg/L for TSS were observed. These values are within a common range for municipal wastewater (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014).

4.4.3 Pre-treatment technologies

Two different pre-treatment technologies, a biological system relying on anaerobic degradation processes (UASB) and a mechanical treatment system (MS) were monitored in parallel to evaluate their potential for reducing the COD and solids load into the WSP. Besides the settling of the pCOD and the TSS in the UASB, anaerobic microorganisms also reduced sCOD, nutrients and pathogens. In comparison, the MS used a solely mechanical sieving process to reduce pCOD and TSS. The continuous operation of the UASB required a larger buffer volume to compensate for peak inflows whilst the MS was very flexible with changing flow patterns.

Over the course of the research period the MS received on average 357 (\pm 152) m³/d and the UASB 60 (\pm 33) m³/d. Changing treated volumes depended on the total inflow fluctuation and peak times as well as on the pump capacities. Peak inflows were 235 m³/d for the UASB and 873 m³/d for the MS.

4.4.4 Micro sieve

The different operation phases of the micro sieve are indicated in Figure 4.7. The commissioning (day 1 – day 43) with instable COD effluent values was followed by a stable operation phase. Effluent concentrations of the MS from day 77 to day 109 were: tCOD 676 (\pm 24) mg/L, pCOD 370 (\pm 26) mg/L and sCOD 304 (\pm 14) mg/L. After the standstill (day 110 – day 199), operation was less stable but improved towards the end of the study period with concentrations for tCOD of 708 (\pm 132) mg/L, pCOD = 404 (\pm 133) mg/L and sCOD = 293 (\pm 68) mg/L. Over the whole study period (day 1 – day 527) the mean sCOD concentrations with 306 (\pm 58) mg/L were more constant than the tCOD concentrations with 740 (\pm 142) mg/L and pCOD = 431 (\pm 128) mg/L.



Figure 4.7: COD effluent concentrations of the micro sieve (tCOD: total COD, pCOD: particulate COD, sCOD: soluble COD). The grey area indicates the breakdown period.

Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pre-treatment technologies: a comparative study from Namibia

Over the whole study period the tCOD removal was 22 (\pm 18)% and pCOD removal was 28 (\pm 24)%. Therefore, the installed MS reached good percentage removal which were within the range of others, e.g. the 15 - 25% tCOD removal reported by Lazarova and Bahri (2005) or the 25% removal reported by Prösl et al. (2013). Elimination efficiencies of up to 40% tCOD seem only reachable with flocculation (Jahn et al., 2017; Walder et al., 2015). Peak tCOD and pCOD removal reached up to 57% and 72% respectively. At the same time the sCOD was hardly reduced as expected.

On the contrary, TSS removal reached 45 (\pm 27) % over the whole study period. The removal of VSS was in the same range with 48 (\pm 22) %. These values are better than at an industrial wastewater treatment plant in Windhoek. There, the two MS for the mechanical pre-treatment also operate with 250 μ m sieves and remove only 30 % of TSS (Prösl et al., 2013). Sieves in Austria reached a removal of 65 % with flocculation (Jahn et al., 2017; Walder et al., 2015). Our MS reached similar levels as the ones in Austria only during three days for its peak performance, which showed a maximum removal of 80 % (TSS) and 82 % (VSS), respectively. Therefore, the original design value of the manufacturer with an average of 60 % TSS removal can only be reached with flocculation.

The intensive two-week testing phase revealed, that with the increasing inflow the spray time over the cycle time in-between two cleaning events increased linearly (Figure 4.8 a). Hence, the maximum theoretical inflow of the tested MS would be about 100 m³/h. This, however, would require a constant spray operation which is not practical. Therefore, a maximum spray time of 80 % of the cycle time was chosen which yielded a maximum inflow of 83 m³/h. This compares very well with the maximum design value of 82 m³/h. Based on the total sieve surface of 7.5 m² the maximum hydraulic loading rate of 11 m³/(m²·h) can be reached. This value is within the same range of 6 - 12 m³/(m²·h) as observed in Austria (Jahn et al., 2017).



Figure 4.8: Micro sieve spray time (a) in % of the cycle time and spray water consumption (b) in % of the treated water

Another important aspect of the MS was the spray water consumption in relation to the treated wastewater flow. For a sustainable operation process, water from the MS effluent was used to spray the sieve itself instead of using valuable, high quality tap water. Nevertheless, spray water use should be as low as possible to reduce energy consumption for the process water pump. This study shows that the percentage of spray water did not depend on the inflow but on the impounding depth. With an impounding depth of 10 cm, there was an average need of just below 5 % whilst with a depth of 18 cm less than 4 % were needed (Figure 4.8 b). This is almost double the 2 - 3 % measured by Walder et al. (2015) in Austria who have cleaned their sieve with water and a combined air injector.

4.4.5 UASB reactor

For the first two months after commissioning of the pre-treatment stage there was only a small COD reduction in the UASB reactor. Total COD was reduced by only 18 % from 838 mg/L to 685 mg/L whilst the sCOD remained constant at around 400 mg/L. After the inoculation of the UASB reactor with anaerobic sludge from the bottom of pond B1 on day 65, the tCOD concentration reduced over three months down to 234 mg/L and sCOD to 102 mg/L (Figure 4.9). This improvement of the performance was partially attributed to this inoculation but also to a rise in water temperatures. The temperature increased from 23.5 °C in winter (day 1 – day 30) up to 28.5 °C in summer (day 75 – day 145). The temperature influence was also evident during later periods (day 200 – day 527). During the cold season the highest tCOD effluent was measured with 720 mg/L (day 370). But this was also influenced by the accumulating sludge in the UASB. With regular sludge removal every 4 to 6 weeks from day 380 onwards, the tCOD effluent improved and reduced back down to 274 mg/L. Whilst the tCOD was influenced by temperature and sludge accumulation, the sCOD remained constant with an average concentration of 108 mg/L after the inoculation.



Figure 4.9: COD effluent concentrations of the UASB reactor (tCOD: total COD, pCOD: particulate COD, sCOD: soluble COD) and effluent temperature. The arrow indicates the inoculation (day 65), the black lines represent the sludge removal

Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pre-treatment technologies: a comparative study from Namibia

The removal of tCOD was 50 (\pm 21) % during the whole study period. The peak removal was reached on day 311 with 84 %. This is lower than the measured average values in Brazil of 63 % (Dias et al., 2017b), but close to the 57 % of Vassalle et al. (2020). At the same time the mean sCOD removal was 54 (\pm 28) %, pCOD was removed by 45 (\pm 29) %. Peak removals were 80 % for sCOD on day 524 and 89 % for pCOD (day 311).

After the inoculation of the UASB reactor with the anaerobic sludge from pond B1 on day 65, the solids in the UASB settled constantly over the following three months. In the beginning, the TS concentration at the top level reduced from 11 g/L to 1.0 g/L and TVS from 7 g/L down to 0.4 g/L. At the same time, the TS concentration at the bottom level increased from 43 g/L to 62 g/L, the TVS concentration from 30 g/L to 38 g/L. After a continuous feeding period of one year the first sludge was removed from the bottom layer (Figure 4.10). During the following months the sludge bed was monitored and when it reached a height of 2.5 m in the reactor, between the second and third sampling level, about 5 m³ were removed. This was three times during the study period. The mean TS concentration at the bottom level was 58 g/L with a TVS content of 66 %, whilst the top level had an average TS concentration of 3.8 g/L with a TVS content of also 66 % (Figure 4.11).



Figure 4.10: Mass of total solids (TS) in the UASB in each layer L-1 Top, L-2, L-3, L-4, L-5 Bottom with the black lines representing sludge removal



Figure 4.11: Total solids (TS) concentration and mass of different sludge levels in the UASB reactor

4.4.6 Water quality comparison

Both, UASB reactor and MS, are valuable pre-treatment technologies that have been implemented in different contexts. Within the local context of this study, the direct comparison of the effluent values showed that the percentage removal of the UASB were often higher than the ones of the MS. With regards to the tCOD removal, the UASB mostly came close or above 50 % whilst the MS seldom achieved over 50 % (Figure 4.12 a). This was mainly a result of the sCOD reduction in the UASB that did not exist in the MS. For the pCOD removal the MS delivered more values above 50 % but never above 75 % like the UASB did (Figure 4.12 b). The average tCOD reduction of the MS was 22 % versus 50 % of the UASB. TSS were removed by 45 % with the MS and by 57 % with the UASB reactor.



Figure 4.12: Comparison of the removal percentages of micro sieve and UASB reactor for tCOD (a), pCOD (b), total coliforms (c) and *E. coli* (d).

Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pre-treatment technologies: a comparative study from Namibia

Even though the main purpose of both technologies was to reduce COD and TSS loads, they also had a visible effect on the microbiology. Whilst the MS removed up to 50 % of total coliforms and *Escherichia coli*, the UASB reached even better removal efficiencies of 50 % to 75 % for *E. coli* and even above 75 % for total coliforms (Figure 4.12 c and Figure 4.12 d). Negative percentage removal in all cases can be explained by washing out of biofilm that accumulated on the walls of the UASB and the MS. The UASB was less affected by detaching biofilm as this biomass generally settles with the pCOD and is removed via sludge withdrawal. For the MS detached biofilm was easily washed out with the effluent, and was therefore more often detected.

On average, the UASB reactor reached tCOD effluent concentrations of 477 (\pm 174) mg/L compared to 740 (\pm 142) mg/L by the MS (Figure 4.13 a). This was mainly due to the additional sCOD removal of the UASB. Soluble COD effluent values for UASB and MS were 171 (\pm 126) mg/L and 306 (\pm 58) mg/L, respectively (Figure 4.13 b). But also for the pCOD the UASB had a better removal of 45 % with an outflow of 313 (\pm 136) mg/L compared to 28 % and 431 (\pm 128) mg/L for the MS (Table SI 8.2.2).



Figure 4.13: Total (a) and soluble (b) COD effluent concentrations, and data for total phosphorous (TP) (c) and total nitrogen (TN) (d) concentrations of the UASB reactor, the micro sieve, the secondary facultative pond A1, and the primary facultative pond B1

With regard to the potential water reuse purpose for irrigation of fodder crops nutrient removal or conservation is another important aspect to be considered. As shown in Figure 4.13 c and Figure 4.13 d there was almost no removal of phosphorus and nitrogen. The effluent values for TN were very close with 81 (\pm 10) mg/L for the UASB and 79 (\pm 12) mg/L for the MS. The

same applied for TP with 10.4 (\pm 1.1) mg/L and 9.9 (\pm 1.3) mg/L, respectively. This corresponds well with findings of Dias et al. (2017) who measured even slight increases in TKN concentrations after a UASB. Jahn et al. (2017) and Walder et al. (2015) reached 29 % of TP removal and 6 % of TN with their MS. However, they also implemented a flocculation process which certainly influenced the phosphorus removal.

4.4.7 Facultative ponds

Both first ponds were originally designed as primary facultative ponds, whilst pond A1 was transferred into a secondary facultative pond with the installation of the pre-treatment (Shilton, 2005; von Sperling, 2007a). The floating baffles were installed into pond A1 on day 64 as measure to optimize the flow conditions instead of potential short circuiting existing in B1, as last measure of three improvements. The other two main differences of this pond (A1) were the reduced inflow loads of COD and TS (due to the pre-treatment) and the full available pond volume due to initial sludge removal. The total inflow into pond A1 was the combined effluent from the UASB reactor (16 %) and the MS (84 %) whilst pond B1 received 100 % raw sewage.

The tCOD concentration in the effluent of pond A1 was 21 % lower than that of B1 with 465 (\pm 93) mg/L versus 588 (\pm 123) mg/L, respectively (Figure 4.13 a). Also the pCOD concentrations were lower in A1 with 380 (\pm 92) mg/L than in B1 with 461 (\pm 125) mg/L. However, the sCOD concentrations with 89 (\pm 28) mg/L for A1 and 89 (\pm 22) mg/L for B1, were the same (Figure 4.13 b). This clearly showed that the enhancement of the pond system had its main impact on the removal of the pCOD.

At the same time both ponds, A1 and B1, recorded impacts on the microbial parameters. All measured parameters indicated further but low removal. A1 had maximum one log₁₀ unit better values than pond For Е. coli reached effluent B1. it an average of 4.4×10^5 (± 6.6 x 10⁵) MPN/100mL with B1 of 1.6×10^6 (± 3.2×10^6) MPN/100mL (Figure 4.14). Total coliforms were almost at the same level with 1.2×10^7 ($\pm 1.3 \times 10^7$) MPN/100mL and 2.6 x 10⁷ (\pm 3.8 x 10⁷) MPN/100mL, respectively. Also for *Enterococci*, there was one log₁₀ unit difference with A1 being 8.6×10^3 ($\pm 1.4 \times 10^4$) MPN/100mL and B1 being at 6.3×10^4 $(\pm 4.4 \times 10^4)$ MPN/100mL. Even with those low removal values it has to be stated that disinfection was not the main task of facultative ponds. This had to be achieved by the following maturation ponds (Shilton, 2005; von Sperling, 2007a).



Figure 4.14: *Escherichia Coli* concentrations of the inflow, the UASB reactor, the micro sieve, train A and train B (MPN – most probable number)

Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pre-treatment technologies: a comparative study from Namibia

In order to judge the treatment capacity of the ponds, the effluent concentrations were one aspect as they are relevant for the intended irrigation purpose. However, due to high evaporation losses, those concentrations can be misleading in terms of the functionality of the system. Therefore, we also considered loads and their reduction. The mean tCOD loads at the outflow of pond A1 were 158 (\pm 69) kg/d with a removal efficiency of 49 % compared to the inflow into train A. At the same time the removal after pond B1 was only 36 % with an average load of 211 (\pm 117) kg/d (Figure 4.15). For the sCOD the removal in both trains was 77 % with similar load values of 29 (\pm 15) kg/d for A1 and 32 (\pm 18) kg/d for B1. Also for TP, there was only a slightly reduced load for A1 with 3.4 (\pm 1.5) kg/d compared to 3.8 (\pm 2.0) kg/d at B1. On the contrary, the TN loads were further reduced in train A than in train B with 19 (\pm 9) kg/d and 26 (\pm 14) kg/d, respectively.



Figure 4.15: Reduction of tCOD, TN and TP loads over the treatment train

4.4.8 Challenges for large scale implementation

Both technologies proved to be viable options for the pre-treatment of raw sewage upfront of WSP in the sub-Saharan context. However, for the large scale implementation of only one technology there are certain issues that have to be considered. The UASB had better effluent values but only treated a small fraction of the total inflow. For further improvement of the inflow to pond A1 by treating the entire inflow volume with UASBs they would have to be much larger. Either a much bigger reactor or several reactors in parallel, which would be more complicated to feed and operate, have to be installed. In the local situation power supply was needed to operate the feed pump of the UASB. Depending on other situations it might be possible to feed the UASB with the last sewer pump in town. In this case proper waste removal has to be ensured at the last pump station. Besides the reactor itself dry beds are needed for the handling of excess sludge. They have to be designed according to the size of the reactor and the expected sludge accumulation. In order to reduce climate gas emissions, methane has to be transformed to CO₂. This can be either achieved with a flare as in this study or, if higher volumes of CH_4 are produced, with a combined heat and power system. This would also have a positive effect on the energy consumption of the plant. Another consideration for the implementation of a system with UASB reactors is the local temperature. During hot seasons the removal efficiencies were considerably better, and therefore, it has to be ensured that also during colder periods the effluent values are reached. In areas with long cold periods the pre-treatment with a MS might be a better option as temperature has no influence on the MS. However, constant power supply is necessary for operation of the MS as well as for the spray water pump. If process water is used for spraying, a buffer tank is required, so that tap water consumption can be reduced. At the same time the MS was flexible with changing inflow peaks and volumes. The one MS would be able to treat the full inflow as the only pre-treatment technology. Nevertheless, regular maintenance such as cleaning of the sieves and replacement of spare parts are necessary, which can be difficult to acquire in the region. Also further treatment of the sieving residue is required. Ideally, this is done with a fermentation process, so that the produced biogas can be transferred into power. Alternatively, the residue can be composted and after stabilization and drying used as fertilizer.

During the research period operation and maintenance was conducted jointly by project partners, students and the local Namibian plant operators. They were trained during the implementation of the project and are afterwards capable to sustain the required daily works.

4.5 Conclusions

In this study, two different pre-treatment technologies were compared for the enhancement of overloaded WSP in Africa, also providing a detailed dataset of wastewater characteristics and effluent qualities. This full scale research proved, that both, UASB-reactor as well as micro sieve, are capable of reducing COD and TSS from the raw wastewater in the local context of warm climates, especially if there are space restrictions for further extensions. However, with the technical enhancement of existing WSP, the requirements increase. This means, that regular power supply is needed for the micro sieve, and it would be a benefit for the operation of the UASB reactor. Secondly, more maintenance for pumps and machinery will be necessary. At the same time this improves the approach of the operators, who might have interpreted WSP as maintenance-free. Thirdly, spray water is necessary to clean the sieve. Ideally this is implemented through a recirculation system of process water. Water consumption could be further reduced with a combined air and water cleaning.

The reduction of COD and solid loads into the first pond was achieved by both technologies with better effluent values of the UASB. However, the MS was more flexible with changing inflows and large volumes. The UASB further reduced sCOD, pathogens and small amounts of nutrients, which is beneficial for further treatment with ponds but not strictly required. In contrast, phosphorus and nitrogen are valuable nutrients for the projected irrigation. Little to no removal of TN and TP was observed with the pre-treatment, only later small amounts were consumed by algae and therefore remained in the system and were available for further irrigation purposes.

A positive effect of sludge removal, pre-treatment and baffles in train A was evident by better effluent values from A1 than with the unimproved pond B1. A further benefit of the pretreatment will be lower sludge accumulation rates and therefore longer removal intervals. Further research will focus in detail on the effluent values of pond A4 and B4 and the suitability of the water quality for irrigation purposes. Such research will also include the maturation ponds and especially the influence of algae on the irrigation water as well as the disinfection and reduction capacity for pathogens. Long term performance and operation stability data of UASB and MS will also be available for this local context.
5 Upgrade of waste stabilization ponds to improve effluents for reuse purposes

This chapter has been submitted for publication in the H2Open Journal (2022) with S. Agrawal, L. Orschler, S. Schubert, S. Lackner.

5.1 Abstract

Waste stabilization pond (WSP) systems are operated in many countries. They are especially effective in warm climates and regions without space limitations. Due to fast growing populations many of those WSP systems are overloaded and at the same time their countries are affected by changing climate and irregular rainfalls which cause an increasing demand for irrigation water. There is still little long-term experience with WSP especially in Africa and thus this study provides a comprehensive investigation of a WSP in North Namibia and the effect of different factors on treatment performance. One treatment train A of this WSP system was equipped with mechanical and anaerobic pre-treatment as well as post-treatment and was compared to a second train B without enhancement. The results show positive effects on the removal of COD, TSS and to some extend pathogens with a micro sieve and UASB as pre-treatment. In contrary, the rock filter as post-treatment did only reduce 5 % of chlorophyll-*a* and did not show any additional removal of algae compared to the original train. Algae concentrations were best removed with pre-treatment, sludge removal and baffles in the facultative pond.

With regards to pathogens the enhancement measures showed varying effects. *E. coli* were reduced to the new EU water reuse standard of 1,000 MPN/100mL for fodder irrigation, *P. aeruginosa* stagnated and *Enterococci* levels increased. The main pathogen reduction happened during pre-treatment and in the facultative pond with baffles and not in the maturation ponds. For total coliforms no clear trend was visible. Among the top 20 genera found *Pseudomonas* was dominant at most sampling points. The research showed that different enhancement measures at WSP can improve the effluent and help to reach the reuse requirements especially for restricted irrigation of fodder crops. At the same time, high tCOD and TN effluent values did not meet Namibian and European reuse standards. But as large portions of the tCOD, consisting of algae, add valuable biomass and TN valuable fertilizer to the barren soil, it raised the question if all the parameters set in the different standards are directly applicable for WSP or have to be adapted to their specificities.



Figure 5.1: Graphical abstract: Upgrade of waste stabilization ponds to improve effluents for reuse purposes

5.2 Introduction

Waste stabilization ponds (WSP) are common wastewater treatment options in water scarce areas especially in Africa but also on other continents (Ho and Goethals, 2020; Janeiro et al., 2020). Treated wastewater presents a valuable resource of water as well as nutrients, however, quality assurance is required, esp. regarding pathogens. In Namibia, the effluent water quality of WSP often does not fulfil the national and international requirements for water reuse. At the same time there is a high demand on water for irrigation purposes.

Traditional WSP systems consist of anaerobic ponds (AP), facultative ponds (FP) and maturation ponds (MP) (Shilton, 2005; Verbyla et al., 2017; von Sperling, 2007a). If there is no receiving water body an evaporation pond (EP) is also needed. The main purpose of AP and FP is the removal and stabilization of organic matter whilst MP are designed to remove pathogens (Verbyla et al., 2017).

Operators of WSP systems are facing fast growing urban populations with rapidly increasing inflows to their WSP, which leads to overloading and overflowing (Verbyla et al., 2013). The classical way of meeting this challenge is to increase the number of ponds and their surface. However, the related raising evaporation is contradictory to the aim of water reuse. Therefore, sustainable solutions are needed to achieve sufficient water quality and at the same time reduce evaporation losses. WSP have been studied extensively in Latin America (Dias et al., 2017b; Pham et al., 2014; Verbyla et al., 2016; von Sperling and De Andrada, 2006; von Sperling et al., 2007), Australia, New Zealand and the USA (Guieysse et al., 2012; Powell et al., 2011) but there is only punctual research in sub-Saharan countries such as Burkina Faso, Ghana, Malawi and Tanzania (Bansah and Suglo, 2016; Kihila et al., 2014; Konaté et al., 2013; Maiga et al.,

2009; Ngoma et al., 2020; Zacharia et al., 2019) on WSP, particularly on reuse for the irrigation of fodder crops.

Algae and cyanobacteria are indispensable for WSP. Within the algal-bacterial mutualism they produce oxygen, and consume nutrients and CO₂. They also play an important role on the removal and inactivation of pathogens (Liu et al., 2020). However, only little information is available on the microbial communities in WSP. Eland et al. (2018) quantified cyanobacterial and eukaryotic communities in two WSP in Brazil and Wallace et al. (2015) evaluated algae and macrophyte species distributions in three WSP in Canada. Due to high algae contents the effluent from WSP presents an opportunity to add biomass into barren soil and improve its water-holding capacity (Mara, 2004). But negative effects of algal toxins need to be considered (Ho and Goethals, 2020). Algae contribute considerable amounts of pCOD to the effluent and are therefore important regarding reuse requirements.

According to Verbyla et al. (2017) the most important factor for pathogen reduction in WSP is sunlight. Temperature, turbidity, dissolved oxygen (DO), pH, sedimentation and hydraulics are also important but have varying effects on the removal of different pathogens. Most of these factors are also influenced by the amount and activity of the algae. So far, there have only been short term investigations and literature reviews on pathogen reduction in WSP (Ho and Goethals, 2020; Janeiro et al., 2020; K'Oreje et al., 2020; Nikiema et al., 2013) but no long-term studies have been conducted on WSP in sub-Sahara Africa.

This research presents an extensive evaluation of factors affecting the treatment performance and effluent quality of WSP. A WSP system in Namibia was monitored over four years under several operational conditions, i.e. overloading of one treatment train, load reduction scenarios and additional pre- and post-treatment for enhancement. These scenarios were assessed regarding the removal of the chemical oxygen demand (COD), total suspended solids (TSS) and selected pathogens. Additionally, nutrient levels and algae content were considered, as important parameters for water reuse.

The following research questions were addressed: What are the seasonal effects on the effluent water quality of WSP comparing an overloaded with an enhanced treatment train? How does a reduced hydraulic load influence the performance? What is the impact of additional treatment technologies on the performance of a WSP? How are composition and concentrations of pathogens as well as the microbial community in general affected by these operation scenarios and improvements? Which enhancements have the highest removal potential? Can enhanced WSP fulfil Namibian and European water reuse standards?

5.3 Material and Methods

5.3.1 Configuration of the waste stabilization pond system

The investigated WSP system (Figure 5.2) is located in North Namibia and consisted of two parallel treatment trains A and B, each with one primary FP and three MP with almost identical pond surface and volumes (Further information in chapter 4.3.1). In order to enable water reuse for irrigation treatment train A was enhanced with a micro sieve (MS) and in parallel with an upstream anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor as pre-treatment (PreT) to reduce TSS and organic carbon (measured as COD) and floating baffles in pond A1 to approach plug flow conditions. As post-treatment (PostT) a rock filter was constructed to improve the effluent quality and reduce algae concentrations. For further information on the PreT and the PostT it is referred to Sinn and Lackner (2020) and Rudolph et al. (2020), respectively. The almost identical treatment train B remained in its original setup as comparison. Operation was divided into three phases. During phase I (day 1 - day 675) the PreT was constructed and during phase II the PostT. With the start of phase III on day 1,012 the whole plant was operational (Table SI 8.3.1). For phases I+II train B received 800 m^3/d inflow, during phase III 430 m^3/d . After commissioning, train A received on average 350 m³/d in phase III. The inflow into pond B1 was raw wastewater whilst in A1 it was pre-treated. During the one year of full operation there was a 50 days suspension of the PreT after lightning stroke on day 1,275. Train A was back to full capacity on day 1,362 (Figure 5.5 c).



Figure 5.2: Flow chart of the waste stabilization pond system with the two treatment trains A and B. Both trains consist of four ponds each. Train A was equipped with additional pre-treatment (UASB – upstream anaerobic sludge blanket and MS – micro sieve) followed by floating baffles in pond A1 as well as a rock filter as post-treatment in pond A4. The red points are the sampling points for the water quality analyses.

5.3.2 Sampling and analyses

During four years of operation one-litre grab samples were taken regularly at the inflow and overflows of each of the eight ponds. Electrical conductivity (EC), pH, temperature and DO were analysed directly on site with a WTW multimeter 3410 (Xylem Analytics, Germany) and samples were cooled and transported to the laboratory. The samples were analysed after homogenizing or filtration (0.45 μ m, Whatman membrane, ME 25) with Hach cuvette tests using a spectral photometer DR 2800 (Hach Lange, Germany) for: COD, total nitrogen (TN), ammonium (NH₄-N), nitrite (NO₂-N), nitrate (NO₃-N), total phosphorus (TP), phosphate (PO₄-P) and potassium (K⁺). According to standard methods (DIN 38409-2) (DIN, 1987) TSS and volatile suspended solids (VSS) were measured with glass microfiber filters (Whatman 934-AH). Further, chlorophyll-*a* concentrations were analysed based on DIN 38409-60 (DIN, 2019).

The following indicator bacteria were determined using an IDEXX system with Quanti-Tray/2000 (IDEXX, Germany): total coliforms and E. coli (Colilert-18), Enterococci (Enterolert) and Pseudomonas aeruginosa (Pseudalert). For a selected number of samples, biomass was collected in biological triplicates and centrifuged in 50 mL tubes at 8,000 g and 4 °C for 25 minutes. After discharge of the supernatant the pellets were stored at 4 °C prior to further downstream analysis. Total genomic DNA was extracted with the Fast DNA Spin kit for soil (MP Biomedicals, Germany) based on a modified manufacturer's protocol (Orschler et al., 2019). The DNA concentrations were determined by a Qubit 3.0 Fluorometer with Qubit dsDNA HS kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany) and DNA was subsequently used for 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing. We targeted multiple hypervariable regions of 16S rRNA genes with the 16S Ion Metagenomics Kit™ (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany) by two separate PCR reactions, amplifying the V2, V4, V8 and V3, V6-7, and V9 hypervariable regions, according to the kit protocol, as described in Agrawal et al. (2020). Sequencing was performed on an Ion Torrent (ION Torrent Ion S5) using the 400-bp kit and 530 chip. Base calling and run demultiplexing were conducted by Torrent Suite version 4.4.2 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany) with default parameters. DADA2 (v 1.14.1) was implemented for separating sequences for each sample; filtering the low quality and limit the length of sequences > 260 bp; filtering sequences with potential chimera. The sequences were classified based on the taxonomy in the Silva database (97% confidence threshold, version 138). Diversity and compositional analysis was performed in R (http://www.R-project.org/), using phyloseq (1.30.3) and ggplot2 (3.3.0) packages.

The performance of the enhanced train A during phase III was compared with the water quality of train B in its original setup. The effluent quality was also evaluated in comparison with the code of practice for wastewater reuse in Namibia (DWAF, 2012), the newly published regulation on minimum water requirements for water reuse in the European Union (EU, 2020) as well as the necessary water quality for agriculture by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) (Ayers and Westcot, 1985).

In each train the MP HRT was calculated with the water flow divided by the related pond volume. Given the strong variations of the wastewater flow the HRT was averaged over 21 days. This included the ten days before and after each measurement.

5.3.3 Richness and Shannon Index

The microbial community was analysed to estimate the richness measured as Chao1 index. This index refers to the number of amplicon sequencing variants (ASVs) expected in the samples based on the number of ASVs found in the samples (Chao, 1984). Additionally, the Shannon index was measured to estimate the microbial community diversity in the samples (Schloss and Handelsman, 2006), which is based on the diversity (means the number of different ASVs) as well as the evenness (it describes the abundance of each ASV, lower difference between the abundance of each ASV suggest higher evenness) in the samples (Table SI 8.3.3).

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Seasonal effects and influence of HRT

The biological wastewater treatment of the WSP strongly depended on the local climate. The effects of rain and temperature are presented in Figure 5.3 for train B for all phases. During summer months (October till March) the highest water temperatures of up to 35 °C and the highest precipitation of over 65 mm/d were measured. Even with the separate sewer system, storm water was evacuated through incorrectly connected rain gutters and untight sewers. This dilution was visible at the outflow of B4 after 200 days at the end of the first summer with the lowest EC of 400 μ S/cm as well as concentrations of tCOD below 200 mg/L, TN of 20 mg/L and TP of 4 mg/L.



Figure 5.3: Water quality of each pond B1 – B4 over four years for the parameters: total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD) (a), total nitrogen (TN) (b), total phosphorous (TP) (c), conductivity (d), water temperature and precipitation (e). The grey areas indicate the rainy seasons or summer periods (October – March) and the grey line represents the start of the PreT (phase II) and the black line the start of the PostT (phase III) in train A.

The second summer was dry with minor rainfalls. Therefore, this period represented the influence of higher temperatures without dilution effects. All effluent values reached their low point at the end of this season but did not drop as much as the year before. During the third summer there were small rainfalls of 207 mm in total with high water temperatures of up to 35 °C. But the lowest effluent values remained higher than the two years before. EC was reduced to 700 μ S/cm, tCOD to 400 mg/L, TN to 40 mg/L and TP remained above 10 mg/L in the outflow of B4.

The microbial parameters showed variable effects over the four years. For total coliforms (Figure 5.4 a) the outflow concentrations of B1 remained between six and eight log values at the same level without any seasonal influence. At the outflow of B4 there was more variation but hardly any removal. The lowest effluent values were reached after heavy rainfalls at the end of the first summer season.

On the contrary, the *E. coli* concentrations (Figure 5.4 b) showed different behaviour. The outflow of B1 remained at a constant level between five and seven log values over the whole research period whilst the values at the effluent of B4 showed a clear decrease after the start of phase III and the increased HRT. *Enterococci* (Figure 5.4 c) concentrations after B1 were constantly between four and five log values whilst *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (*P. aeruginosa*) (Figure 5.4 d) concentrations were slightly increasing over the four years from five to seven log values. The effluent concentrations at B4 remained at similar levels for *P. aeruginosa* even with the reduced inflow from day 1,012 onwards. For *Enterococci* the effluent concentrations of B4 increased from below 1,000 MPN/100mL to about 10,000 MPN/100mL after the commissioning of train A.

During phase III train B received only half the daily plant inflow and still the yearly variations were visible (Figure 5.3). With rainfalls similar to the first year the dilution effect appeared but was not as distinct. The low point of EC was 600 μ S/cm whilst tCOD was 250 mg/L, TN at 40 mg/L and TP at 7 mg/L. With the last winter season all effluent values increased. EC reached its high point with over 1,000 μ S/cm whilst TN and TP stayed within their general fluctuation. Only tCOD remained below 400 mg/L which could be a first indication of reduced inflow loads and higher hydraulic retention times (HRT).



Figure 5.4: Water quality parameters of train B. Data is shown for each pond (B1 – B4) over four years for the parameters: total coliforms (a), *Escherichia Coli (E. coli)* (b), *Enterococci* (c) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa (P. aeruginosa)* (d). The grey areas indicate the rainy seasons or summer periods (October – March) and the grey line represents the start of the PreT (phase II) and the black line the start of the PostT (phase III) in train A.

5.4.2 Upgrade: pre-treatment and post-treatment in train A

With the commissioning of the enhanced train A tCOD (Figure 5.5 a) concentrations in the effluent of pond A4 started with 300 mg/L, increased to almost 500 mg/L in the middle of the summer and fell below 200 mg/L at the end of the summer. Afterwards it remained stable around 150 mg/L.

Whilst the tCOD showed seasonal effects the sCOD concentration (Figure 5.5 b) had only little variations of 20 to 40 mg/L. The effluent of pond A1 had the lowest sCOD concentrations between 60 and 80 mg/L. The final concentrations in the effluent of A4 had a higher variation between 60 and 100 mg/L. Nutrients followed a similar pattern as tCOD. TN concentrations (Figure 5.5 e) in A1 started out at 60 to 70 mg/L and decreased to 28 mg/L with the dilution during rainfall and the interruption, but rose again over 70 mg/L. A4 effluent concentrations were between 40 and 60 mg/L, and reduced to 30 mg/L in summer and to 10 mg/L during the interruption period (Figure 5.5 e). After reaching full capacity again the values remained at 10 mg/L and then started raising again with lower temperatures to 30 mg/L. During the whole research period the NO₃-N concentrations remained below 1 mg/L.

The NH₄-N concentrations (Figure 5.5 g) experienced a different effect with the power cut on day 1,275. The effluent concentrations of A1 were about 40 mg/L at the beginning and dropped to 22 mg/L at the end of the summer but then returned to the original level. During summer, the NH₄-N concentrations almost completely reduced in pond A3 and remained around 1 mg/L during the interruption. With full inflow it started raising again. At the same time there was a different effect visible with pond A4. The concentrations dropped to about 5 mg/L during summer but with the interruption increased again to 25 mg/L and reduced to 1 mg/L before regular inflow stared again.

There was hardly any phosphorous removal and the TP concentrations (Figure 5.5 f) between A1 and A4 were very similar. They were between 10 and 12 mg/L and with the beginning of the summer increased up to 14 mg/L followed by a constant drop down to 5 mg/L during the interruption period. After repairs the values returned to 11 mg/L which was at the same level as at the beginning.



Figure 5.5: Water quality of each pond A1 – A4 over one year after the commissioning of the post-treatment (PostT) on day 1,012 for the parameters: total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD) (a), soluble chemical oxygen demand (sCOD) (b), inflow into train A (c), average water temperature and precipitation (d), total nitrogen (TN) (e), total phosphorous (TP) (f), ammonium (NH₄-N) (g) and *Escherichia Coli (E. coli)* (h). The grey area indicates the rainy season or summer period (October – March).

5.4.3 Gradients along the treatment trains

With the commissioning of the rock filter in pond A4 on day 1,012, phase III started. It was then possible to compare both trains under the same climatic conditions. The influent into pond B1 was raw wastewater whilst A1 received pre-treated water. Additionally, two floating baffles improved the hydraulic flow in A1. The tCOD (Figure 5.6 a) at the inflow was 764 (\pm 223) mg/L. This concentration was reduced by 48 % in A1 to 401 (\pm 121) mg/L and by 29 % in B1 to 544 (\pm 126) mg/L. At the effluent of the WSP, train A reached a total removal

of 59 % with an average concentration of 317 (\pm 108) mg/L and train B reached 46 % with 415 (\pm 100) mg/L.

In the context of WSP the measured tCOD not only consists of components originating from wastewater but also from biomass due to algae growth. Therefore, the sCOD also needs to be considered. At the inflow the sCOD (Figure 5.6 b) had an average concentration of 315 (\pm 68) mg/L. At the overflow of A1 the removal was 78 % with 71 (\pm 16) mg/L. For B1 it was 75 % with 80 (\pm 25) mg/L. Afterwards, the sCOD did not further decrease in both trains and remained at 89 (\pm 20) mg/L in A4 and 85 (\pm 21) mg/L in B4. This trend was different for the removal of nutrients. TN (Figure 5.6 c) had an inflow concentration of 79 (\pm 12) mg/L and was reduced by 24 % to 60 (\pm 15) mg/L at the overflow of A1 and by 10 % to 71 (\pm 8) mg/L in B1. In both trains the removal continued up to the last ponds and reached a total reduction of 50 % (39 \pm 15 mg/L) in A4 and 25 % (59 \pm 11 mg/L) in B4. For TP (Figure 5.6 d) the average inflow concentration was 9.5 (\pm 1.4) mg/L and at the outflow of A4 and B4 it reached 10.6 (\pm 2.2) mg/L and 10.7 (\pm 1.5) mg/L, respectively. With regards to the removal of COD and nutrients in the WSP high evaporation has to be considered and therefore not only concentrations but also load reductions are presented in Figure 5.7.



Figure 5.6: Inflow compared to outflow concentration from each pond A1 – A4 and B1 – B4 for the parameter: total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD) (a), soluble chemical oxygen demand (sCOD) (b), total nitrogen (TN) (c), total phosphorous (TP) (d).

Upgrade of waste stabilization ponds to improve effluents for reuse purposes



Figure 5.7: Loads for both treatment trains, including inflow to the WSP, inflow into A1 after pre-treatment (Ain) and effluent values for each pond, A1 – A4 and B1 – B4, for the parameters: total chemical oxygen demand (tCOD) (a), total nitrogen (TN) (b), ammonium (NH₄-N) (c) and total phosphorous (TP) (d).

For microbial indicators different trends were measured. Total coliforms inflow concentration (Figure 5.8 a) was on average 7.3×10^7 (± 4.2×10^7) MPN/100mL. After pond A1 this was reduced by 1.1 log values to 5.7 x 10^6 (± 1.1 x 10^7) MPN/100mL and after B1 by 0.7 log values to 1.3×10^7 (± 1.8×10^7) MPN/100mL. Over the following ponds in train B there were only small changes with a final effluent reduction in B4 of 0.8 log values to 1.2×10^7 ($\pm 1.5 \times 10^7$) MPN/100mL. In train A there was a small up and down over A2 and A3 and the final effluent concentration from A4 was higher than of A1. Compared to the inflow concentration а 0.9 log values reduction was observed down to $8.9 \times 10^6 (\pm 1.2 \times 10^7)$ MPN/100mL.

E. coli showed a different trend (Figure 5.8 b), as the average inflow concentration to the plant was 1.2×10^7 (± 8.1×10^6) MPN/100mL. This value was reduced through the PreT and the baffles by 2.0 log values down to 1.2×10^5 (± 1.9×10^5) MPN/100mL after A1. In B1 the reduction was 1.1 log values down to 9.4×10^5 (± 9.4×10^5) MPN/100mL. In the following ponds B2, B3 and B4 there was a continuous removal by overall 3.8 log values down to 1.8×10^3 (± 2.6×10^3) MPN/100mL. At the outflow of ponds A2 and A3 there was a removal of 3.4 and 4.3 log values, respectively. It levelled out with pond A4 and a reduction of 4.5 log values to 3.6×10^2 (± 6.8×10^2) MPN/100mL was achieved overall.



Figure 5.8: Inflow compared to outflow concentrations of each pond, A1 – A4 and B1 – B4 for the parameters: total coliforms (a), *Escherichia Coli (E. coli)* (b), *Enterococci* (c) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa (P. aeruginosa)* (d).

The behaviour of the *Enterococci* concentrations was different (Figure 5.8 c). From the inflow with 1.2×10^{6} ($\pm 6.6 \times 10^{5}$) MPN/100mL train A reduced their concentration by 2.7 log values after A1. In comparison train B showed 1.6 log values in B1. The final overall log reduction in B4 was 1.8 to 1.9×10^{4} ($\pm 3.1 \times 10^{4}$) MPN/100mL. In train A, no significant further reduction compared to the inflow concentration was measured. In contrary, it increased again between A3 and A4 with a total overall log reduction of 2.3 to 5.3×10^{3} ($\pm 4.0 \times 10^{3}$) MPN/100mL.

For *P. aeruginosa* (Figure 5.8 d) there was a decrease in the concentration from 3.5×10^6 ($\pm 2.4 \times 10^6$) MPN/100mL at the inflow of 1.8 log values in A1 and 0.5 log values in B1. In train B, there was a significant further reduction from B1 to B2 to B3, but then it levelled out with overall 2.6 log values reaching 7.9×10^3 ($\pm 6.8 \times 10^3$) MPN/100mL. In contrary, further along train A there was only little more reduction of 2.8 log values to a value of 6.0×10^3 ($\pm 5.7 \times 10^3$) MPN/100mL in A4.

Even with stagnant concentrations there was a continuous load reduction for all parameters (Figure 5.7). The inflow load was distributed with 47 % into train A and 53 % into train B. The tCOD (Figure 5.7 a) at the inflow was 601 (\pm 186) kg/d, and reductions of 54 % and 41 % at the outflows of A1 and B1 were observed, respectively. The maximum removal of 75 % was reached at A4 with 70 (\pm 54) kg/d. In comparison B4 had almost double the effluent load of A4, with 135 (\pm 77) kg/d and a total removal in train B of 58 %.

This trend was also visible for TN (Figure 5.7 b) and NH₄-N (Figure 5.7 c) with the highest load removal. The total incoming TN load of 64 (\pm 18) kg/d was distributed to train A with 29 (\pm 12) kg/d and to train B with 34 (\pm 14) kg/d. At the outflow of A1 there was a 33 % removal to 20 (\pm 9) kg/d and 23 % removal at B1 to 26 (\pm 11) kg/d. Further removal of up to 72 % was measured in A4 with 8 (\pm 6) kg/d and 46 % in B4 with 19 (\pm 10) kg/d.

The highest load-based removal was observed for NH₄-N (Figure 5.7 c). The inflow load of 55 (\pm 17) kg/d was divided with 25 (\pm 11) kg/d into train A and 29 (\pm 12) kg/d in train B. In train A the removal increased from 57% in A1 to 85% in A4 with 11(\pm 5) kg/d and 4 (\pm 3) kg/d respectively. At the same time the removal was 49% in B1 and 63% in B4 with 15 (\pm 6) kg/d and 11(\pm 6) kg/d respectively.

Only looking at the rising TP concentrations (Figure 5.6 d) there could be the impression that there was no removal at all. This, however, was not the case and can be shown with the daily TP loads leaving each pond (Figure 5.7 d).

5.4.4 Natural disinfection – Reduction of pathogens

The average HRT for the original operation of train B during phase I and II (B – I+II) was 19.1 days with a standard deviation of 7.9 days (Figure 5.9). After the commissioning of the PostT (phase III) the HRT in train B (B – III) increased up to 42.8 (\pm 20.3) days. This large deviation of 20 days is caused by the breakdown period when the PreT and pumps were not operational due to power failure. Train A (A – III) had a 21-days-mean HRT of 47.8 (\pm 13.9) days. Given similar volumes of both trains this indicates a slightly lower inflow into train A compared to train B.

With regards to the corresponding log reductions of pathogens in all three operating stages (B-I+II; B-III; A-III) there was only a small difference for the reduction of total coliforms (Figure 5.9 a). During the operation of B-I+II the average log reduction was 1.1 (± 0.6). After the commissioning, A – III achieved a reduction of 1.4 log values and the same deviation of ± 0.6. During stage B - III only a reduction of 1.0 (± 0.5) log values occurred. However, there was an effect on the reduction of *E. coli* (Figure 5.9 b). During B – I+II the average log reduction was 3.1 (± 1.5). This reduction increased to 3.9 (± 0.6) log values during B – III. And during stage A – III an even better value with a log reduction of 5.1 (± 0.8) log values was achieved.



Figure 5.9: Comparison of total coliforms (a) and *Escherichia Coli (E. coli)* (b) log reductions based on the 21 days averaged hydraulic retention time (HRT) of the maturation ponds between the original train B in phase I and II, train A and train B after enhancement (phase III). The black lines indicate the standard deviation.

Correlations of these log reductions with chlorophyll-*a*, turbidity, temperature, precipitation, solar radiation and inflow concentrations were evaluated and no direct singular dependencies were found. Therefore, the log reductions seem to be influenced by a combination of several parameters. The T-test (Table SI 8.3.2) indicated that there was also no significant correlation between precipitation and log reduction. Between chlorophyll-*a* and log reduction there was a good significance correlation (p < 0.01) and with all other parameters there was a high significance (p < 0.001).

5.4.5 Bacterial community composition and algae

The overall microbial community composition varied between inlet samples and effluent samples from both trains (Figure 5.10). Due to PreT steps introduced in train A before sampling point A1, in comparison to train B, the samples from A1 and B1 clustered separately. Also, the samples of A3 and A4 were in different clusters. The effluent samples from both trains clustered together, except sample from day 1,312 and 1,328. However, no significant difference between the richness and Shannon's diversity indices was observed (Table SI 8.3.3).



Figure 5.10: NMDS (nonmetric multidimensional scaling) plot representing the Bray–Curtis (dis)similarity of the microbial communities in the samples from train A (modified) and train B, at different sampling points and at different days.

The phyla Proteobacteria and Actinobacteriota dominated in all samples (Figure 5.11). In the inflow, A1, and A3, Actinobacteriota accounted for 47 %, 49 %, and 40 % of the relative abundance, respectively, followed by Proteobacteria (34 %, 32 %, 30 %, respectively). In A4, B1, and B4, the average relative abundance of Proteobacteria (i.e. 50 %, 50 %, 44 %, respectively) was higher than Actinobacteriota (i.e. 31 %, 27 %, 32 %, respectively).



Figure 5.11: Relative abundance of the phyla found in the samples during phase III of the study. Phyla accounting for less than 5 % relative abundance are grouped as Others.

Among the top 20 genera found in all the samples from each sampling point, *Pseudomonas* was dominant at all sampling points except A3 (Figure 5.12, Figure 5.13). However, the average relative abundance of *Pseudomonas* was lower in train A (approx. 9 % for A1 and 10 % for A4) than train B (approx. 14 % for B1 and B4). In case of other genera, differences between sampling points were observed (Figure 5.12). The inflow shared 13 genera with A1, 7 with A4, and 8 with B1 and B4. In train A, 10 genera were common between A1 and A4, whereas 19 genera were common between B1 and B4. A known toxin producing Cyanobacterium, *Cyanobium PCC-6307* was detected in samples from A1 and B1 (approx. 2 % average relative abundance), however, it behaved differently in train A and train B (Figure 5.12, Figure 5.13).



Figure 5.12: Bar plot represent top 20 genera found at each sampling point. The standard deviation across different sampling days is shown as black line extending to the minimum and maximum deviation while intersecting the bar at the mean value. Pie charts represent the sum abundance of top 20 genera (same colour as the bar plot, respectively) and abundance of the others (black).



Figure 5.13: Bar plot representing the top 20 genera found in samples from pond A3. The standard deviation across different sampling days is shown as black line extending to the minimum and maximum deviation while intersecting the bar at the mean value. Pie charts represent the sum abundance of top 20 genera (same colour as the bar plot, respectively) and abundance of the others (black).

The results in Figure 5.14 a show a positive effect on the removal of chlorophyll-*a* in the enhanced train A. The average effluent concentration of 1,304 μ g/L in A4 was 34 % lower than in B4. The main removal in train A had already taken place by the outflow of A3 reaching 1,375 μ g/L. Pond A4 with its rock filter only decreased the chlorophyll-*a* by another 5 % which was lower than the 15 % removal in B4.

Within the biomass sample of the influent only an exiguous percentage of Planktothrix and unclassified species were found (Figure 5.14 b). At the effluent the relative abundance in the bacterial biomass increased to over 3 % with *Chlorella* being the dominant genus. Only a small percentage of biomass consisted of potentially toxic *Cyanobium* (Figure 5.14 c).



Figure 5.14: Chlorophyll-*a* concentrations (a) over both treatment trains (A1 – A4 and B1 – B4) and in the high tanks (HT A and HT B). Relative abundance and genus specification (b) of algae in the influent and effluent of the ponds. Potential toxic algae species (c) in the influent and effluent of the plant. Graphical abstract: Effluent quality of WSP for reuse purposes – impact of enhancement measures.

5.5 Discussion

5.5.1 Effluent quality - seasonal effects and influence of hydraulic load

Effluent values are influenced not only by the treatment technology but also by the surrounding environment and especially the local climate (Maiga et al., 2009; Shilton, 2005; von Sperling, 2007a). Therefore, the seasonal effects and the influence of the reduced hydraulic load were examined by comparing train B during phase I and II (B - I+II) with phase III (B - III). This information allows to better judge the effectiveness of train A and to distinguish if the lower effluent values were caused by the enhancement measures, seasonal effects or increased HRT.

Over four years, regular seasonal effects were visible in train B for different parameters (Figure 5.3). The lowest effluent values e.g. for tCOD or EC were reached at the end of the summer season. This was partially due to the highest temperatures and therefore highest microbial activity, but also due to dilution effects from rainfalls, mainly towards the end of the summer season. These effects were happening independently of the enhancement measures.

Therefore, the decline in COD concentrations in train A from day 1,200 can also be attributed to microbial and dilution effects as it coincided with the highest temperatures and towards the end of the summer with heavy rainfalls (Figure 5.5 d). Secondly, the suspension of the PreT reduced the inflow into train A from day 1,275 and resulted in a longer HRT. However, after being back to full operation on day 1,362 effluent concentrations remained low. Especially tCOD and TN were increasing slowly towards day 1,444 to only half the effluent concentrations compared to the beginning. Whether this was related to the rock filter as suggested by Rudolph et al. (2020) or it was caused only by the higher HRT cannot be finally concluded and has to be subject of future research.

The NH₄-N concentration was strongly affected by rising temperatures which became visible by the reduction of the concentrations in pond A3 during summer and their stagnation at around 1 mg/L during the interruption in phase III (Figure 5.5 g). With full inflow and decreasing temperatures, the concentrations started rising again. At the same time, the behaviour in A4 was different. The concentrations dropped to about 5 mg/L during summer but with the interruption and stagnation from day 1,275 onwards, they increased up to 25 mg/L and later reduced again to 1 mg/L before regular inflow started again on day 1,362. This indicates that within pond A4 and especially in the rock filter NH₄-N re-dissolved during stagnation periods due to anaerobic conditions. So ideally stagnation should be avoided within the rock filter. Overall, train A with the enhancements shows a 64 % better reduction of NH₄-N in the effluent (Figure 5.7 c) suggesting also a significant contribution of the enhancements to the increased performance.

The increased HRT also has a positive effect on the algae growth and pathogen reduction. According to Liu et al. (2020) varying reduction effects on different pathogens are typical and were also observed in this study. For total coliforms, hardly any change in log reduction was measured between stages B - I+II and B - III or A - III (Figure 5.9 a and Figure 5.15 a) whilst at the same time *E. coli* concentrations were further reduced. One log value was reduced with increased HRT in train B - III and one additional log value with the enhancements in train A - III (Figure 5.9 b). However, those reductions are due to the PreT and not to the rock filter (Figure 5.15 b). In contrary, in pond A4 further reduction was hindered compared to B4. For *Enterococci*

the final effluent concentration was even higher with the increased HRT than with the shorter HRT. This negative effect was similar in train A and train B (Figure 5.15 c). *P. aeruginosa* concentrations were about one log value lower with the increased HRT during phase III. The main reduction was visible in the FP and the first MP (Figure 5.15 d).



Figure 5.15: Comparison of train A and train B for each operation phase I, II and III with regard to total coliforms (a), *Escherichia Coli (E. coli)* (b), *Enterococci* (c) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa (P. aeruginosa)* (d) at the inflow as well as ponds 1, 2, 3 and 4 of each train.

Varying effects on pathogens were also shown by Maiga et al. (2009). In their case increased solar radiation, was more harmful to *Enterococci* than to *E. coli*. For our WSP increased HRT would be associated with longer solar radiation and therefore better removal of *Enterococci*. In our system the increased HRT had better removal of *E. coli* and negative effects on *Enterococci*. Liu et al. (2020) showed the persistence of *Enterococci* with low DO whilst *E. coli* further reduced. This trend was similar in our system.

5.5.2 Impact of additional treatment technologies

The additional PreT and PosT technologies in train A showed positive impacts on the treatment performance compared to the original train B, but still did not fulfil all reuse standards. For tCOD a concentration of 100 mg/L is required in Namibia (DWAF, 2012) and 125 mg/L in Europe (EU, 2020). The best average effluent value of 317 mg/L tCOD was reached in A4 during phase III with minimum values of 127 mg/L just near the reuse standard of the EU. The increased HRT only resulted in an average outflow concentration in B4 of 415 mg/L. However, tCOD load reductions indicate an important effect of the enhancement measures in train A. The PreT and baffles already led to a 13 % better result and with the rock filter this improved to 17 %. This is considerably lower than the reported reduction of 15 - 25 % with a MS (Lazarova and Bahri, 2005; Prösl et al., 2013) and more than 60 % for a UASB (Dias et al., 2017b; Vassalle et al., 2020). However, those studies do not consider algae growth in the following ponds which add considerable new COD. If all particulate COD (pCOD) is assumed to be related to algae, the sCOD would be an alternative indicator for COD reduction. For the given plant both trains delivered a sCOD effluent quality below 90 mg/L and therefore below both reuse standards.

With regard to nutrient concentrations the Namibian reuse standard (DWAF, 2012) requires a concentration of 33 mg/L TN, which was originally aimed for effluents in areas with potential drinking water sources. In the EU there are no specific limits for nitrogen and phosphorous as these nutrients are supposed to be returned into the biological cycle (EU, 2020). In order to protect crops and soil Ayers and Westcot (1985) require severe restrictions for values above 30 mg/L TN. With average effluent values above 55 mg/L in train B no positive effect could be attributed to the increased HRT. But clear advantages of the enhancements were visible in train A with 39 mg/L TN and minimum values of 11 mg/L. This was also visible for TN effluent loads. With the PreT and the baffles, train A reached a 10 % better load reduction than train B and with the rock filter it increased to 16 %. In total, A4 had a 34 % better TN effluent concentration than B4.

For irrigation purposes the Namibian code of practice (DWAF, 2012) allows a maximum of 15 mg/L TP which was reached by both trains with 11 mg/L. But these values were even higher than the average inflow concentration of 10 mg/L. This is due to the effect of high evaporation and proves Buchanan et al. (2018) who showed, that there is only limited phosphorous removal in WSP. So only looking at the rising TP concentrations (Figure 5.6 d) there could be the impression that there was no removal at all. But this is clearly not the case and can be shown with the daily TP loads leaving each pond (Figure 5.7 d). The total inflow load was 7.8 (\pm 2.3) kg/d and was equally distributed between trains A and B with 3.6 (\pm 1.5) kg/d going into train A and 4.1 (\pm 1.6) kg/d to train B. The first ponds in each train showed an almost parallel removal with 10 % in A1 and 9 % in B1 as well as 22 % in A3 and 23 % in A4. But the final effluent turned, whilst A4 improved up to 36 % and 2.3 (\pm 1.5) kg/d B4 only reached 18 % with 3.4 (\pm 1.6) kg/d.

5.5.3 Composition of pathogens and their reduction in WSP

The different treatment technologies have also various effects on the pathogens. Their composition and concentrations were affected in various ways. Over the whole WSP total coliforms were less dynamic than COD and nutrients. They were hardly reduced and there was no significant difference between the effluent of the enhanced train A and the original train B. In train A the rock filter even had a negative effect with a slight recontamination of total coliforms.

Other pathogens showed a different behaviour. *E. coli* were constantly reduced, in B4 to $4.0 \ge 10^4$ MPN/100mL during phase I and $1.8 \ge 10^3$ MPN/100mL during phase III, and to $3.6 \ge 10^2$ MPN/100mL in A4. Therefore, the increased HRT had a first positive effect on *E. coli*, resulting in a reduction of one log value and further enhancement measures improved this value by another log value. However, the observed reduction of *E. coli* was more related to the effects of the ponds in train A rather than the rock filter. In A4 the rock filter had no additional positive effect on *E. coli* concentrations. In contrary, it hindered further reduction as it happened from B3 to B4. Dias et al. (2017b) also reported the best *E. coli* removal of 2.2 log values by ponds, however, their granular rock filter still achieved a removal of 1.0 log value. Nevertheless, the reductions that were obtained here reached the required EU effluent value of 1,000 MPN/100mL (EU, 2020) for fodder irrigation with train A and were just missed with train B.

This study additionally evaluated the removal of *Enterococci* and *P. aeruginosa*. Both pathogens behaved quite differently compared to the standard indicator E. coli. Enterococci almost continuously reduced over the different ponds during phase I down to a concentration of 5.0×10^2 MPN/100mL in B4. During phase III, the steepest decrease occurred in the FP in both treatment trains and there was hardly any change in the MPs. Also, there was no significant difference between the two trains with B4 reaching 1.9×10^4 MPN/100mL and A4 5.3×10^3 MPN/100mL. *Enterococci* are best reduced with the PreT and the baffles in A1. It seems that the reduction occurs mainly through sedimentation rather than sunlight. Differences in the inactivation of *Enterococci* compared to the traditional indicator *E. coli* were also reported by Liu et al. (2020). P. aeruginosa followed a similar pattern with the difference that during phase III there was some further reduction in the first MP (up to the effluents of A2 and B2) before concentrations stagnated. Also, the final concentrations of P. aeruginosa in the effluent were almost identical between A4 and B4. A positive effect of the PreT and the baffles on the reduction of *P. aeruginosa* was also visible. So far, there is only limited research on the behaviour of *P. aeruginosa* in WSP and thus this study provides first novel insights into the behaviour of these bacteria in WSP. Søberg et al. (2019) reported that the trends for P. aeruginosa correlated strongly with Enterococci in storm water bioretention systems. This could not be confirmed with this research.

The effects of PreT, baffles and rock filter vary depending on each specific parameter, as train A has better effluent values due to the PreT and baffles. For the rock filter in A4 there is no evidence of any positive effect. In contrary for *E. coli* and *Enterococci* it has a stagnant or negative effect. This research supports the findings of Liu et al. (2020) that *E. coli* should not be the only indicator organism to evaluate pathogen removal.

5.5.4 Microbial community composition and algae development

Not only the concentrations of specific pathogens, but also the whole microbial community and algae can be affected by the different treatment technologies. Especially algae compose a considerable part of the pCOD. Given the local circumstances the best way to estimate the algae content in the ponds was through the concentration of chlorophyll-*a*. This does not cover all types of algae but mainly cyanobacteria that could potentially be toxic (Vidal et al., 2021). Whilst the average concentrations in train A were between 1,000 and 2,000 μ g/L, train B showed higher values of up to 3,300 μ g/L of chlorophyll-*a*. Besides the positive effect of added biomass to the soil, algae also increase the tCOD (section 5.5.2). Another negative effect is the risk of blockages in drip irrigation systems. Therefore, a rock filter was investigated for its removal of the algae content (Rudolph et al., 2020). However, no significant chlorophyll-*a* removal was visible when comparing chlorophyll-*a* concentrations between A3 (1,375 μ g/L) and A4 (1,305 μ g/L). The main effects on the algae were related to the PreT, the floating baffles and the removed sludge, which all happened upfront or in pond A1. Only long-term observations will show if the rock filter develops a positive algae removal with increasing growth of biofilm on the rock surface.

Another important aspect for reuse of algae containing water is their toxicity. The results of this study show that only a very small percentage of the cyanobacteria were potential toxin producers. *Cyanobium PCC-6307* was not dominant in samples from A4 but the second most dominant genus in samples from B4. Interestingly, *Candidatus Aquiluna*, a photoheterotroph (Kang et al., 2012), seemed to be replaced from the second most abundant in the inflow by either *Cyanobium PCC-6307* or *C39* genus of the *Rhodocyclaceae* in the samples of A4 and B4. *C39* has been mainly detected in freshwater bodies (Cannon et al., 2017; Carney et al., 2015). A high amount of algae was observed in samples from A4 and B4, which might explain the high abundance of genus *C39*. A previous study emphasized a plausible association between other algae and genus *C39* (Cannon et al., 2017). However, whether toxins are released depends the environment and stress (Vidal et al., 2021). A more detailed evaluation of potential toxins was not possible and should be further examined in future research.

During the course of operation of both trains, sequential change in the microbial community occurred, however, no change in the dominant phyla (i.e. Proteobacteria and Actinobacteriota) was observed (Figure 5.10, Figure 5.11). Both of these phyla include microorganisms (such as *Pseudomonas, Actinobacteria*) known for enhanced phosphorous removal (Lee et al., 2002), which might explain the reduction of the TP load in both trains. There also seemed to be a positive effect of PreT on the reduction of *Mycobacterium* (Figure 5.12), which is a re-emerging pathogen (Taylor et al., 2001) but no impact on *Pseudomonas*. This underlines the persistent nature of *Pseudomonas* in the pond system.

5.6 Conclusions

This research detailed different effects and operating conditions on the behaviour and effluent quality of a WSP system in Namibia over a four-year period. The main findings are:

- Regular seasonal effects on different parameters are visible in the overloaded and enhanced train over four years of operation.
- Increasing HRT and reduced hydraulic load have a positive effect on the removal of *E. coli* and the required 40 days HRT is achieved with both trains in operation.
- Mechanical and anaerobic biological PreT such as micro sieve and UASB have a positive effect on the removal of COD, TSS and to some extent pathogens.
- Within the first year of operation the rock filter did not show any additional removal of algae compared with the original train. Long-term operation and monitoring will show if more biofilms are growing on the rocks and if they will improve removal.
- Best measures to reduce the algae concentrations are emptying of the sludge in the first pond, installing PreT and baffles in the FP.
- The studied pathogens exhibit different behaviour: *E. coli* were reduced, *P. aeruginosa* stagnated and *Enterococci* levels increased. The main pathogen reduction happened during PreT and in the first pond (FP enhanced with baffles) and not in the maturation ponds.
- Future detailed research is needed into the pathogen removal capacity of WSP as *E. coli* do not seem to be the best indicator for broader pathogen reduction.
- With enhancement WSP reach the new EU water reuse standard for *E. coli*.
- High tCOD and TN effluent values currently do not meet Namibian and European reuse standards. But a large portion of the tCOD consists of algae which add, as long as they are not toxic, valuable biomass to the barren soil. Also TN is a valuable fertilizer and depending on the selected crop this can be an important asset especially if additional water from other sources with low nutrients is used.

6 Final conclusions and outlook

6.1 Final conclusions

The results of this dissertation proved that WSP systems can treat municipal wastewater and their effluent is fit for the purpose of agricultural irrigation, especially with slight or moderate restrictions and applying a multi barrier approach. Enhanced WSP can partially fulfil Namibian (DWAF, 2012) and the newly published European (EU, 2020) reuse standards.

Depending on the different technologies, effects vary considerably. The PreT and the baffles have a strong positive effect on the removal of tCOD, TN and NH₄-N loads. For the rock filter, load reduction of tCOD and TN are also positive but for some microbiology contaminants such as *E. coli* and *P. aeruginosa* the effect on the reduction of their concentrations was minimal or even negative. Similar observations were made for *Enterococci*.

All these technical enhancements have to be judged against the traditional setup with anaerobic ponds that include previsions (e.g. ramps) for sludge removal. The advantage of such a PreT is the simplicity in handling and that it does not require external power supply. However regular sludge removal has to be ensured (Letshwenyo et al., 2020) and climate gas emissions are not reduced (Hernandez-Paniagua et al., 2014).

Alternatively to the researched technologies, further enhancements must be considered. For higher COD removal, especially sCOD, and nutrients, especially nitrogen, aeriation is an option, but would need either solar or conventional power supply. Additional environmental improvement would be achieved with a combined heat and power unit if the capacity of the UASB was extended and more biogas produced. According to the Namibian reuse standard (DWAF, 2012) an HRT of 40 days is required for pathogen removal. At the same time this results in high evaporation losses and hinders lower concentrations for other parameters. Therefore it is better to allow shorter HRT and to focus on specific removal rates for example *E. coli* as with the new water reuse standards of the EU (2020).

The main research outcomes according to the research questions and objectives are summarised as follows:

- 1. WSP in north-central Namibia are in different states with regard to layout, design, operation and maintenance, microbial communities and due to their nature-based approach depend largely on seasonal effects:
 - The existing WSP in north-central Namibia are all based on the typical layout of FP and MP followed by EP and no water reuse scheme has so far been researched and applied. Depending on the design, connected population and date of construction the surface areas per capita and HRT differ substantially with no correlation. Operation and maintenance have been neglected with all systems and therefore none of the WWTP currently complies with the national reuse standard mainly due to high tCOD concentration which originate from algae.

- The microbial communities in the various WSP develop over the different treatment trains. Amongst the pathogens *Acinetobacter* dominate the inflow and *Mycobacterium* the outflow samples. In relation to all bacteria Cyanobacteria accounted only for up to 25 % with *Synechococcus* dominating. The genera found included also potentially toxic species which could have negative effects during irrigation.
- Seasonal effects are clearly visible over the four years of the research. Best effluent values reached are at the end of the summer season. This is mainly related to rising temperature and higher microbial activity. The increased HRT also has a positive effect on the algae growth and *E. coli* reduction whilst there is hardly an effect on *Enterococci*.
- 2. The implemented pre-treatment and post-treatment enhancements have various effects on the biological, chemical and physical parameters of the irrigation water:
 - The anaerobic biological and mechanical pre-treatment, introduction of baffles and sludge removal have their main impact on the removal of pCOD and TSS. Another positive effect shows the reduction of pathogens, *E. coli* and *Enterococci* had one log₁₀ unit better effluent values than without the enhancement. This is particularly interesting as disinfection is not described in literature as task of facultative ponds.
 - For the performance of the rock filter longer research is necessary. At a first glance it seems responsible for the reduction of tCOD and TN in the last pond but this could also be due to higher retention time and therefore needs further research. During summer months the NH₄-H concentrations are reduced in other ponds but the contrary is visible during a stagnation period in the last pond with the rock filter. Due to anaerobic conditions NH₄-H re-dissolves, so water stagnation should be avoided within the rock filter and constant flow assured. Also, no significant chlorophyll-*a* reduction is visible with the effluent of the filter. The main effects on algae are related to the PreT, baffles and sludge removal in the FP.
 - Different enhancement technologies have various effects on the pathogen composition as well as their concentrations. Total coliforms are hardly reduced and there is no significant difference between the original and the enhanced train. *E. coli* in contrary are mainly reduced with the PreT, FP and MP whilst the rock filter shows no further reduction. *Enterococci* are best reduced with the PreT and the baffles in the FP but then there is hardly any further reduction in the MP. As *P. aeruginosa* again behave differently it is suggested that *E. coli* should not be used as the only indicator organism to evaluate pathogen removal.

- 3. Compliance with the Namibian and European water reuse standards is difficult, mainly due to high tCOD concentration which are clearly caused by algae:
 - High tCOD concentrations in the effluents are directly related to algae measured by the chlorophyll-*a* concentration which correlate linearly with the pCOD. After deduction of the algae concentration tCOD without algae (59 339 mg/L) consist mainly of sCOD (47 251 mg/L).
 - The main obstacle for water reuse in relation to the Namibian and European water quality standards are the required tCOD concentrations and the pathogen reduction. In their original state none of the WSP systems in north-central Namibia corresponded to the *E. coli* requirements but with the enhancements this was possible. With the PreT and PostT measures the maximum value of tCOD without algae (144 mg/L) almost reached the EU standard (125 mg/L). Therefore, it should be considered to adapt the maximum tCOD if water is to be reused from WSP.
 - Operation and maintenance are neglected with all existing WSP in north-central Namibia. Even simple tasks such as site inspection with cutting of vegetation or control of fencing are randomly implemented, not to mention sludge removal especially from anaerobic ponds. Therefore, the enhancement with higher technology requires a regular presence on site and also the necessary skills and materials such as tools and spare parts. This can be a chance and at the same time a risk for WSP if they are upgraded to produce reuse water for agricultural irrigation.

6.2 Future work and outlook

At the pilot plant in Outapi it was possible to research different enhancement measures for PreT and PostT which were adapted to the local conditions of the existing WSP system. One important aspect was the availability of power from the local supply grid. In other locations this is not possible and therefore different technologies have to be considered, either without power requirements such as AP or for local power generation such as photovoltaic or a generator using locally produced biogas. For the PreT well-designed anaerobic ponds would allow reduction of suspended solids and organic matter without power requirements. However, access ramps, awareness amongst operators for regular sludge removal and sludge treatment have to be an integral part of the design. This would overcome the need for power but would not change the greenhouse gas emissions. Further applied research is needed to capture greenhouse gas emissions considering the local climatic conditions.

Another technology, aeration of WSP, has so far not been applied on WSP in sub-Saharan countries. With solar aerators this would be possible even without grid connection. The application of this technology needs to be field tested under local conditions and technical as well as operational requirements for local staff established. An important aspect will be to test the durability and the supply chain of spare parts.

Other PostT technologies to remove suspended solids and algal matter should be compared with the installed rock filter. On the one hand long term effects of the rock filter have to be measured and evaluated and on the other hand other technologies such as sand filter or pile cloth media filtration can be compared to further reduce algae and pathogen concentrations.

Instead of removing the algae, their use as soil enhancement by adding biomass and improving the water holding capacity should also be considered. However, this requires further research in drip irrigation techniques so that pipes and drippers are not blocked or washed out without chemical additives. At the same time, it has to be assured that no toxic algae or cyanobacteria are applied. It is therefore necessary to develop low-cost methods for microbial analytics which can be used either by local personnel on site or in close by laboratories.

All the above mentioned technologies need practical research in full scale plants but at the same time recent advancements in modelling allow simulation of hydraulics and microbial processes in the WSP as well as the different PreT and PostT technologies. Therefore, simulation and modelling should be included and validated with further projects on WSP.

With regard to the national Namibian reuse standards it became evident that they are mainly focused on effluents from advanced WWTP such as activated sludge systems, which exist only in large cities. So, a review of the national code of practice is needed to include reuse from pond systems as an integral part and to adapt design recommendations accordingly. On an international level monitoring on the implementation of the new EU regulation and comparison of the transfer into national legislation in all EU member countries is required.

Especially with growing urban development the commercial and industrial wastewater components are becoming more relevant and therefore their specific or separate collection and treatment has to be considered to avoid contamination of the reuse water. As research on and analyses of contaminants of emerging concern advances this should be followed closely, but not prevent further WSP enhancements.

7 References

- Agrawal, S., Orschler, L., Sinn, J. and Lackner, S. 2020. High-throughput profiling of antibiotic resistance genes in wastewater: comparison between a pond system in Namibia and an activated sludge treatment in Germany. Journal of Water and Health.
- Alaerts, G., Veenstra, S., Bentvelsen, M. and Duijl, L.A. 1993. Feasibility of Anaerobic Sewage Treatment in Sanitation Strategies in Developing Countries. Water Science and Technology 27, 179-186.
- Alexiou, G.E. and Mara, D. 2003. Anaerobic Waste Stabilization Ponds: A Low-Cost Contribution to a Sustainable Wastewater Reuse Cycle. Applied biochemistry and biotechnology 109, 241-252.
- Alves, M., da Silva, F., Araújo, A. and Pereira, E. 2020. First-Order Removal Rates for Organic Matter in Full-Scale Waste Stabilization Pond Systems in Northeastern Brazil. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 231, 528.
- Angula, M.N. and Kaundjua, M.B. 2016. The changing climate and human vulnerability in north-central Namibia. Jàmbá: Journal of Disaster Risk Studies 8(2).
- Asano, T., Burton, F.L., Leverenz, H.L., Tsuchihashi, R. and Tchobanoglous, G. (2007) Water reuse: issues, technologies and applications, McGraw-Hill New York.
- Assouline, S., Russo, D., Silber, A. and Or, D. 2015. Balancing water scarcity and quality for sustainable irrigated agriculture: Balancing water scarcity and quality for irrigation. Water Resources Research 51.
- Ayers, R.S. and Westcot, D.W. (1985) Water quality for agriculture, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Bahri, A., Drechsel, P. and Brissaud, F. 2008 Water reuse in Africa: challenges and opportunities, pp. 1-16, Tunis, Tunisia.
- Bansah, K. and Suglo, R. 2016. Sewage Treatment by Waste Stabilization Pond Systems. Journal of Energy and Natural Resources Management 3, 7-14.
- Bressani-Ribeiro, T., Chamhum-Silva, L.A. and Chernicharo, C.A.L. 2019. Constraints, performance and perspectives of anaerobic sewage treatment: lessons from full-scale sewage treatment plants in Brazil. Water Science and Technology 80(3), 418-425.
- Buchanan, N., Young, P., Cromar, N.J. and Fallowfield, H.J. 2018. Comparison of the treatment performance of a high rate algal pond and a facultative waste stabilisation pond operating in rural South Australia. Water Science and Technology 78(1), 3-11.
- Butler, E., Hung, Y.-T., Suleiman Al Ahmad, M., Yeh, R.Y.-L., Liu, R.L.-H. and Fu, Y.-P. 2017. Oxidation pond for municipal wastewater treatment. Applied Water Science 7(1), 31-51.
- Cannon, M.V., Craine, J., Hester, J., Shalkhauser, A., Chan, E.R., Logue, K., Small, S. and Serre, D. 2017. Dynamic microbial populations along the Cuyahoga River. PLOS ONE 12(10), e0186290.
- Carney, R., Mitrovic, S., Jeffries, T., Westhorpe, D., Curlevski, N. and Seymour, J. 2015. River bacterioplankton community responses to a high inflow event. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 75.
- Carr, R.M., Blumenthal, U.J. and Mara, D.D. 2004. Guidelines for the Safe Use of Wastewater in Agriculture: Revisiting WHO Guidelines. Water science and technology : a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research 50, 31-38.
- Cavalcanti, P.F.C. and van Haandel, A.C. 1996. Improved performance and increased applicability of waste stabilisation ponds by pretreatment in a UASB reactor. Water Science and Technology 33(7), 147-156.
- Cavalcanti, P.F.F. (2003) Integrated application of the UASB reactor and ponds for domestic sewage treatment in tropical regions, Wageningen University, Wageningen.
- Chalatsi, M. and Gratziou, M. 2014. Efficiency and design parameters of waste stabilization ponds in north-east Greece. Desalination and Water Treatment 56, 1-8.
- Chao, A. 1984. Non-parametric estimation of the classes in a population. Scandinavian Journal of Statistics 11, 265-270.
- Chernicharo, C.A.d.L. (2007) Anaerobic Reactors, IWA Publishing, London.
- Coggins, L.X., Ghisalberti, M. and Ghadouani, A. 2017. Sludge accumulation and distribution impact the hydraulic performance in waste stabilisation ponds. Water Research 110, 354-365.
- Coggins, L.X., Sounness, J., Zheng, L., Ghisalberti, M. and Ghadouani, A. 2018. Impact of Hydrodynamic Reconfiguration with Baffles on Treatment Performance in Waste Stabilisation Ponds: A Full-Scale Experiment. Water 10(2), 109.
- Crites, R.W., Middlebrooks, E.J., Bastian, R. and Reed, S.C. (2014) Natural Wastewater Treatment Systems. 2nd ed., CRC Press/Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton, FL.
- Curtis, T. (2003) Handbook of Water and Wastewater Microbiology. Mara, D. and Horan, N. (eds), pp. 477-490, Academic Press, London.
- Curtis, T.P., Mara, D.D. and Silva, S.A. 1992. Influence of pH, Oxygen, and Humic Substances on Ability of Sunlight To Damage Fecal Coliforms in Waste Stabilization Pond Water. Applied and environmental microbiology 58, 1335-1343.
- Deffner, J. and Mazambani, C. 2010 Participatory empirical research on water and sanitation demand in central northern Namibia: A method for technology development with a user perspective. CuveWaters Papers, 7., ISOE - Institut für sozial-ökologische Forschung Frankfurt am Main

- Deviller, G., Lundy, L. and Fatta-Kassinos, D. 2020. Recommendations to derive quality standards for chemical pollutants in reclaimed water intended for reuse in agricultural irrigation. Chemosphere 240, 124911.
- Dias, D.F.C., de Matos, M.P., Passos, R.G., Rodrigues, V.A.J. and von Sperling, M. 2017a. Upgrading and evaluation of a simple pond system for small communities with simple interventions to reduce land requirements and increase performance. Water Practice and Technology 12(1), 1-11.
- Dias, D.F.C., Passos, R.G., Rodrigues, V.A.J., de Matos, M.P., Santos, C.R.S. and von Sperling, M. 2017b. Performance evaluation of a natural treatment system for small communities, composed of a UASB reactor, maturation ponds (baffled and unbaffled) and a granular rock filter in series. Environ Technol 39(4), 490-502.
- Dias, D.F.C., Possmoser-Nascimento, T.E., Rodrigues, V.A.J. and von Sperling, M. 2014. Overall performance evaluation of shallow maturation ponds in series treating UASB reactor effluent: Ten years of intensive monitoring of a system in Brazil. Ecological Engineering 71, 206-214.
- DIN 1987 DIN 38409-2:1987-03, Deutsche Einheitsverfahren zur Wasser-, Abwasser- und Schlammuntersuchung; Summarische Wirkungs- und Stoffkenngrößen (Gruppe H); Bestimmung der abfiltrierbaren Stoffe und des Glührückstandes (H 2) - German standard methods for the examination of water, waste water and sludge; parameters characterizing effects and substances (group H); determination of filterable matter and the residue on ignition (H 2).
- DIN 2019 DIN 38409-60:2019-12, Deutsche Einheitsverfahren zur Wasser-, Abwasser- und Schlammuntersuchung - Summarische Wirkungs- und Stoffkenngrößen (Gruppe H) - Teil 60: Photometrische Bestimmung der Chlorophyll-a-Konzentration in Wasser (H 60) - German standard methods for the examination of water, waste water and sludge - Parameters characterizing effects and substances (group H) - Part 60: Spectrometric determination of the chlorophyll-a concentration in water (H 60).
- Doorenbos, J., Kassam, A.H., Bentvelsen, C.L.M., Branscheid, V., Plusje, J.M.G.A., Smith, M., Uittenbogaard, G.O. and Van der Wal, H.K. (1979) Yield Response to Water, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Drechsel, P., Keraita, B., Amoah, P., Abaidoo, R.C., Raschid-Sally, L. and Bahri, A. 2008. Reducing health risks from wastewater use in urban and peri-urban sub-Saharan Africa: applying the 2006 WHO guidelines. Water Science and Technology 57(9), 1461-1466.
- DWA 2005 Grundsätze für Bemessung, Bau und Betrieb von Abwasserteichanlagen. Arbeitsblatt DWA-A 201, pp. 1-20, Deutsche Vereinigung für Wasserwirtschaft, Abwasser und Abfall e.V., Hennef.
- DWA 2016 Bemessung von Kläranlagen in warmen und kalten Klimazonen. Deutsche Vereinigung für Wasserwirtschaft, A.u.A.e.V. (ed), Deutsche Vereinigung für Wasserwirtschaft, Abwasser und Abfall e.V., Hennef.
- DWAF 2008 Code of practice: Volume 2 Pond Systems, Department of Water Affairs and Forestry Ministry of Agriculture, Water and Forestry, Windhoek.
- DWAF 2012 Code of practice: Volume 6 Wastewater Reuse, Department of Water Affairs & Forestry Ministry of Agriculture, Water and Forestry, Windhoek.
- Edokpayi, J.N., Odiyo, J.O., Popoola, O.E. and Msagati, T.A.M. 2021. Evaluation of contaminants removal by waste stabilization ponds: A case study of Siloam WSPs in Vhembe District, South Africa. Heliyon 7(2).

Effebi, K., Keffala, C. and Vasel, J. 2011. Suspended solids settling and half removal time in stabilization ponds (Tunisia). Revue des sciences de l'eau 24(1), 53-61.

- Eland, L.E., Davenport, R.J., Santos, A.B.d. and Mota Filho, C.R. 2018. Molecular evaluation of microalgal communities in full-scale waste stabilisation ponds. Environ Technol 40(15), 1969-1976.
- EU 1991 Council Directive of 21 May 1991 concerning urban waste water treatment. Communities, E. (ed), Offical Journal of the European Communities, Brussels.
- EU 2020 Regulation (EU) 2020/741 on minimum requirements for water reuse, European Parliament and Council of the European Union Official Journal of the European Union, Brussels.
- Fonseca, J., Fallon, S.D., Sanchez, C. and Nolte, K.D. 2011. Escherichia coli survival in lettuce fields following its introduction through different irrigation systems. Journal of applied microbiology 110.
- Fuhrmann, T. (2014) Anwendung und Potenziale von Abwasserteichsystemen im internationalen Kontext, Witten.
- Gikas, P. and Tsoutsos, T. 2015. Near zero energy wastewater treatment plants for the Greek islands. Desalination and water treatment 53.
- Gloyna, E.F. (1971) Waste stabilization ponds, World Health Organization, Geneva.
- Gonçalves, R.F. 1999 Gerenciamento do lodo de lagoas de estabilização não mecanizadas (Sludge Management for Non-Mechanized Stabilization Ponds), PROSAB (Programa de Pesquisa em Saneamento Básico), Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- Google-Earth 2016 Outapi, Namibia. 17°30'36.00" S 14°59'12.00" O, elevation 1114 m. (Version 7.1.8.3036) available online: <u>http://google.com/earth/index.html</u> (accessed 08 January 2017).
- Google-Earth 2019 Outapi, Namibia. 17°31'25.00" S 14°57'53.00" O, elevation 1110 m. (Version 7.3.2) available online: <u>http://google.com/earth/index.html</u> (accessed 24 February 2020).
- Grau, A., Haeusler, M. and Schmitt, W. 1994. Micro-straining as advanced treatment of wastewater applied to the main wastewater treatment plant in Wiesbaden. Water Science and Technology 29(12), 237-245.
- GRN 2013 Water Resources Management Act. Namibia, G.o.t.R.o. (ed), Windhoek.

- Gruchlik, Y., Linge, K. and Joll, C. 2018. Removal of organic micropollutants in waste stabilisation ponds: A review. Journal of Environmental Management 206, 202-214.
- Guieysse, B., Béchet, Q. and Shilton, A. 2012. Variability and uncertainty in water demand and water footprint assessments of fresh algae cultivation based on case studies from five climatic regions. Bioresource technology 128C, 317-323.
- Helmecke, M., Fries, E. and Schulte, C. 2020. Regulating water reuse for agricultural irrigation: risks related to organic micro-contaminants. Environmental Sciences Europe 32(1), 4.
- Hendricks, D. (2011) Fundamentals of Water Treatment Unit Processes: Physical, Chemical, and Biological (1st ed.), CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- Hernandez-Paniagua, I.Y., Ramirez-Vargas, R., Ramos-Gomez, M.S., Dendooven, L., Avelar-Gonzalez, F.J. and Thalasso, F. 2014. Greenhouse gas emissions from stabilization ponds in subtropical climate. Environ Technol 35(5-8), 727-734.
- Hey, T., Zarebska, A., Bajraktari, N., Vogel, J., Helix-Nielsen, C., la Cour Jansen, J. and Jonsson, K. 2016. Influences of mechanical pretreatment on the non-biological treatment of municipal wastewater by forward osmosis. Environ Technol 38(18), 2295-2304.
- Ho, L. and Goethals, P.L.M. 2020. Municipal wastewater treatment with pond technology: Historical review and future outlook. Ecological Engineering 148.
- Ho, L., Jerves-Cobo, R., Morales, O., Larriva, J., Arevalo-Durazno, M., Barthel, M., Six, J., Bode, S., Boeckx, P. and Goethals, P. 2021. Spatial and temporal variations of greenhouse gas emissions from a waste stabilization pond: Effects of sludge distribution and accumulation. Water Research 193, 116858.
- Ho, L.T., Van Echelpoel, W. and Goethals, P.L.M. 2017. Design of waste stabilization pond systems: A review. Water Res 123, 236-248.
- ISO 2015 ISO 16075: Guidelines for treated wastewater use for irrigation projects. Standardization, I.O.f. (ed), International Organzation for Standardization, Geneva.
- Jahn, L., Haslinger, J., Krampe, J., Walder, C., Prösl, A. and Lahnsteiner, J. 2017. Microsieving as an innovative technology for the energetic use of sewage. Österr Wasser- und Abfallw 69(9-10), 369-377.
- Janeiro, C.A.N., Arsénio, A.M., Brito, R.M.C.L. and van Lier, J.B. 2020. Use of (partially) treated municipal wastewater in irrigated agriculture; potentials and constraints for sub-Saharan Africa. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C 118-119, 102906.
- Jiménez, B., Dreschsel, P., Koné, D., Bahri, A., Raschid-Sally, L. and Qadir, M. (2010) Wastewater Irrigation and Health: Assessing and Mitigating Risks in Low-Income Countries Drechsel, P., Scott, C.A., Raschid-Sally, L., Redwood, M. and Bahri, A. (eds), pp. 3-28, Earthscan Press, London.
- Juanicó, M. and Milstein, A. 2004. Semi-intensive treatment plants for wastewater reuse in irrigation. Water Science and Technology 50(2), 55-60.
- K'Oreje, K.O., Okoth, M., Van Langenhove, H. and Demeestere, K. 2020. Occurrence and treatment of contaminants of emerging concern in the African aquatic environment: Literature review and a look ahead. Journal of Environmental Management 254, 109752.
- Kangombe, F.N. (2010) The vegetation of Omusati and Oshana Regions, central-northern Namibia, University of Pretoria, Pretoria.
- Kerdiles, H., Rembold, F. and Pérez-Hoyos, A. 2015 Seasonal Monitoring in Namibia: Severe drought affecting cereal production and pastoral areas in northern and central Namibia, European Commission: Joint Research Centre – Institute for Environment and Sustainability, Luxembourg.
- Khan, A.A., Gaur, R.Z., Tyagi, V.K., Khursheed, A., Lew, B., Mehrotra, I. and Kazmi, A.A. 2011. Sustainable options of post treatment of UASB effluent treating sewage: A review. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 55(12), 1232-1251.
- Kihila, J., Mtei, K.M. and Njau, K.N. 2014. Wastewater treatment for reuse in urban agriculture; the case of Moshi Municipality, Tanzania. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C 72-75, 104-110.
- Kluge, T., Liehr, S., Lux, A., Moser, P., Niemann, S., Umlauf, N. and Urban, W. 2008. IWRM concept for the Cuvelai Basin in northern Namibia. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C 33, 48-55.
- Konaté, Y., Maiga, A.H., Basset, D., Casellas, C. and Picot, B. 2013. Parasite removal by waste stabilisation pond in Burkina Faso, accumulation and inactivation in sludge. Ecological Engineering 50, 101-106.
- Kothandaraman, V. and Evans, R.L. 1972 Removal of Algae from Waste Stabilization Pond Effluents—A State of the Art, State of Illinois, Urbana.
- Lahlou, F.-Z., Mackey, H.R. and Al-Ansari, T. 2021. Wastewater reuse for livestock feed irrigation as a sustainable practice: A socio-environmental-economic review. Journal of Cleaner Production 294, 126331.
- Lavrnić, S. and Mancini, M.L. 2016. Can constructed wetlands treat wastewater for reuse in agriculture? Review of guidelines and examples in South Europe. Water Science and Technology 73(11), 2616-2626.
- Lazarova, V. and Bahri, A. (eds) (2005) Water reuse for irrigation Agriculture, Landscapes, and Turf Grass, CRC Press, Florida.
- Lee, N., Jansen, J., Aspegren, H., Henze, M., Nielsen, P. and Wagner, M. 2002. Population dynamics in wastewater treatment plants with enhanced biological phosphorus removal operated with and without nitrogen removal. Water science and technology : a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research 46, 163-170.

Leonel, L.P. and Tonetti, A.L. 2021. Wastewater reuse for crop irrigation: Crop yield, soil and human health implications based on giardiasis epidemiology. Science of The Total Environment 775, 145833.

Letshwenyo, M., Thumule, S. and Elias, K. 2020. Evaluation of waste stabilisation pond units for treating domestic wastewater. Water and Environment Journal.

- Letshwenyo, M.W. 2021. Performance evaluation of desludged and upgraded waste stabilisation ponds: A case study, Botswana. Journal of Water Process Engineering 44, 102453.
- Lettinga, G., Velsen, A.F.M., Hobma, S., Zeeuw, W.J. and Klapwijk, A. 1980. Use of the Upflow Sludge Blanket (USB) reactor concept for biological wastewater treatment, especially for anaerobic treatment. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 22, 699-734.
- Lew, B., Tarre, S., Belavski, M. and Green, M. 2004. UASB reactor for domestic wastewater treatment at low temperatures: A comparison between a classical UASB and hybrid UASB-filter reactor. Water science and technology : a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research 49, 295-301.
- Liehr, S., Kramm, J., Jokisch, A. and Müller, K. (eds) (2018) Integrated Water Resources Management in Waterscarce Regions: Water Harvesting, Groundwater Desalination and Water Reuse in Namibia, IWA Publishing, London.
- Liu, L., Hall, G. and Champagne, P. 2020. The role of algae in the removal and inactivation of pathogenic indicator organisms in wastewater stabilization pond systems. Algal Research 46.

Ljunggren, M. 2006. Micro screening in wastewater treatment – an overview. VATTEN 62, 171-177.

- Maeseele, C. and Roux, P. 2021. An LCA framework to assess environmental efficiency of water reuse: Application to contrasted locations for wastewater reuse in agriculture. Journal of Cleaner Production 316, 128151.
- Maiga, Y., Wethe, J., Denyigba, K. and Ouattara, A. 2009. The impact of pond depth and environmental conditions on sunlight inactivation of Escherichia coli and enterococci in wastewater in a warm climate. Canadian journal of microbiology 55, 1364-1374.
- Mara, D. (1997) Design manual for waste stabilisation ponds in India, Lagoon Technology International Ltd, Leeds.
- Mara, D. (2004) Domestic Wastewater Treatment in Developing Countries, Earthscan, London.
- Mara, D. 2009. Waste stabilization ponds: Past, present and future. Desalination and Water Treatment 4(1-3), 85-88.
- Mara, D. and Horan, N. (eds) (2003) Handbook of Water and Wastewater Microbiology, Academic Press, London.
- Mara, D. and Johnson, M.L. 2007. Waste stabilization ponds and rock filters: Solutions for small communities. Water science and technology : a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research 55, 103-107.
- Mara, D., Mills, S.W., Pearson, H.W. and Alabaster, G.P. 1992. Waste Stabilization Ponds: A Viable Alternative for Small Community Treatment Systems. Water and Environment Journal 6(1), 72-78.
- Mara, D. and Pearson, H.W. (1998) Design manual for waste stabilization ponds in Mediterranean countries, Lagoon Technology International, Leeds.
- Marti, N., Bouzas, A., Seco, A. and Ferrer, J. 2008. Struvite precipitation assessment in anaerobic digestion processes. Chemical Engineering Journal 141, 67-74.
- Mekonnen, M.M. and Hoekstra, A.Y. 2016. Four billion people facing severe water scarcity. Science Advances 2(2), e1500323.
- Mendelsohn, J., Jarvis, A., Roberts, C. and Robertson, T. (2002) Atlas of Namibia: A Portrait of the Land and its People, David Philip Publishers, Cape Town.
- Middlebrooks, E.J. 1995. Upgrading pond effluents: An overview. Water Science and Technology WATER SCI TECHNOL 31, 353-368.
- Mohr, M., Dockhorn, T., Drewes, J.E., Karwat, S., Lackner, S., Lotz, B., Nahrstedt, A., Nocker, A., Schramm, E. and Zimmermann, M. 2020. Assuring water quality along multi-barrier treatment systems for agricultural water reuse. Journal of Water Reuse and Desalination.
- Msaki, G.L., Njau, K.N., Treydte, A.C. and Lyimo, T. 2022. Social knowledge, attitudes, and perceptions on wastewater treatment, technologies, and reuse in Tanzania. Journal of Water Reuse and Desalination 12(2), 223-241.
- Müller, K. (2017) A systemic approach to implementation of sanitation and agricultural water reuse, Verein zur Förderung des Instituts IWAR der TU Darmstadt e.V., Darmstadt, Germany.
- Müller, K. and Cornel, P. 2017. Setting water quality criteria for agricultural water reuse purposes. Journal of Water Reuse and Desalination 7(2), 121-135.
- Muttamara, S. and Puetpaiboon, U. 1997. Roles of baffles in waste stabilization ponds. Water Science and Technology 35, 275-284.
- Mwinga, M., Siboleka, M. and Kavezuva, C. 2018 Economy Profile of Outapi, First Capital Treasury Solutions (Pty) Limited, Windhoek, Namibia.
- Nelson, K., Jiménez, B., Tchobanoglous, G. and Darby, J. 2004. Sludge Accumulation, Characteristics, and Pathogen Inactivation in Four Primary Waste Stabilization Ponds in Central Mexico. Water research 38, 111-127.

- Ngoma, W., Hoko, Z., Misi, S. and Chidya, R.C.G. 2020. Assessment of efficiency of a decentralized wastewater treatment plant at Mzuzu University, Mzuzu, Malawi. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C 118-119, 102903.
- Nikiema, J., Figoli, A., Langergraber, G., Weissenbacher, N., Marrot, B. and Moulin, P. 2013. Wastewater treatment practices in Africa Experiences from seven countries. Sustainable Sanitation Practice 14, 26-34.
- NSA (2011) Namibia 2011: Population & housing census main report, Namibia Statistics Agency (NSA), Windhoek.
- NSA 2017 Namibia Inter-censal Demographic Survey 2016 Report, Namibia Statistics Agency (NSA), Windhoek.
- Oakley, S.M., Mendonça, L.C. and Mendonça, S.R. 2012. Sludge removal from primary wastewater stabilization ponds with excessive accumulation: a sustainable method for developing regions. Journal of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for Development 2(2), 68-78.
- Ofori, S., Puškáčová, A., Růžičková, I. and Wanner, J. 2021. Treated wastewater reuse for irrigation: Pros and cons. Science of The Total Environment 760, 144026.
- Orschler, L., Agrawal, S. and Lackner, S. 2019. On resolving ambiguities in microbial community analysis of partial nitritation anammox reactors. Scientific Reports 9(1), 6954.
- Ouali, A., Jupsin, H., Vasel, J. and Ghrabi, A. 2013. Removal of E. coli and enterococci in maturation pond and kinetic modelling under sunlight conditions. Desalination and Water Treatment 53, 1-7.
- Paulsrud, B., Rusten, B. and Aas, B. 2014. Increasing the sludge energy potential of wastewater treatment plants by introducing fine mesh sieves for primary treatment. Water Science and Technology 69(3), 560-565.
- Pearson, H.W. (2005) Pond treatment technology. Shilton, A. (ed), pp. 14-48, IWA Publishing, London.
- Pham, D.T., Everaert, G., Janssens, N., Alvarado, A., Nopens, I. and Goethals, P.L.M. 2014. Algal community analysis in a waste stabilisation pond. Ecological Engineering 73, 302-306.
- Picot, B., Sambuco, J.P., Brouillet, J.L. and Riviere, Y. 2005. Wastewater stabilisation ponds: sludge accumulation, technical and financial study on desludging and sludge disposal case studies in France. Water Science and Technology 51(12), 227-234.
- Pivelli, R., Gunther, W.M., Matté, G., Razzolini, M., Cutolo, S., Martone-Rocha, S., Peternella, F., Dória, M. and Matté, M. 2008. Sanitation Assessment of Wastewater Treated by Stabilization Ponds for Potential Reuse in Agricultural Irrigation Sanitation Assessment. Water environment research : a research publication of the Water Environment Federation 80, 205-211.
- Powell, N., Shilton, A., Pratt, S. and Chisti, Y. 2011. Luxury uptake of phosphorus by microalgae in full-scale waste stabilisation ponds. Water science and technology : a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research 63, 704-709.
- Price, P. and Hegnauer, O. 2016 Staatswappen Afrika, Umriss/Länder, available online: <u>http://www.swissfot.ch/htm_public_d/wappen/world/Af/Africa_Umriss_Laender.htm</u> (accessed 27 April 2016).
- Prösl, A., Dammmert, R., Klegraf, F., Menge, J., Esterhuizen, J., Lahnsteiner, J., Leopold, P. and du Pisani, P. 2013 Reclamation of blended industrial effluents - pilot tests at Ujams, Windhoek. 9th IWA International Conference on Water Reclamation & Reuse, Windhoek, Namibia.
- Reynaert, E., Hess, A. and Morgenroth, E. 2021. Making Waves: Why water reuse frameworks need to co-evolve with emerging small-scale technologies. Water Research X 11, 100094.
- Rose, A., Padovan, A., Christian, K., Kaestli, M., McGuinness, K., Tsoukalis, S. and Gibb, K. 2019. New Pond— Indicator Bacteria to Complement Routine Monitoring in a Wet/Dry Tropical Wastewater Stabilization System. Water 11, 2422.
- Rudolph, K.U., Boysen, B., Hilbig, J., Shalizi, F., Stroemer, K. and Walenzik, G. (2020) Wastewater treatment and Reuse – Present and future perspectives in technological developments and management issues. Verlicchi, P. (ed), pp. 189-225, Elsevier.
- Rusten, B. and Ødegaard, H. 2006. Evaluation and testing of fine mesh sieve technologies for primary treatment of municipal wastewater. Water Science and Technology 54(10), 31-38.
- Saidam, M.Y., Ramadan, S.A. and Butler, D. 1995. Upgrading waste stabilization pond effluent by rock filters. Water Science and Technology 31(12), 369-378.
- Schloss, P. and Handelsman, J. 2006. Introducing SONS, a Tool for Operational Taxonomic Unit-Based Comparisons of Microbial Community Memberships and Structures. Applied and environmental microbiology 72, 6773-6779.
- Seghezzo, L., Zeeman, G., Hamelers, H.V.M. and Lettinga, G. 1998. A review: The anaerobic treatment of sewage in UASB and EGSB reactors. Bioresource Technology 65, 175-190.
- Shea, T.G. and Males, R.M. (1971) Investigation of repsonse surfaces of the microscreen process, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington.
- Shelef, G. and Azov, Y. 2000. Meeting stringent environmental and reuse requirements with an integrated pond system for the twenty-first century. Water Science and Technology 42(10-11), 299-305.
- Shilton, A. (2005) Pond Treatment Technology, IWA Publishing, London.
- Shilton, A. and Harrison, J. 2003. Development of guidlines for improved hydraulic design of waste stabilisation ponds. Water science and technology : a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research 48, 173-180.
Sinn, J. and Lackner, S. 2020. Enhancement of overloaded waste stabilization ponds using different pretreatment technologies: a comparative study from Namibia. Journal of Water Reuse and Desalination 10(4), 500-512.

Søberg, L.C., Viklander, M., Blecken, G.-T. and Hedström, A. 2019. Reduction of Escherichia coli, Enterococcus faecalis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa in stormwater bioretention: Effect of drying, temperature and submerged zone. Journal of Hydrology X 3.

Swana, U.U., Feleni, U., Malefetse, T.J., Mamba, B.B., Schmitz, P. and Nkambule, T.T.I. 2020. The status and quantification of de facto water reuse in South Africa – a review. Water Practice and Technology 15(2), 225-247.

Symonds, E.M., Verbyla, M.E., Lukasik, J.O., Kafle, R.C., Breitbart, M. and Mihelcic, J.R. 2014. A case study of enteric virus removal and insights into the associated risk of water reuse for two wastewater treatment pond systems in Bolivia. Water Res 65, 257-270.

Taylor, L.H., Latham, S.M. and Woolhouse, M.E.J. 2001. Risk factors for human disease emergence. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 356(1411), 983-989.

Tchobanoglous, G., Stensel, H.D., Tsuchihashi, R., Burton, F.L., Abu-Orf, M., Bowden, G. and Pfrang, W. (2014) Wastewater engineering: treatment and resource recovery, McGraw-Hill Education, New York.

Tian, D.-J., Lim, H.-S., Chung, J. and Jun, H.b. 2015. Nitrogen and phosphorus removal in an anaerobic (UASB)aerobic (ABF) sewage treatment system. Desalination and Water Treatment 53, 2856-2865.

Tiwari, M., Guha, S., Harendranath, C. and Tripathi, S. 2006. Influence of extrinsic factors on granulation in UASB reactor. Applied microbiology and biotechnology 71, 145-154.

U.S. EPA (2011) Principles of Design and Operations of Wastewater Treatment Pond Systems for Plant Operators, Engineers, and Managers, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati, Ohio.

U.S. EPA (2012) Guidelines for Water Reuse, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.

Uemura, S. and Harada, H. 2000. Treatment of sewage by a UASB reactor under moderate to low temperature conditions. Bioresource Technology - BIORESOURCE TECHNOL 72, 275-282.

Uhlendahl, T., Ziegelmayer, D., Wienecke, A., Mawisa, M.L. and du Pisani, P. 2010 Water consumption at household level in Windhoek, Namibia, Albert Ludwigs University, Freiburg.

UN 2015 Resolution: Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, General Assembly - United Nations, New York.

Varón, M.P. and Mara, D. (2004) Waste Stabilisation Ponds, IRC International Water and Sanitation Centre, Delft.

Vassalle, L., Diez-Montero, R., Machado, A.T.R., Moreira, C., Ferrer, I., Mota, C.R. and Passos, F. 2020. Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket in microalgae-based sewage treatment: Co-digestion for improving biogas production. Bioresour Technol 300, Article 122677.

- Verbyla, M., Oakley, S. and Mihelcic, J. 2013. Wastewater Infrastructure for Small Cities in an Urbanizing World: Integrating Protection of Human Health and the Environment with Resource Recovery and Food Security. Environmental science & technology 47.
- Verbyla, M., von Sperling, M. and Maiga, Y. (2017) Global Water Pathogen Project. Rose, J.B. and Jiménez-Cisneros, B. (eds), Michigan State University, E. Lansing, MI, UNESCO.
- Verbyla, M.E., Iriarte, M.M., Mercado Guzmán, A., Coronado, O., Almanza, M. and Mihelcic, J.R. 2016. Pathogens and fecal indicators in waste stabilization pond systems with direct reuse for irrigation: Fate and transport in water, soil and crops. Science of The Total Environment 551-552, 429-437.
- Vidal, L., Ballo, A., Azevedo, S.M.F.O., Padisák, J. and Welker, M. (2021) Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: A Guide to Their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management (2nd ed.). CRC Press on behalf of the World Health Organization, Geneva, CH., Boca Raton (FL).
- von Sperling, M. (2007a) Waste Stabilisation Ponds, IWA Publishing, London.
- von Sperling, M. (2007b) Wastewater Characteristics, Treatment and Disposal, IWA Publishing, London.
- von Sperling, M. and De Andrada, J.G.B. 2006. Simple wastewater treatment (UASB reactor, shallow polishing ponds, coarse rock filter) allowing compliance with different reuse criteria. Water Science and Technology 54(11-12), 199-205.
- von Sperling, M., de Andrada, J.G.B. and de Melo Júnior, W.R. 2007. Coarse filters for pond effluent polishing: comparison of loading rates and grain sizes. Water Science and Technology 55(11), 121-126.
- Walder, C., Prösl, A., Klegraf, F., Soerensen, K. and Lahnsteiner, J. 2015 Enhanced Primary Treatment using Microsieving for Increased Removal Rates and Energy Recovery on WWTPs. 12th IWA Specialised Conference on Design, Operation and Economics of Large Wastewater Treatment Plants, Prague.
- Wallace, J., Champagne, P., Hall, G., Yin, Z. and Liu, X. 2015. Determination of Algae and Macrophyte Species Distribution in Three Wastewater Stabilization Ponds Using Metagenomics Analysis. Water 7(7), 3225-3242.
- Wang, H., Wang, T., Zhang, B., Fengting, L., Toure, B., Omosa, I., Chiramba, T., Abdel Monem, M. and Pradhan,
 M. 2014. Water and Wastewater Treatment in Africa Current Practices and Challenges. CLEAN Soil 42.
- Werchota, R. (2020) Empty Buckets and Overflowing Pits: Urban Water and Sanitation Reforms in Sub-Saharan Africa Acknowledging Decline, Preparing for the Unprecedented Wave of Demand.
- WHO (2006) Wastewater use in agriculture. WHO Guidelines for the safe use of wastewater, excreta and greywater, 2., World Health Organization, Geneva.

Wid, N. and Horan, N. 2016. Anaerobic digestion of wastewater screenings for resource recovery and waste reduction. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science 36, 012017.

WWAP (2017) (United Nations World Water Assessment Programme). The United Nations World Water Development Report 2017: Wastewater : The Untapped Resource UNESCO, Paris.

WWAP (2018) (United Nations World Water Assessment Programme). The United Nations World Water Development Report 2018: Nature-based solutions for Water, UNESCO, Paris.

WWAP (2019) (United Nations World Water Assessment Programme). The United Nations World Water Development Report 2019: Leaving no one behind, UNESCO, Paris.

Zacharia, A., Ahmada, W., Outwater, A.H., Ngasala, B. and Van Deun, R. 2019. Evaluation of Occurrence, Concentration, and Removal of Pathogenic Parasites and Fecal Coliforms in Three Waste Stabilization Pond Systems in Tanzania. The Scientific World Journal 2019, 3415617.

Zimmermann, M. and Neu, F. 2022. Social–Ecological Impact Assessment and Success Factors of a Water Reuse System for Irrigation Purposes in Central Northern Namibia. Water 14, 2381.

8 Appendix

8.1 Supplementary information paper I

Table SI 8.1.1: Total population, connected population, pond sizes, hydraulic retention time (HRT) and pond types of the nine towns in northern Namibia with their population equivalent inflow loads as well as their surface loading rates of the first pond and volumetric loading rates of the anaerobic pond.

	А	В	С	D	Е	F	G	Н	I
[-]	10,000	7,000	27,000	19,000	50,000	8,000	12,000	8,000	2,300
[%]	60 ⁽²⁾	50 ⁽²⁾	40 (1)	50 ⁽¹⁾	40 (1)	70 (1)	60 ⁽²⁾	70 (1)	30 (1)
[m³/d]	720 ⁽²⁾	432(2)	1,200 (1)	1,080 (1)	2,160 (1)	660 ⁽¹⁾	800 ⁽²⁾	672 ⁽¹⁾	83 (1)
[уууу]	1999	1999	1980's	1970's	2007	1983	2005	1974	2015
[уууу]	y] 2015 2008 2015 - 2012				2015	2018	2008	-	
[m²]	50,000	9,300	280,000	17,000	200,000	31,000	41,000	7,000	17,000
[m²/cap]	8	3	26	2	10	6	6	1	25
[m³]	60,000 ⁽¹⁾	17,000 ⁽¹⁾	360,000 ⁽¹⁾	25,500 ⁽⁴⁾	294,000 ⁽⁴⁾	51,000 ⁽⁴⁾	55,000 ⁽¹⁾	8,300 ⁽¹⁾	25,000 ⁽⁴⁾
[d]	83	39	300	24	136	77	69	12	302
(PE) inflo	ow load								
[g/PE/d]	121	56	101	53	127	86	92	76	60
[g/PE/d]	53	23	39	28	51	32	32	37	25
[g/PE/d]	28	16	25	23	41	26	32	15	27
[g/PE/d]	12	7	8	6	12	10	9	8	6
[g/PE/d]	10	5	7	5	12	9	6	7	4
[g/PE/d]	1.6	0.7	0.9	0.8	1.4	1.3	1.1	1.0	0.7
[g/PE/d]	1.2	0.6	0.7	0.6	1.2	0.9	0.8	0.7	0.4
first por	nd (FP o	r AP)							
[kg/ha/d]	3014	699	403	280	715	2498	268	1161	413
[kg/ha/d]	1507	349	202	140	357	1249	134	580	207
e of anae	robic po	ond							
[kg/m³/d]	0.09	0.02	0.01	-	0.02	0.07	-	-	0.01
[kg/m³/d]	0.04	0.01	0.01	-	0.01	0.04	-	-	0.01
nt trains	1	2	2	1	2	2	2	1	1
(AP) ⁽⁶⁾	2	2	2	0	4	2	0	0	1
(FP) ⁽⁶⁾	1	2	5	1	2	2	2	1	1
(MP) ⁽⁶⁾	3	4	6	7	2	4	6	4	1
(EP) ⁽⁶⁾	1	1	1	1	0	2	1	1	1
	[-] [%] [m³/d] [yyyy] [yyyy] [m²] [m²/cap] [m²/cap] [m²/cap] [d] [g/PE/d] [A [-] 10,000 [%] 60 ⁽²⁾ [m³/d] 720 ⁽²⁾ [yyyy] 1999 [yyyy] 2015 [m²] 50,000 [m²] 50,000 [m²] 60,000 ⁽¹⁾ [m²] 60,000 ⁽¹⁾ [d] 83 [m³] 60,000 ⁽¹⁾ [d] 83 [m3] 60,000 ⁽¹⁾ [d] 83 [m3] 60,000 ⁽¹⁾ [d] 121 [g/PE/d] 53 [g/PE/d] 12 [g/PE/d] 10 [g/PE/d] 1.2 [g/PE/d] 1.2 [g/PE/d] 3014 [kg/ha/d] 3014 [kg/ma/d] 0.09 [kg/m³/d] 0.04 et trains 1 (AP) ⁽⁶⁾ 2 (FP) ⁽⁶⁾ 1 (MP) ⁽⁶⁾ 3 (EP) ⁽⁶⁾ 1	A B [-] 10,000 7,000 [%] 60 (2) 50 (2) [m³/d] 720(2) 432(2) [yyyy] 1999 1999 [yyyy] 2015 2008 [m²] 50,000 9,300 [m²] 50,000 9,300 [m²] 60,000(1) 17,000(1) [m³] 60,000(1) 17,000(1) [d] 83 39 [m³] 60,000(1) 17,000(1) [d] 121 56 [g/PE/d] 121 56 [g/PE/d] 12 7 [g/PE/d] 10 5 [g/PE/d] 1.6 0.7 [g/PE/d] 1.6 0.7 [g/PE/d] 1.6 0.7 [kg/ha/d] 3014 699 [kg/m3/d] 0.04 0.01 [kg/m3/d] 0.04 0.01 [kg/m3/d] 0.04 0.01 [kg/m3/d] 0.0	ABC[-]10,0007,00027,000[%]60 (2)50 (2)40 (1)[m³/d]720(2)432(2)1,200 (1)[yyyy]199919991980's[yyyy]201520082015[m²]50,0009,300280,000[m²]60,000(1)17,000(1)360,000(1)[d]8339300[g/PE/d]12156101[g/PE/d]532339[g/PE/d]1278[g/PE/d]1278[g/PE/d]160.70.9[g/PE/d]1.60.70.9[g/PE/d]1.60.70.9[g/PE/d]1.60.70.9[g/PE/d]1.20.60.7[kg/ha/d]3014699403[kg/ha/d]0.040.010.01[kg/m³/d]0.090.020.01[kg/m³/d]0.040.010.01[kg/m³/d]122(AP) (6)222(HP) (6)125(MP) (6)346(EP) (6)111	A B C D [·] 10,000 7,000 27,000 19,000 [%] 60 (2) 50 (2) 40 (1) 50 (1) [m³/d] 720(2) 432(2) 1,200 (1) 1,080 (1) [yyyy] 1999 1999 1980's 1970's [yyyy] 2015 2008 2015 - [m²] 50.000 9,300 280,000 17,000' [m²] 60,000(1) 17,000(1) 360,000(1) 25,500(4) [g/PE/d] 121 56 101 53 [g/PE/d] 12 7 8 6 [g/PE/d] 1.6 0.7 0.6 [g/P	A B C D E [-] 10,000 7,000 27,000 19,000 50,000 [%] 60 (2) 50 (2) 40 (1) 50 (1) 40 (1) [m3/d] 720(2) 432(2) 1,200 (1) 1,080 (1) 2,160 (1) [yyyy] 1999 1999 1980's 1970's 2007 [yyyy] 2015 2008 2015 - 2012 [m ²] 50,000 9,300 280,000 17,000 200,000 [m ³] 60,000 ⁽¹⁾ 17,000 (1) 360,000(1) 25,500(4) 294,000(4) [d] 83 39 300 24 136 [m ³] 60,000 ⁽¹⁾ 17,000 (1) 360,000(1) 25,500(4) 136 [g/PE/d] 121 56 101 53 127 [g/PE/d] 121 56 101 53 127 [g/PE/d] 12 7 8 6 12 [g/PE/d]	A B C D E F [-] 10,000 7,000 27,000 19,000 50,000 8,000 [%] 60 (2) 50 (2) 40 (1) 50 (1) 40 (1) 70 (1) [m³/d] 720(2) 432(2) 1,200 (1) 1,080 (1) 2,160 (1) 660 (1) [yyyy] 1999 1999 1980s 1970s 2007 1983 [yyyy] 2015 2008 2015 - 2012 2015 [m²] 50,000 9,300 280,000 17,000 200,000 31,000 [m²] 60,000(1) 17,000(1) 360,000(1) 25,500(4) 294,000(4) 51,000(4) [m³] 60,000(1) 17,000(1) 360,000(1) 25,500(4) 294,000(4) 51,000(4) [d] 83 39 300 24 136 77 [d]/PE/d] 121 56 101 53 127 86 [g/PE/d] 12 7 <td>A B C D E F G [-] 10,000 7,000 27,000 19,000 50,000 8,000 12,000 [%] 60 (2) 50 (2) 40 (1) 50 (1) 40 (1) 70 (1) 60 (2) [m³/d] 720(2) 432(2) 1,200 (1) 1,080 (1) 2,160 (1) 660 (1) 800(2) [myyy] 1999 1999 1980's 1970's 2017 660 (1) 800(2) [myyy] 2015 2008 2015 - 2012 2015 2018 [m³] 50,000 9,300 280,000 17,000 200,000 31,000 41,000 [m³] 60,000(1) 17,000(1) 360,000(1) 25,500(4) 204,000(4) 51,000(4) 55,000(1) [d] 83 39 300 24 136 77 69 [m9/PE/d] 121 56 101 53 127 86 92 [g/PE/d] <</td> <td>A B C D E F G H [-] 10,000 7,000 27,000 19,000 50,000 8,000 12,000 8,000 [%] 60 (2) 50 (2) 40 (1) 50 (1) 40 (1) 60 (2) 60 (2) 672 (1) [m³/d] 720(2) 432 (2) 1,200 (1) 1,080 (1) 2,160 (1) 660 (2) 672 (1) [yyyy] 1999 1999 1980's 1970's 2017 1983 2005 1974 [yyyy] 2015 2008 2015 - 2012 2018 2008 1974 [myy] 2015 2008 2015 - 2012 2018 2018 2008 [m³] 50,000'' 17,000'' 360,000'' 25,500'' 294,000'' 51,000'' 55,000'' 8,300'' [d] 83 39 300 24 136 71 69 12 [g/PE/d] 121 56</td>	A B C D E F G [-] 10,000 7,000 27,000 19,000 50,000 8,000 12,000 [%] 60 (2) 50 (2) 40 (1) 50 (1) 40 (1) 70 (1) 60 (2) [m³/d] 720(2) 432(2) 1,200 (1) 1,080 (1) 2,160 (1) 660 (1) 800(2) [myyy] 1999 1999 1980's 1970's 2017 660 (1) 800(2) [myyy] 2015 2008 2015 - 2012 2015 2018 [m³] 50,000 9,300 280,000 17,000 200,000 31,000 41,000 [m³] 60,000(1) 17,000(1) 360,000(1) 25,500(4) 204,000(4) 51,000(4) 55,000(1) [d] 83 39 300 24 136 77 69 [m9/PE/d] 121 56 101 53 127 86 92 [g/PE/d] <	A B C D E F G H [-] 10,000 7,000 27,000 19,000 50,000 8,000 12,000 8,000 [%] 60 (2) 50 (2) 40 (1) 50 (1) 40 (1) 60 (2) 60 (2) 672 (1) [m ³ /d] 720(2) 432 (2) 1,200 (1) 1,080 (1) 2,160 (1) 660 (2) 672 (1) [yyyy] 1999 1999 1980's 1970's 2017 1983 2005 1974 [yyyy] 2015 2008 2015 - 2012 2018 2008 1974 [myy] 2015 2008 2015 - 2012 2018 2018 2008 [m ³] 50,000'' 17,000'' 360,000'' 25,500'' 294,000'' 51,000'' 55,000'' 8,300'' [d] 83 39 300 24 136 71 69 12 [g/PE/d] 121 56

(2) Based on inflow data

(3) Calculated by satellite images

(4) Calculated with average depth (AP: 3.5 m; FP: 1,5 m) (von Sperling, 2007a)

(5) Calculated with a BOD₅/COD ratio of 0.5 (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014)

(6) Total number of ponds at the respective site

Table SI 8.1.2: Average physical, chemical and biological parameters, presented as mean values, of nine waste stabilization pond system in Namibia. WSP A – WSP I are referring to different towns.

			Physical	paramet	ers		Chemica	al parame	ters		Biological parameters							
		Parameter	EC	Turbidity	TS	TSS	рН	tCOD	sCOD	pCOD	TN	NH₄⁺-N	TP	PO4 ³⁻ -P	E. Coli	t. Coliforms	Enterococci	Chlorophyll-a
	WSP	Unit	µS/cm	FNU	mg/L	mg/L	-	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	mg/L	MPN/100 mL	MPN/100 mL	MPN/100 mL	µg/L
^	influent	ø (n)	2004 (3)	384 (3)	1505 (2)	233 (2)	7.2 (3)	1005 (3)	440 (3)	565 (3)	98.1 (3)	86.8 (3)	13.1 (3)	9.8 (3)	6.6E+06 (3)	3.9E+07 (3)	1.5E+06 (2)	n.a.
~	effluent	ø (n)	1842 (3)	129 (3)	1463 (2)	91 (3)	9.1 (3)	289 (3)	102 (3)	187 (3)	21.7 (3)	2.2 (3)	10.5 (3)	10.3 (2)	1.5E+03 (3)	8.4E+05 (3)	1.5E+03 (2)	828 (2)
В	influent	ø (n)	691 (3)	173 (3)	433 (2)	133 (3)	6.2 (3)	466 (3)	191 (3)	274 (3)	55.3 (3)	42.5 (3)	6.1 (3)	4.8 (3)	1.4E+07 (3)	5.7E+07 (3)	8.3E+05 (2)	n.a.
	effluent	ø (n)	749 (3)	124 (3)	521 (2)	110 (3)	8.7 (3)	274 (3)	66 (3)	208 (3)	46.8 (3)	28.8 (3)	8.7 (3)	3.7 (3)	4.7E+04 (3)	4.9E+05 (3)	3.6E+03 (2)	784 (2)
C	influent	ø (n)	975 (3)	328 (3)	676 (2)	210 (3)	7.1 (3)	840 (3)	322 (3)	518 (3)	67.9 (3)	61.5 (3)	7.7 (3)	6.1 (3)	8.7E+06 (3)	9.2E+07 (3)	2.1E+06 (2)	n.a.
0	effluent	ø (n)	1249 (3)	39 (3)	878 (2)	33 (3)	7.7 (3)	156 (3)	84 (3)	72 (3)	21.3 (3)	18.0 (2)	9.0 (3)	8.7 (3)	9.3E+04 (3)	9.5E+04 (3)	4.1E+03 (2)	251 (2)
П	influent	ø (n)	2555 (2)	203 (2)	1779 (2)	193 (2)	7.6 (2)	440 (2)	235 (2)	206 (2)	47.8 (2)	40.5 (2)	6.3 (2)	4.7 (2)	1.7E+07 (2)	2.8E+07 (2)	1.0E+06 (2)	n.a.
	effluent	ø (n)	2505 (2)	153 (2)	1987 (2)	93 (2)	9.0 (2)	274 (2)	88 (2)	186 (2)	29.6 (2)	9.3 (2)	4.7 (2)	2.1 (2)	1.5E+04 (2)	1.5E+05 (2)	7.3E+03 (2)	193 (1)
F	influent	ø (n)	1319 (3)	470 (3)	972 (2)	345 (3)	7.1 (3)	1059 (3)	424 (3)	636 (3)	81.2 (3)	98.1 (3)	11.9 (3)	9.8 (3)	3.9E+06 (3)	3.1E+07 (3)	2.1E+06 (2)	n.a.
	effluent	ø (n)	3150 (1)	251 (3)	7033 (2)	170 (3)	10.0 (3)	701 (2)	209 (2)	492 (2)	57.4 (3)	2.8 (2)	18.7 (3)	15.8 (3)	1.4E+04 (3)	1.5E+04 (3)	8.5E+04 (2)	403 (1)
F	influent	ø (n)	1148 (3)	361 (3)	866 (2)	214 (3)	7.2 (3)	719 (3)	269 (3)	451 (3)	80.1 (3)	71.9 (3)	11.0 (3)	7.7 (3)	6.3E+06 (3)	8.8E+07 (3)	3.8E+06 (2)	n.a.
	effluent	ø (n)	1991 (3)	117 (3)	1485 (2)	66 (3)	8.8 (3)	298 (3)	136 (3)	162 (3)	29.5 (3)	14.0 (3)	11.4 (3)	9.0 (3)	2.2E+04 (2)	8.1E+05 (3)	4.6E+03 (2)	188 (2)
G1	influent	ø (n)	936 (3)	376 (3)	n.a.	305 (3)	6.5 (3)	732 (3)	227 (3)	504 (3)	71.0 (3)	50.3 (3)	8.1 (3)	5.8 (3)	9.8E+06 (3)	1.0E+08 (3)	1.4E+06 (2)	n.a.
	effluent	ø (n)	770 (3)	335 (3)	n.a.	121 (3)	8.0 (3)	403 (3)	87 (3)	315 (3)	58.5 (3)	29.8 (3)	8.2 (3)	2.7 (3)	9.0E+04 (3)	1.5E+07 (3)	1.0E+03 (2)	n.a.
G	influent	ø (n)	999 (3)	418 (3)	693 (2)	216 (3)	7.1 (3)	820 (3)	303 (3)	518 (3)	76.6 (3)	56.2 (3)	9.6 (3)	7.9 (3)	1.8E+07 (3)	5.9E+07 (3)	9.2E+05 (2)	n.a.
02	effluent	ø (n)	934 (3)	278 (3)	732 (2)	119 (3)	8.6 (3)	409 (3)	96 (3)	313 (3)	52.6 (3)	31.9 (3)	11.8 (3)	1.9 (3)	2.0E+04 (3)	1.2E+07 (3)	5.2E+02 (2)	616 (3)
63	influent	ø (n)	864 (3)	375 (3)	n.a.	277 (3)	6.7 (3)	741 (3)	278 (3)	463 (3)	66.2 (3)	53.9 (3)	8.6 (3)	5.5 (3)	1.7E+07 (3)	5.7E+07 (3)	8.3E+05 (2)	n.a.
	, effluent	ø (n)	871 (3)	143 (3)	n.a.	31 (3)	7.8 (3)	258 (3)	84 (3)	174 (3)	34.1 (3)	19.2 (3)	9.0 (3)	6.0 (3)	1.7E+02 (3)	2.3E+06 (3)	3.5E+03 (2)	610 (3)
Ц	influent	ø (n)	914 (3)	288 (3)	451 (2)	125 (2)	7.6 (3)	635 (3)	311 (3)	324 (3)	67.6 (3)	57.4 (3)	7.9 (3)	6.1 (3)	1.5E+07 (3)	5.1E+07 (3)	6.4E+05 (2)	n.a.
-11	effluent	ø (n)	560 (3)	314 (3)	907 (2)	171 (3)	9.2 (3)	443 (3)	93 (3)	350 (3)	35.2 (3)	5.6 (3)	6.3 (3)	2.9 (3)	1.5E+04 (3)	3.6E+06 (3)	2.8E+04 (2)	1608 (2)
	influent	ø (n)	686 (3)	195 (3)	610 (2)	222 (2)	6.9 (3)	504 (3)	205 (3)	299 (3)	49.4 (3)	35.2 (3)	5.6 (3)	2.9 (3)	1.1E+07 (3)	9.0E+07 (3)	1.9E+06 (2)	n.a.
I	effluent	ø (n)	769 (3)	453 (3)	609 (2)	132 (2)	9.7 (3)	251 (3)	84 (3)	229 (3)	23.6 (3)	2.5 (3)	5.7 (3)	4.9 (2)	2.8E+04 (3)	1.7E+05 (3)	1.5E+03 (2)	448 (2)

Ø = mean, n = number of measurements, n.a. = not analysed, EC = electrical conductivity, TS = total solids, TSS = total suspended solids, tCOD = total (homogenized) chemical oxygen demand, sCOD = soluble (0,45µm filtered) COD, pCOD = particulate COD, TN = total nitrogen, TP = total phosphorous, MPN most probable number.

8.2 Supplementary information paper II

Table SI 8.2.1: Details about the town Outapi and its original wastewater pond system

population (2018)	12,	000								
annual population growth	9.3	3 %								
sewer system	gravity	sewer								
people connected	about 58 %									
design load	2,50	0 PE								
load connected	7,00	0 PE								
treatment technologies	pond system with (á 1 facultative pond ar	two treatment lines nd 3 x maturation pond)								
average daily inflow	 800 m³/d (c	dry weather)								
	4.05 ha fo	r treatment								
surface area	line A [m²]	line B [m²]								
facultative pond (1)	11,400	11,400								
maturation pond (2)	5,200	5,300								
maturation pond (3)	1,800	1,600								
maturation pond (4)	1,600	2,300								
evaporation pond	40,	900								
depth	line A [m]	line B [m]								
facultative pond (1)	1.5	1.5								
maturation pond (2)	1.3	1.3								
maturation pond (3)	1.5	1.3								
maturation pond (4)	1.3	1.1								
evaporation pond	0	.5								
volume	line A [m ³]	line B [m ³]								
facultative pond (1)	16,100	16,000								
maturation pond (2)	6,300	6,100								
maturation pond (3)	2,400	1,900								
maturation pond (4)	1,700	2,100								
evaporation pond	20,400									

Table SI 8.2.2: Physical, chemical and biological parameters of the wastewater pond system in Namibia. Values (day 1 – day 527) present the two treatment trains: Train A with pre-treatment and train B in its original stage.

Monitoring data enhanced train													Monitoring data original train							
		Buffer effluent			UASI	B effluent		Micro s	ieve effluei	nt	A1	effluent		Untreat	ed wastew	ater	В	B1 effluent		
Parameter	Unit	mean	sd	n	Mean	sd	n	Mean	sd	n										
Physical ch	aracterist	cs																		
EC	µS/cm	968	95	52	1070	76	81	962	92	68	888	68	68	956	110	78	843	58	71	
Turbidity	FNU	484	193	49	266	96	75	365	112	65	337	100	63	351	120	75	478	129	68	
TS	mg/L	995	377	23	615	143	25	690	113	25	693	56	21	694	98	27	728	72	21	
TSS	mg/L	483	319	39	152	89	57	198	71	50	171	68	35	220	81	56	197	57	40	
Chemical c	haracteris	tics																		
pН	-	6.8	0.7	53	6.7	0.6	82	6.9	0.6	69	8.4	0.6	69	7.0	0.4	79	8.1	0.4	69	
tCOD	mg/L	1044	376	45	477	174	68	740	142	58	465	93	55	749	153	70	588	123	59	
sCOD	mg/L	325	47	44	171	126	66	306	58	58	89	28	56	301	59	66	89	22	59	
pCOD	mg/L	671	291	43	313	136	64	431	128	56	380	92	54	444	133	66	500	113	58	
TN	mg/L	83.4	13.0	39	81.0	10.0	61	78.3	11.9	53	58.5	11.4	48	76.0	12.5	68	70.4	7.7	51	
NH_4^+-N	mg/L	67.6	8.0	36	72.8	7.2	58	65.6	7.7	50	33.6	7.5	45	64.7	10.8	66	38.1	4.2	49	
TP	mg/L	10.9	1.8	36	10.4	1.1	58	9.9	1.3	50	10.8	1.0	46	9.8	1.3	65	10.3	0.9	48	
PO ₄ P	mg/L	7.9	1.4	33	8.8	1.1	55	7.8	1.2	47	1.7	2.3	40	7.7	1.3	64	1.1	1.4	42	
Biological of	characteris	stics																		
Escherichia coli	MPN/ 100 mL	1.4 x 10 ⁷	8.0 x 10 ⁶	37	4.5 x 10 ⁶	3.3 x 10 ⁶	51	1.3 x 10 ⁷	5.7 x 10 ⁶	49	4.4 x 10⁵	6.6 x 10⁵	27	2.3 x 10 ⁷	5.1 x 10 ⁷	43	1.6 x 10 ⁶	3.2 x 10 ⁶	38	
Total Coliforms	MPN/ 100 mL	6.9 x 10 ⁷	3.6 x 10 ⁷	37	2.4 x 10 ⁷	2.5 x 10 ⁷	55	6.5 x 10 ⁷	2.7 x 10 ⁷	49	1.2 x 10 ⁷	1.3 x 10 ⁷	34	1.0 x 10 ⁸	1.0 x 10 ⁸	44	2.6 x 10 ⁷	3.8 x 10 ⁷	37	
Enterococci	MPN/ 100 mL	4.0 x 10⁵	1.5 x 10⁵	2	7.4 x 10 ⁴	8.4 x 10 ⁴	9	6.6 x 10⁵	4.0 x 10 ⁵	8	8.6 x 10 ³	1.4 x 10 ⁴	7	7.9 x 10⁵	3.2 x 10⁵	12	6.3 x 10 ⁴	4.4 x 10 ⁴	10	

n = number of measurements, sd = standard deviation, EC = electrical conductivity, TS = total solids, TSS = total suspended solids, tCOD = total (homogenized) chemical oxygen demand, sCOD = soluble (0.45 µm filtered) COD, pCOD = particulate COD, TN = total nitrogen, TP = total phosphorous, MPN most probable number.

8.3 Supplementary information paper III

Table SI 8.3.1: Operation phases of the WSP depending on the installation of the pre-treatment (PreT) and post-treatment (PostT) with the corresponding outflow of train A (A4) and train B (B4).

Phase	Operation	Start day	End day	Effluent
Ι	Total inflow in train B (planning and construction of PreT and PostT)	1	675	Pond B4
II	Total inflow in train B (PreT in operation)	676	1,011	Pond B4
III	Inflow shared between train A and B (PreT and PostT in operation)	1,012	1,444	Pond A4 and Pond B4

Table SI 8.3.2: T-Test for the significance of the *E. coli* log reduction and turbidity, solar radiation, chlorophyll-*a*, temperature, inflow concentration, precipitation and between the *E. coli* log reductions of the different treatment trains. NA = not analysed.

Parameter	<i>E. coli</i> log reduction											
	A – III	B – III	B – I+II									
turbidity	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000									
solar radiation	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000									
chlorophyll-a	0.0090	0.0013	NA									
temperature	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000									
inflow concentration	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000									
precipitation	0.5983	0.5708	0.2245									
<i>E. coli</i> log reduction A – III	-	0.0003	-									
<i>E. coli</i> log reduction B – III	0.0003	-	0.0000									
<i>E. coli</i> log reduction B – I+II	-	0.0000	-									

Table SI 8.3.3: Microbial community analysis: Richness (Chao, 1984) and Shannon's (Schloss and Handelsman, 2006) diversity indices estimates for each sampling point. sd = standard deviation.

Compling point	Cha	ao1	Shannon								
Samping point	indices	sd	indices	Sd							
Inflow	2,253	344	6.0	0.5							
A1	1,799	486	5.9	0.3							
A3	2,668	691	6.0	0.3							
A4	2,517	584	5.8	0.6							
B1	2,140	574	5.7	0.4							
B4	2,370	683	6.0	0.4							

Table SI 8.3.4: Physical, chemical and biological parameters of the waste stabilization pond system in Namibia. Inflow values are from phase I, II and III, effluent values (phase III) present the two treatment trains: Train A with pre-treatment and post-treatment whilst train B in the original setup. For comparison the water quality objectives by the FAO (Ayers and Westcot, 1985), Müller (2017) and WHO (2006) are presented. Three "degrees of restrictions on use" (1 = none, 2 = slight to moderate, 3 = severe) are applied as suggested by the FAO (Ayers and Westcot, 1985).

		Untreated wastewater						Monitoring data enhanced train A - III (phase III)							Monitoring data original train B - III (phase III)										Water quality objectives							
		(phase	I, II and	III)	A1 (effluent		A2 e	effluent		A3 e	effluent		A4 e	effluent		B1 e	effluent		B2 (effluent		B3 e	ffluent		B4 e	effluent		Degree	of restriction	use	_
Parameter	Unit	Mean	sd	n	mean	sd	n	Mean	sd	n	Mean	sd	n	Mean	sd	n	Mean	sd	n	Mean	sd	n	Mean	sd	n	Mean	sd	n	1	2	3	source
Physical char	acteristics																															
EC	µS/cm	943	143	272	755	119	123	721	132	74	750	130	122	832	119	123	825	75	124	834	96	74	835	105	123	837	120	124	<700	700 - 3,000	>3,000	FAO 1985
Turbidity	FNU	355	121	257	243	140	110	181	105	66	220	114	108	192	129	109	417	131	110	306	104	66	292	104	109	266	108	109	<21 ^{a)}	23 - 43 ^{a)}	>43 ^{a)}	Müller 2017
TS	mg/L	669	101	38	702	47	11	752	51	5	711	31	17	718	47	18	753	51	11	755	50	5	729	42	11	743	36	17	-	-	-	-
TSS	mg/L	245	96	118	123	56	25	97	48	16	79	34	57	49	36	58	187	61	23	111	47	16	112	39	52	98	41	57	<50 ^{a)}	50 - 100 ^{a)}	>100 ^{a)}	FAO 1985
Chemical cha	racteristics	5																														
pН	-	6.8	0.7	273	8.3	0.6	124	8.8	0.7	74	8.7	0.7	123	7.7	0.8	124	7.8	0.5	124	7.9	0.4	74	7.9	0.5	123	7.9	0.5	124	"norma	l range": 6.5 - 8	3.4	FAO 1985
tCOD	mg/L	749	158	142	401	121	59	384	91	16	372	94	58	317	108	59	544	126	59	437	87	16	433	103	58	415	100	59	accordi	ng to BOD/TC	DD ratio	Müller 2017
sCOD	mg/L	294	60	138	71	16	58	85	12	16	88	16	58	89	20	58	80	25	58	78	10	16	83	20	58	85	21	58				
pCOD	mg/L	453	140	137	331	118	58	299	88	16	284	90	58	228	102	58	465	109	58	359	81	16	351	90	58	332	84	58				
TN	mg/L	75.9	13.1	140	59.8	15.3	29	46.7	19.9	16	42.1	17.1	58	39.3	17.1	58	71.2	7.9	29	62.4	10.5	16	60.5	12.4	58	58.9	11.3	58	<5	5 - 30	>30	FAO 1985
NH4 ⁺ -N	mg/L	62.9	12.1	131	33.0	10.0	29	21.2	14.2	16	16.6	12.9	58	19.4	11.1	58	38.7	3.5	28	36.4	7.0	16	33.9	8.2	57	32.8	9.2	58				
TP	mg/L	9.7	1.5	137	10.0	1.1	28	10.5	2.1	16	10.2	2.2	57	10.6	2.2	57	10.1	0.7	28	10.4	1.3	16	10.4	1.5	57	10.7	1.5	58	<3.5	3.5 - 13	>13	Müller 2017
PO4 ³⁻ -P	mg/L	7.5	1.5	137	1.9	2.5	24	2.9	2.3	17	3.2	2.2	57	6.1	2.2	58	1.7	1.9	24	1.7	1.8	16	1.6	1.9	54	1.9	2.0	55				
Biological cha	racteristic	s																														
Escherichia	MPN/	4 75.07	2 25.0	7 400	4 25 .05	4 05.00	- 20	E 0E 100 1	4	22	C 4E 100	1 25.00	64	2 65.02	C 0E 10	0.05	0 45.05	0 45.0	- 44	4 45.04	1 25.0		1 05 05	00.00	- 20	1 05.02	0.00	0 67				
coli	100 mL	1.7E+07	3.3E+U	/ 106	1.2E+05	1.9E+0	5 39	5.2E+03 :	9.4E+03	23	0.1E+02	1.3E+03	04	3.0E+02	0.0E+U2	2 65	9.4E+05	9.4E+0	5 44	1.1E+04	1.3E+04	+ 64	1.2E+05	.9E+0	5 39	1.6E+03	2.0E+U	5 67	case sp	pecific		WHO 2006
Total Coliform	MPN/	9.0E+07	7.4E+0	7 103	5.7E+06	1.1E+07	7 29	1.2E+07	2.0E+07	14	5.5E+06 (6.7E+06	6 44	8.9E+06	1.2E+07	7 46	1.3E+07	1.8E+0	7 41	1.6E+07	1.7E+07	7 14	1.2E+07	.1E+0	7 43	1.2E+07	1.5E+07	7 45	_	_		_
Enterococci	MPN/	1.6E+06	1 8E+0	6 54	2.6E+03	2 6E+03	3 17	2 2E+03 3	3 6E+03	17	24E+03 :	3 9E+03	17	5 3E+03	4 0E+03	3 17	2 8E+04	2 2E+0	4 17	7 9E+03	8 8E+03	3 17	9 9E+03	2E+04	1 16	19E+04	3 1E+04	1 17				
Enterococci	100 mL	1.02.00	1.02.00	0 04	2.02.00	2.02.00	, .,	2.22.00	5.0L · 00		2.42.00	0.52.00	, .,	0.021001	4.02.00	5 17	2.02.04	2.22.0	,	1.52.00	0.02.00	,	0.02.00	.20.0-	10	1.52.04	0.12.0	+ 17				
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	5 MPN/ 100 mL	8.7E+06	9.6E+0	6 54	5.4E+04	1.3E+05	5 12	5.9E+03	7.7E+03	9	1.0E+04	1.2E+04	6	6.0E+03	5.7E+03	3 13	1.1E+06	1.3E+0	6 16	1.0E+05	3.0E+05	5 16	8.7E+03 \$	5.8E+03	37	7.9E+03	6.8E+03	36				

n = number of measurements, sd = standard deviation, EC = electrical conductivity, TS = total solids, TSS = total suspended solids, tCOD = total (homogenized) chemical oxygen demand, sCOD = soluble (0.45 µm filtered) COD, pCOD = particulate COD, TN = total nitrogen, TP = total phosphorous, MPN = most probable number.

Zum Autor:

Jochen Sinn, geboren 1978 in Heilbronn, absolvierte an der Universität Karlsruhe sein Diplomstudium in Bauingenieurwesen und den Vertiefungen Wasser und Umwelt, Umwelttechnologie und Siedlungswasserwirtschaft. Für seinen Master im Bereich International Rural Development mit den Schwerpunkten Development Economics, International Development, Project Planning and Management sowie Sustainability studierte er an der Lincoln University in Neuseeland. Nach seinen Abschlüssen arbeitete Jochen Sinn für acht Jahre in der internationalen Entwicklungszusammenarbeit mit dem Fokus auf kommunale Wasser- und Abwasserinfrastruktur in Afrika. Daran anschließend wechselte er ans Fachgebiet Abwassertechnik, später Wasser und Umweltbiotechnologie, des Instituts IWAR an der TU Darmstadt und betreute zwei Projekte zur landwirtschaftlichen Wasserwiederverwendung und Abwasserteichen in Namibia. In diesem Rahmen entstand die vorliegende Dissertation.

Zum Inhalt:

Abwasserteichanlagen werden besonders in Ländern des globalen Südens für die kommunale Abwasserbehandlung eingesetzt. Gleichzeitig sind viele Menschen in diesen Regionen vom Klimawandel und damit einhergehender Wasserknappheit betroffen. Aus diesem Grund bietet die Wiederverwendung von gereinigtem Wasser aus Abwasserteichanlagen eine wertvolle Ressource für Bewässerungswasser sowie für Pflanzennährstoffe. Viele dieser Teichsysteme sind jedoch durch schnelles Bevölkerungswachstum überlastet. Somit führt das ungenügend gereinigte Ablaufwasser zu Umweltverschmutzungen und zu erhöhten Gesundheitsrisiken für Menschen und Tiere. Diese Forschungsarbeit untersucht zum ersten Mal umfassend neun Abwasserteichanlagen im zentralen Norden Namibias und ermittelt das Wiederverwendungspotential zur Bewässerung von Futtermitteln. Außerdem werden auf einer Pilotanlage verschiedene Ertüchtigungsmaßnahmen in großem Maßstab erprobt und die Ergebnisse hinsichtlich ihrer Übertragbarkeit auf andere Standorte unter ähnlichen Bedingungen ausgewertet. Zu den mechanischen und biologischen Vorbehandlungstechnologien gehört ein Mikrosieb sowie ein UASB-Anaerobreaktor. Weiterhin ermöglicht die Entschlammung der Teiche die Wiederherstellung des ursprünglichen Volumens und schwimmende Leitwände im Fakultativteich verbessern die Strömungsbedingungen. Im letzten Schönungsteich wird als Nachbehandlung ein Steinfilter zur Algen- und Keimreduzierung eingebaut. Die Auswirkungen der Ertüchtigungsmaßnahmen werden einer zweiten, im Originalzustand parallel betriebenen Behandlungsstraße gegenübergestellt. Die untersuchten biologischen und physikalischen Abwasserparameter ermöglichen einen Vergleich mit der nationalen namibischen sowie der europäischen Anforderung an die Wasserwiederverwendung. Darüber hinaus wird auch die DNA der vorhandenen mikrobiellen Gemeinschaften analysiert. Somit trägt diese Dissertation wertvolle Informationen zur Ertüchtigung existierender Teichkläranlagen, zum Schutz der Umwelt und zur Produktion von Bewässerungswasser in Regionen mit knappen Wasserressourcen bei.